
AGENDA
Pwyllgor PWYLLGOR CRAFFU PLANT A PHOBL IFANC

Dyddiad ac amser 
y cyfarfod

DYDD LLUN, 11 GORFFENNAF 2016, 2.30 PM

Lleoliad YSTAFELL BWYLLGORA 4 - NEUADD Y SIR

Aelodaeth Cynghorydd Richard Cook (Cadeirydd)
Y Cynghorwyr Boyle, Chaundy, Gordon, Joyce, Murphy, Dianne Rees 
a/ac Lynda Thorne 

Patricia Arlotte (Cynrychiolydd Gatholig Rufeinig), Carol Cobert 
(Cynrychiolydd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru) a/ac Hayley Smith 
(Cynrychiolydd Rhiant-Lywodraethwr)

Time 
approx.

1  Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb  

Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.

2.30 pm

2  Datgan buddiannau  

Dylid datgan buddiannau ar ddechrau'r eitem berthnasol ar yr agenda, 
yn unol â Chod Ymddygiad yr Aelodau.

3  Cynigion ar Drefniadaeth YsgolION – Darpariaeth Arbenigol ar 
gyfer Disgyblion Cynradd gydag Anawsterau Lleferydd ac Iaith ac 
Anawsterau Ymddygiadol, Emosiynol a Chymdeithasol.  
(Tudalennau 1 - 164)

Ystyried Adroddiad Drafft y Cabinet

(a) Bydd y Cynghorydd Sarah Merry (Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg) 
yn bresennol ac mae’n bosibl y bydd hi am wneud datganiad;

(b) Bydd Nick Batchelar (Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Dysgu Gydol Oes) 
a Jennie Hughes (Arweinydd Cyrhaeddiad Uwch – 
Cynhwysiant) yn cyflwyno’r adroddiad a byddant ar gael i ateb 
cwestiynau’r Aelodau; a 

2.35 pm



(c) Chwestiynau gan Aelodau’r Pwyllgor.

4  Adroddiad Rhaglen Waith 2016/2017  (Tudalennau 165 - 186)

Rhoi cyfle i'r Pwyllgor drafod a chytuno ar nifer o ddewisiadau posibl 
i’w cynnwys yn rhaglen waith y Pwyllgor ar gyfer y flwyddyn nesaf.

(a) Bydd y Swyddog Craffu yn cyflwyno’r adroddiad yn gryno;
(b) Trafod eitemau drafft; a  
(c) Chytuno ar raglen waith ar gyfer y dyfodol.

3.25 pm

5  Rhoi Deddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 2014 
ar waith  (Tudalennau 187 - 278)

Briff ar y Gwasanaeth Atal yn ogystal â’r Strategaeth Cymorth Cynnar.

(a) Bydd y Cynghorydd Sue Lent (Aelod Cabinet, Dirprwy 
Arweinydd y Blynyddoedd Cynnar, Plant a Theuluoedd) yn 
bresennol ac efallai y bydd am wneud datganiad;

(b) Bydd Tony Young (Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol), 
Cheryl Chapman (Rheolwr Gweithredol ar gyfer Ymyrraeth 
Gynnar) ac Angela Bourge (Rheolwr Gweithredol Adnoddau) yn 
cyflwyno’r adroddiad a byddant ar gael i ateb cwestiynau’r 
Aelodau; a  

(c) Chwestiynau gan Aelodau’r Pwyllgor.

3.55 pm

6  Y Ffordd Ymlaen  4.25 pm

7  Dyddiad y cyfarfod nesaf  

Dyddiad y cyfarfod rheolaidd nesaf fydd dydd Mawrth 27 Medi 2016 
4:30pm

Gohebiaeth yn dilyn Cyfarfod y Pwyllgor  (Tudalennau 279 - 284)

David Marr
Swyddog Monitro Dros Dro
Date:  Dydd Mawrth, 5 Gorffennaf 2016
Contact:  Mandy Farnham, 
029 2087 2618, Mandy.Farnham@caerdydd.gov.uk



CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE      
11 July 2016

SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS - SPECIALIST PROVISION FOR 
PRIMARY AGED PUPILS WITH SPEECH AND LANGUAGE 
DIFFICULTIES, AND WITH BEHAVIOURAL EMOTIONAL AND SOCIAL 
DIFFICULTIES – DRAFT CABINET REPORT

Purpose of Report

1. To provide Members with the opportunity to consider and review the Draft 

Cabinet report on the proposals for primary aged pupils with speech and 

language difficulties and with behavioural emotional and social difficulties. 

The report reflects the outcome of the consultation exercise recently 

undertaken following the publication of the proposals (copy attached at 

Appendix A).

Background

2. A proposal entitled “Specialist Provision for Primary Aged Pupils with 

Speech and Language Difficulties, and with Behavioural Emotional and 

Social Difficulties” was approved by the Cabinet on 3 December 2015. The 

report’s recommendation was for the Cabinet to:

 “Authorise officers to consult on the proposal to remodel SEN1 

provision specifically to respond to the falling demand for speech and 

language places and increased demand for provision of children with 

behavioural social and emotional needs through the closure of 

Meadowbank Special School by August 2017.

“This will be supported by the following proposed changes:-

o An increase in the capacity for mainstream support for children with 

speech and language needs;

1 Special Educational Need Page 1

Agenda Item 3



o A change in the use of the Allensbank Specialist Resource Base  

(SRB) to provide additional places for pupils with severe and 

complex learning difficulties;

o An increase in the number of Nurture/Revolving Door classes in 

mainstream schools across the city.

 “Note that prior to implementation of the proposal a further report will 

be provided to the Cabinet providing details of any objections 

received, the responses to those objections and recommendations for 

implementation or otherwise of the proposal.”

Previous Scrutiny

3. The public consultation exercise was undertaken between 11 February 

2016 and 6 April 2016. During the consultation period, the Chairperson of 

this Committee received correspondence from a number of citizens, who 

requested the opportunity to address the Committee.  They wished to 

express their views on the proposals, and for Members to be aware of the 

impact they felt the closure of Meadowbank would have on the lives of 

children with a Speech and Language Impairment in Cardiff who receive at 

first hand the experience of the staff, pupils and the environment in which 

they work in.

4. At its 17 May 2016 meeting, the Committee considered the 3 December 

2015 Cabinet Report and heard the comments and concerns of those 

presenting to Committee.  After the meeting, Members agreed to write to 

the Cabinet Member (copy attached at Appendix B), with the following 

comments and advice:

“The Committee discussed in detail the Cabinet report and 

information provided, and agreed to raise the following issues 

for you to take into consideration, prior to the approval of the 

proposals for Meadowbank School at Cabinet in the near 

future. We believe that the school should remain open until:

Page 2



a. “A detailed Cardiff wide strategy for the provision of Speech and 

Language Difficulties, and with Behavioural Emotional and 

Social Difficulties support, is developed, consulted on and 

implemented.

b. “An assessment of current support for children with Speech and 

Language Difficulties, and with Behavioural Emotional and 

Social Difficulties across Cardiff’s primary schools is 

undertaken, and is determined to be fit for purpose.

c. “The professional views of all primary and secondary head 

teachers on the impact of pupils with Speech and Language 

Difficulties, and with Behavioural Emotional and Social 

Difficulties currently in their schools is sought and assessed.

d. “Further discussions are held with the school and appropriate 

third sector organisations on the support and needs of children 

and young people with Speech and Language Difficulties, and 

with Behavioural Emotional and Social Difficulties.

e. “That the school’s expertise is promoted as a centre of 

excellence or as a training centre for teachers across Cardiff 

and the wider region.

f. “Ensure that the Council continues to provide early specialist 

intervention, as it is considered to be the most effective and 

efficient method of managing children with special educational 

needs.

“The Committee also wishes to receive anonymised data on 

the number and cost of any “Out of County” placements of 

children with Speech and Language Difficulties, and with 

Behavioural Emotional and Social Difficulties, as it was unable 

to assess from the Cabinet report the financial impact of the 

overall proposals.

Page 3



“The Committee recommends that you consider the above 

points before you agree the final proposals for Meadowbank 

School, and that you inform the Committee of your views on 

the above”.

Draft Cabinet Report

5. The draft Cabinet report summarises the findings of the consultation 

exercise undertaken between 11 February 2016 and 6 April 2016. In total 

253 responses were received including 52 online responses and 201 

paper / email responses. Responses were received from Estyn, governing 

bodies of schools, head teachers, other stakeholders including The Cardiff 

and the Vale Speech and Language Therapists, the Royal College of 

Speech and Language Therapists, Afasic, the Welsh Language 

Commissioner, the Social Services Directorate, and from school staff, 

parents, pupils and members of the public. The formal responses are 

included in Appendix 2.

6. The Draft Cabinet Report recommends that the Cabinet authorises the 

Director of Education and Lifelong Learning, in consultation with the 

Cabinet Member for Education to:

 “Carry out a further review of speech and language support in Cardiff 

with the aim of bringing forward revised proposals;

 “Undertake further engagement with schools and other stakeholders 

in relation to early intervention for children with behavioural emotional 

and social needs

 “Work with the governing bodies of Meadowbank and Allensbank 

Schools to ensure the needs of children with speech and language 

needs placed at the schools can continue to be met effectively, 

pending any revised proposals”.

Page 4



Scope of Scrutiny

7. The scope of this scrutiny is for Members to:

 Consider that the draft Cabinet Report reflects on the points raised in 

the Committee’s letter dated 24 May 2016; 

 Pass on any observations, comments or recommendations to the 

Cabinet Member for Education for consideration prior to the 

consideration of the Draft report by Cabinet.

Way Forward

8. Councillor Sarah Merry (Cabinet Member for Education) and Nick 

Batchelar (Director of Education and Lifelong Learning) will present the 

report to the Committee, and will be available to answer any questions 

Members may have. 

9. This report will also enable Members to provide any comments, 

concerns or recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Education and 

prior to its consideration by Cabinet.

Legal Implications

10.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in 

this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal 

implications. However, legal implications may arise if and when the 

matters under review are implemented with or without any modifications. 

Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council 

will set out any legal implications arising from those recommendations. All 

decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal 

powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement 

imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising 

powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the 

procedural requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure 
Page 5



Rules; (e) be fully and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be 

taken having regard to the Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) 

be reasonable and proper in all the circumstances.

Financial Implications

11.There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. However, 

financial implications may arise if and when the matters under review are 

implemented with or without any modifications.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee is recommended to: 

Review the information contained in the draft Cabinet Report, attached at 

Appendix A, together with information provided at the meeting and provide 

any recommendations, comments or advice to the Cabinet Member and / or 

Director of Education and Lifelong Learning prior to the report’s consideration 

by Cabinet.

DAVID MARR
Interim Monitoring Officer
5 July 2016

Page 6



Page 1 of 24

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL          Appendix A
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 14th July

SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: SPECIALIST PROVISION FOR 
PRIMARY AGED PUPILS WITH SPEECH AND LANGUAGE DIFFICULTIES, 
AND WITH BEHAVIOURAL EMOTIONAL AND SOCIAL DIFFICULTIES. 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND LIFELONG LEARNING

AGENDA ITEM: 10   

PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR SARAH MERRY)

Reason for this Report

1. To inform the Cabinet of responses received following the 
consultation on specialist provision for primary aged pupils with 
speech and language difficulties and with behavioural social and 
emotional difficulties. 

Background

2. At its meeting on 03 December 2015 the Cabinet authorised officers 
to undertake a public consultation on proposals to:

 Close Meadowbank Special School at the end of the academic 
year 2017.  

 Continue to maintain a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) at 
Allensbank School but cease admission of pupils with speech and 
language difficulties, unless transferring from Meadowbank 
Special School.  Redesignate this as an SRB for pupils with 
autism spectrum conditions (ASC), with first admission of ASC 
children in September 2018. 

 Continue to maintain a Specialist Resource Base at Fairwater 
School but cease admission of pupils with statements for 
behaviour emotional and social difficulties.  Redesignate this as an 
Early Intervention Class (EIC) from September 2018.

 Maintain the specialist classes at Glan Yr Afon (Revolving Door) 
and Springwood (Nurture Class), but rebadge these as Early 
Intervention Classes, adopting the proposed admission criteria 
and operational procedures outlined above from September 2018. 

 Identify four additional primary schools (one in Welsh-medium 
sector, three school in the English-medium sector) in various 
locations across the city to host Early Intervention Classes.

Page 7



Page 2 of 24

Issues

3. The consultation ran from 11 February to 06 April 2016.

4. Parents and others in the local community, together with staff and 
Governors of the affected schools were invited to respond to the 
consultation.

5. The consultation process involved:

 Distribution of a Consultation Document outlining background, 
rationale and implications. This document has been distributed to 
parents, Headteachers and Chairs of Governors of affected 
schools, all Members and other stakeholders.  (a copy of the 
consultation document can be seen at Appendix 1);

 Meetings with Staff and Governors of the schools affected and a 
public meeting at which the proposal and the options were 
explained and questions answered;

 Meetings with parent of children currently attending the affected 
SRBs or special school;

 Two public drop in sessions where officers were available to 
answer questions;

 Questionnaires were provided for pupils at the affected schools, to 
be completed with the help of their teachers;

 A consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached 
to the consultation document;

 An online response form at www.cardiff.gov.uk/21st Century 
Schools.

Responses received during the consultation period

6. In total 253 responses were received including 52 online responses 
and 201 paper/ e-mail responses).  

7. Reponses were received from Estyn, Governing Bodies of schools, 
Headteachers, other stakeholders including The Cardiff and the Vale 
Speech and Language Therapists, the Royal College of Speech and 
Language Therapists, Afasic, the Welsh Language Commissioner 
and the Social Services Directorate  and from school staff, parents, 
pupils and members of the public

8. Formal responses are included in Appendix 2.

9. The views expressed at Council organised meetings and on paper or 
electronically through the appropriate channels, have been recorded.

Page 8



Page 3 of 24

10. The majority view expressed during the consultation at meetings and 
in written correspondence was one of opposition to the proposed 
closure of Meadowbank Special School and re-designation of 
Allensbank SRB for speech and language as an SRB for autism 
spectrum conditions.  

11. A minority of the responses also expressed a view about the proposal 
to open a network of Early Intervention Classes.  Those who did so 
expressed concern about a lack of clarity regarding the purpose and 
criteria for these classes.

12. A summary of the main views expressed and the Council’s response 
are set out below. 

13. The points raised are set out in italics below.  The paragraphs 
following these points contain the Council’s response.

Estyn Response

14. A response from Estyn noted the following points (for the full 
response, please see Appendix 2):

 The clear rationale for the proposal responds to the falling demand 
for speech and language places and the increased demand for 
provision for other areas of special education need.  

 The clear Additional Learning Needs (ALN) Strategy, which sets 
out the principles and high-level actions for developing SEN 
provision through School Organisation Planning.

 The clearly defined the reasons why Meadowbank Special School 
should close, for the re-designation of existing SRBs and for the 
identification of additional primary school to host Early Intervention 
Classes, including one in the Welsh medium sector.

 Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is likely to at least maintain the 
educational outcomes and provision for pupils in the area.

Appraisal of views expressed by ESTYN

15. The Council acknowledges the views expressed.

Governing Bodies’ Responses

16. Reponses were received from the Governing Bodies of Meadowbank, 
Allensbank, Fairwater, Glan Yr Afon, and Springwood primary 
schools. The full responses are included in Appendix 2.

17. The points raised are set out in italics below.  The paragraphs 
following these points contain the Council’s response.

Page 9



Page 4 of 24

18. The Governing Body of Meadowbank School expressed the following 
views:
 Meadowbank has been a great resource for the whole primary 

sector in Cardiff and has successfully promoted integration.  
 The school was not adequately engaged in the development of 

proposals for the provision for primary aged pupils with speech 
and language difficulties. 

 The  proposal would lead to the dispersal of expertise at 
Meadowbank, and risk losing key skills from  Cardiff. 

 Mainstream placements are unlikely to be suitable for all primary 
pupils with severe needs. 

 The shift in parental preference has not been adequately 
explained.  

 The recently established school-based therapy service is not yet 
fully tested in practice.

 Concerns were expressed regarding the strategy to consider Early 
Intervention Classes focusing on children with behavioural 
emotional and social difficulties in parallel with speech and 
language provision.

 Meadowbank should preserve its status as a centre of excellence, 
and to further develop its links to mainstream, such as through: 
i. Day classes; 
ii. Short term admissions for intensive support; 
iii. Longer term support for pupils not ready or suitable for 

mainstream, where appropriate; 
iv. Centre of expertise for training teachers and other staff in 

mainstream; 
v. Provision of specialist speech and language therapy services.

19. The Governing Body of Allensbank Primary School made the 
following points:
 Recognised a reduced demand for speech and language provision 

but consider there is a continuing role for some specialist provision 
for speech and language.

 Allensbank would be willing to become an ASC base.
 During the transition phase, the Governing Body would wish to 

avoid a temporary mix of needs in the base, with children with 
ASC and specific language impairments in one class, and a 
temporary mix of foundation phase and KS2 pupils in one class. 

20. The response from the Governing Body of Fairwater Primary School 
included the following points: 
 The school would not wish to open an Early Intervention Class. 

There is insufficient information provided at this stage regarding 
the proposed change of provision.  

 Concerns expressed regarding pupils with speech and language 
difficulties and behavioural and emotional social needs in the 
same class.

 Concerns expressed regarding pupils in Early Intervention 
Classes returning to mainstream classes within 3-4 school terms. 

Page 10



Page 5 of 24

 The Fairwater Primary School Governing Body wish for nursery 
provision to be established at the school, and for the existing SRB 
to close.

21. The Glan yr Afon Primary School Governing Body expressed their 
views at a consultation meeting held at the school, and through a 
written response from one governor: 
 The Governing Body would consider hosting an EIC if they were 

able to negotiate on the age and severity of the pupils admitted to 
the class. 

 Admitting Year 5 and 6 pupils with severe needs to the Revolving 
Door class has a detrimental impact on the school but functions 
well when places are occupied by year 3 and 4 children.

22. The response from the Governing Body of Springwood Primary 
School included the following points: 
 Consideration must be given to ensuring there is sufficient 

accommodation in the school should the LA decide to base other 
services onsite. Operating with a much reduced space may impact 
on the ability to accommodate an EIC.

 A wish for clarity around the nature of the children who would 
attend the EIC.

 Concern around a panel of Headteachers and staff placing 
children without input from a school’s senior leadership or 
governors. 

 Concern that the mix of children with autism attending the school’s 
SRB for autism) and pupils with complex emotional social and 
behavioural needs would be difficult to manage in one school.  

Appraisal of views expressed by Governing Bodies

23. The Council notes the views expressed by the Governing Bodies that 
responded to the consultation.  

24. The Council has worked in partnership with Meadowbank on a 
number of projects to develop speech and language provision 
including a review of secondary support for pupils with severe specific 
language impairments and the review and further development of an 
outreach service to support pupils in nursery settings.  

25. The key criteria for the Early Intervention Classes would be ‘children 
at risk of exclusion’ i.e. those who are experiencing behavioural 
difficulties.  However, the child’s needs would be addressed 
holistically, including any speech and language needs, and any 
specific difficulties with literacy and numeracy that may co-exist with 
the child’s emotional and social needs.  

26. The demand for special school and SRB places for children with 
specific language impairments has been falling in Cardiff and other 
local authorities for many years.  The decline in numbers since 2010 
is set out in the table below, but the fall in demand was already an 
ongoing trend.  Prior to 2006, Allensbank SRB offered 30 places.  A 

Page 11



Page 6 of 24

class was closed in 2006, in response to falling numbers, and the 
Allensbank class size reduced from 20 to 16 in 2011.  The reasons for 
this trend are set out in the consultation document on pages 5-7.  

Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB numbers on roll, 2010-2015

M’bank Allensbank total pupils 
2010-11 40 18 58
2011-12 35 18 53
2012-13 34 13 47
2013-14 32 16 48
2014-15 27 14 41
Nov-15 23 11 34

27. A key aspiration for the Council is to achieve staff reduction as far as 
possible through redeployment rather than voluntary redundancy or 
compulsory redundancy.  Therefore, the Council is committed to 
maximising opportunities for school staff to secure employment in 
other schools in Cardiff and if the proposal were progressed, would 
facilitate a redeployment process.  If progressed, the proposal would 
generate a range of new specialist posts in the city which would 
provide the opportunity to retain specialist skills in Cardiff.  

28. The Council acknowledges that the view that there is an ongoing 
need for some specialist provision for children with the most complex 
speech language and communication needs (SLCN) and that this 
view is shared by the majority of respondents. The Council will 
therefore give further consideration to this issue with a view to 
retaining some specialist provision for speech and language in the 
future. 

29. The Governing Body’s suggestion that Meadowbank could develop a 
different role, providing part-time and short-term placements for 
pupils, and providing specialist support and training to mainstream, is 
noted. However: 
 An SRB would generally be considered to be a more effective way 

to provide part-time and short term placements than a Special 
School, as the mainstream location of an SRB ensures children 
remain in contact with mainstream peers and good language role 
models. 

 SRBs are a more cost effective means of providing short term and 
part time placements.  The cost of an SRB place is between one 
third to one-half the cost of a special school place.

 In Cardiff, a comprehensive programme of training and support to 
mainstream is provided by the specialist teacher service in 
partnership with the UHB speech and language therapy service.  

Page 12



Page 7 of 24

30. The concerns of the Governing Body of Allensbank regarding 
redevelopment are noted.  If the proposal were progressed, the 
Council would work with the Governing Body to avoid any mix of 
needs or ages that would impact negatively on pupils. 

31. It is noted that Fairwater Primary School does not wish to host an 
EIC. It is considered that further discussion to clarify the criteria and 
purpose of the EIC may reassure the Governing Body on a number of 
points.  However, it is important that host schools are willing partners 
in the process of establishing the classes, and alternative locations 
will be considered in light of this response. 

32. It is anticipated that pupils placed in the EICs would have less 
complex long-term needs than the pupils currently based in the SRB 
and there would be good prospects for reintegration.  The Council 
maintains special school places at The Court School for children with 
long-term behaviour, emotional and social needs (BESN). 

33. The desire of the Fairwater Primary School Governing Body for 
nursery provision is outside the scope of this consultation.  Should the 
Council identify a need to establish a nursery at the school, there is 
sufficient space to continue hosting a specialist class.

34. Any decision to close the existing Fairwater SRB would be subject to 
a full public consultation, and a formal decision by Cabinet.   Before 
undertaking consultation on this issue, the Council would need to 
secure suitable alternative provision for children with behaviour, 
emotional and social needs, such as the Early Intervention Classes, 
to ensure closure would not result in pupils unable to access the 
provision they need. 

35. The Council notes the response of the Glan Yr Afon Primary School 
Governing Body.  If the proposal were progressed there would be 
further discussion with the school to clarify the criteria and age range 
for the Early Intervention Class. The classes are intended as an early 
intervention and there would be scope to identify some classes for a 
younger age range.  

36. The views of the Springwood Primary School Governing body are 
noted.  Host schools would be represented on admission panels and 
would have a say in which pupils should be admitted.  Consideration 
would be given to the mix of needs and ages in each class and 
whether the class is able to meet the needs of each child. 

37. The Council acknowledges the Governing Body’s concern that the 
existing SRB for children with autism spectrum conditions should not 
be compromised by accommodating a specialist provision for children 
with BESN at the school. Alternative locations for the EIC would 
therefore be considered.

Page 13



Page 8 of 24

Primary School Headteachers’ Responses

38. Primary school Headteachers provided a collective response setting 
out their opposition to the proposed closure of Meadowbank Special 
School and to the re-designation of Allensbank SRB.  Separate 
responses were also received from the Headteachers of 
Meadowbank, Moorland and Springwood primary schools. 

39. The full responses are included in Appendix 2.

40. The points raised are set out in italics below.  The paragraphs 
following these points contain the Council’s response.

41. The collective primary school Headteachers’ response included the 
following points:
 Meeting the needs of the most complex children has improved but 

remains a challenge.
 The fall in demand for places at Meadowbank and Allensbank 

correlates with fewer statements for children with speech 
language and communication needs being issued in recent years.

 The skills of highly trained staff in specialist environments is often 
the most effective way of securing the best outcomes for these 
learners with speech language and communication skills and 
challenging behaviour. 

 Greater emphasis should be placed on speech, language and 
communication assessments for children whose overt needs 
appear behavioural. Early support for SLCN is essential to reduce 
the risk of young people becoming NEET (Not in Education 
Employment or Training).

 The high proportion of Meadowbank and Allensbank pupils who 
successfully reintegrate to mainstream is evidence of the high 
quality teaching they received and the long lasting impact of the 
placements.  This level of reintegration is not the case for any 
other specialist provision within the city.

42. The response of the Headteacher of Meadowbank School raised the 
following points:
 Opposition to the closure of Meadowbank School, 
 Support for the redesignation of Allensbank SRB 
 Support for the development of EICs:
 Children with severe and profound speech and language 

impairments (SLI) require a small class setting with experienced 
teaching staff that understand speech and language difficulties, 
specialist resources and specialised teaching approaches and 
strategies.  Meadowbank is a centre of excellence that provides all 
of the above. 

 Attending Meadowbank School ensures that children have an 
effective start to their education that often leads to them being 
successfully reintegrated into a mainstream school.

Page 14



Page 9 of 24

 Concern expressed that there is insufficient data presented to 
demonstrate that children with SLI in mainstream classes make 
progress. 

 Meadowbank staff, governors and parents believe that parental 
preference has been guided away from specialist provision by the 
local authority.

 Concern that the local authority is planning to close Meadowbank 
School whatever the outcome of the consultation. 

 Concern that the closure of Meadowbank School would lead to a 
loss of expertise, fragmented multi-agency working, reduced 
intensity and specialised speech and language therapy and a 
reduction in choice of schools for parents. 

 Concern that there would be no specialist provision for SLI in 
Cardiff.  All other local authorities in Wales have some form of 
specialist provision for children with SLI. 

 Meadowbank School should be retained as a ‘Centre of 
Excellence’.  

 Meadowbank can provide mainstream opportunities and 
experiences for children more effectively than Allensbank by 
providing this provision in a child’s own local school, enabling the 
child to develop a supportive peer group before they transfer to 
secondary school.

43. The response of the Headteacher of Springwood Primary School 
raised the following points:
 Meadowbank School should not close but should address the 

shortage of places for pupils with behaviour issues. 
 Opposition to the development of EICs
 Support for the redesignation of Allensbank SRB:
 Pupils with behaviour needs and pupils with speech and language, 

communication needs should not be in the same specialist class. 
 The EIC classes should have a set age range as the needs of Key 

Stage 2 pupils are very different to those of Foundation Phase 
pupils.

 Disagrees that behaviour emotional and social difficulties are 
caused by speech and language difficulties.  

 Concern that there is not enough support in place for pupils who 
are displaying negative behaviours

44. The response of the Headteacher of Moorland Primary School raised 
the following points:
 Meadowbank School should not close but the Council should 

explore whether BESN/ SLCN provision could be developed at the 
school. 

 Support for the proposed development of EICs. 
 Concern expressed that the needs of the pupils in the EICs will be 

too broad. 
 Concern at the sufficiency of EIC places. 
 There is a need to ensure an equitable system for placement 

across the city, recognising that the demand/threshold in some 
areas will be much higher than in others.  

Page 15



Page 10 of 24

Appraisal of views expressed by Headteachers

45. The Council acknowledges that Headteachers consider there is an 
ongoing need for some specialist provision for children with the most 
complex SLCN and that this view is shared by the majority of 
respondents. The Council will therefore give further consideration to 
this issue with a view to retaining some specialist provision for 
children with speech and language needs.

46. Evidence suggests the majority of the pupils supported in mainstream 
are making good progress against the targets set by therapists and 
specialist teachers.  
 In Autumn 2015: 
a. 96% of pupils supported at School Action plus met or partially met 

their targets, 
b. 97% of pupils with statements met or partially met their targets. 

 In Spring 2016:
c. 87% of pupils at School Action plus met or partially met their 

targets, 
d. 100% of statemented pupils met their targets. 

 
47. The number of new statements for speech and language has fallen 

since the funding for statements was delegated to schools in 2012, as 
would be expected.  However, the Local Authority continues to issue 
statements for pupils with the most significant needs so this would not 
be expected to impact on demand for special school places. 

48. It is not correct to state that parents have been directed away from 
the special school.  When issuing a statement of special educational 
needs, the local authority provides parents with a full list of schools, 
including special schools and specialist resource bases, and asks 
parents to identify their preferred school.  Parents are encouraged to 
visit schools before making a decision.  The factors leading to fewer 
requests for specialist placements are set out in the consultation 
document on pages 5-7 and include the following:
 A national policy and expectation for inclusion, reinforced by 

equalities legislation and a responsibility on local authorities to 
increase the extent to which children’s special educational needs 
can be met in mainstream;

 A successful programme of capacity building and early 
intervention, including universal screening for speech and 
language for all Reception aged children, extensive training, and 
specialist support from specialist teachers.  This has significantly 
improved parental confidence in mainstream support.

 Approximately 88% of children with the most serve speech and 
language needs attend their local mainstream school and 
evidence shows that they make good progress with the specialist 
support they receive (see paragraph 46). 

Page 16



Page 11 of 24

49. Local Authorities in Wales have been surveyed regarding their 
provision for SLCN. Four local authorities responded.  Bridgend and 
Pembrokeshire report that they no longer maintain specialist provision 
for SLCN but instead support all SLCN children in mainstream 
classes. Rhondda Cynon Taf and Carmarthen continue to maintain 
SRBs for speech and language but report a fall in the demand for 
SRB places, resulting from improved support in mainstream and 
parental expectation of mainstream inclusion. 

50. A survey of English and Welsh local authority websites and school 
lists in England and Wales identified that no other local authority 
maintains a special school for specific language impairment although 
the majority do maintain SRBs. There is a small number of 
Independent Special Schools for SLI in England.  

51. Multi agency working in Cardiff to support speech and language is 
strong and is not based on any single setting.  The Council does not 
agree that this would be fragmented if the special school closed.

52. It is recognised that Meadowbank has supported reintegration of 
some pupils to their local mainstream schools: this has also been an 
outcome for some Allensbank SRB pupils. However, a strength of a 
specialist resource base is that it can provide mainstream learning 
experiences and good language role models throughout the period of 
the placement, which a special school does not have access to. 

53. The Council recognises the need to increase provision for children 
with behavioural, emotional and social needs (BESN). If the proposal 
were progressed, places in mainstream-based provision for BESN 
would increase from 26 places (at Fairwater SRB, Glan yr Afon 
Revolving Door and Springwood Nurture Class) to 56 places.  This 
would include a class in a Welsh medium school.  

54. The criteria for placement in an EIC, and the range of needs are 
clarified in paragraph 25. 

55. If the proposal were progressed, further work would be undertaken to 
clarify the age range for each Early Intervention Class.  It is 
anticipated that some would admit Foundation Phase children while 
others would be designated for Key Stage 2. 

56. Many respondents shared the view that the use of ‘neighbourhood 
panels’ could lead to inequitable access to the Early Intervention 
Classes.  If the proposal were progressed, the Council would work 
with all schools to agree on a fair approach to placements. 

57. Based on current levels of referral, it has been calculated that 56 EIC 
places would be sufficient to respond to current need. 

58. The Council acknowledges the points made regarding the high 
incidence of SLCN in children and young people with behavioural 

Page 17



Page 12 of 24

emotional and social needs.  A range of steps have been taken in 
Cardiff to address this including:

 Universal screening for speech and language needs in Reception.
 A collaborative approach between the specialist teacher service  

and the UHB speech and language therapy service to ensure 
every child with a diagnosed need receives appropriate support.  

 Joint working between the specialist teacher services for speech 
and language and for behaviour support. A speech and language 
therapist employed by Education to work in both teams. 

 Where schools refer children for behaviour support, the 
Partnership Area Referral Meeting (PARM) routinely requires 
information about the child’s speech and language scores, literacy 
and numeracy levels and considers support needs holistically. 

 Two terms of intensive support at The Court Special school to 
embed Speech and Language Links and to develop a range of 
speech and language interventions in the practice of the school.

 Arranging for the Youth Offending Service to be included in 
speech and language training provided by AFASIC.  

 There are plans to work with Bryn y Deryn and Greenhill to embed 
speech and language screening and to undertake further 
collaborative work with the Youth Offending Service. 

59. The Council will consider any further steps that may be needed to 
screen and support pupils who have been identified as being ‘at risk’ 
to prevent young people becoming ‘NEET’. 

60. Should the Council proceed with proposed development of the 
network of 7 Early Intervention Classes, this would require a revenue 
investment of £364,896 per annum (based on 2016 costs) plus an 
initial capital investment to adapt appropriate classrooms.  The 
proposal is based on a reinvestment of resources which would be 
released from the closure of Meadowbank School.  To retain 
Meadowbank while also opening the Early Intervention Classes, as 
suggested by some respondents, additional resources would need to 
be identified.  

61. Consideration of developing Meadowbank as a provision for BESN is 
noted but is beyond the scope of this consultation.

Formal responses from statutory and voluntary sector partners

62. Formal responses were received from Cardiff and the Vale Speech 
and Language Therapists, the Royal College of Speech and 
Language Therapists, Afasic, the Welsh Language Commissioner 
and the Social Services Directorate of Cardiff Council. The full 
responses are included in Appendix 2.

63. The points raised are set out in italics below.  The paragraphs 
following these points contain the Council’s response.

Page 18



Page 13 of 24

64. Therapists employed by Cardiff and the Vale University Health Board 
provided a collective response which included the following points:
 A very positive collaborative working relationship has been 

established with the Education Service in recent years, with many 
joint initiatives and projects including setting up a mainstream 
speech and language therapy service to local primary and high 
schools.  

 Concern expressed that although many children with speech and 
language difficulties can be managed within mainstream settings, 
mainstream schools are not able to deliver highly specialised 
interventions to the most needy pupils

 There should be some specific and specialist provision for the 
small percentage of children that require short-term, specialist, 
intensive speech and language intervention in the early years. 

 The school-based therapy service is currently a pilot established in 
response to feedback from parents and schools that they would 
prefer children to access this support in school, and was not 
intended to replace specialist provision.  It has not been evaluated 
and therefore no conclusion has been reached on the future of this 
aspect of the therapy service. 

 The EICs do not appear to include the needs of children with 
severe speech and language difficulties.  

 Research shows that children with significant language 
impairment are at risk of behavioural difficulties, mental health 
problems, and of becoming offenders in adolescence and 
adulthood.  

 Speech Links and Language Links are screening tools only and do 
not provide a comprehensive language or speech sound 
assessment. The local authority should not over-rely on this data 
as an outcome measure for children with children with severe and 
complex language difficulties. 

 The increased demand for specialist provision for children with 
autism is acknowledged but there are concerns about whether 
there is scope to develop a suitable environment at Allensbank. 
For example, having enough space to create ‘quiet’ or ‘sensory’ 
areas. 

65. The Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists (RCSLT) 
made the following points: 
 There should be a focus on inclusion of children with special 

needs in mainstream settings but this should be balanced by a 
requirement for specialist services to be delivered flexibly in order 
to enable inclusion.

 In an inclusive society, specialist and targeted services for these 
children should be integral to universal mainstream provision.  The 
integration of education, health and social care for children means 
they should be able to access all the services they require- 
whether universal, targeted or specialist, flexibly and locally 
wherever possible. 

 In this response, RCSLT would wish to stress the need to ensure 
that children with speech language and communication difficulties 

Page 19



Page 14 of 24

in Cardiff receive the service that they need, which includes the 
availability of adequate specialist places within a given area. 

 RCSLT would wish to see the availability of specialist resource 
bases with the philosophy of short-term intensive support with the 
outcome of returning to mainstream education. 

66. The Social Services Directorate of Cardiff Council provided a 
response, which outlined support for the proposal.  The response 
includes the following points:
 Social Services would support the inclusion of children and young 

people within their local communities, receiving educational, social 
and community support as close to home as possible. 

 It would be beneficial to consider the learning and support needs 
of Allensbank School as part of the change of delivery proposal. 

 Clarification of measures being taken to support the school as an 
improving school are required.

67. The formal response from Afasic opposed the closure of 
Meadowbank and redesignation of Allensbank SRB.  The response 
included the following points:
 The proposals contradict principles set out by the Cardiff Council 

Additional Learning Needs Strategy on page 9 of the consultation 
document. 

 The proposals appear to suggest pupils do not benefit from 
specialist provision, which is not the case.  

 The proposals do not offer a full and fair picture of evidence. 
There is insufficient evidence to support the view that children’s 
needs are fully met in mainstream. 

 The proposals wrongly suggest that a specialist placement is 
incompatible with inclusion. 

 Gaps in knowledge and skills, and lack of capacity in mainstream, 
and there is no provision for increasing the mainstream service to 
compensate for closure, or set out a plan to retain the skills of 
specialist staff at Meadowbank. 

 The proposals are vague and do not offer parents an alternative 
but equivalent effective learning environment, such as dual 
placements with a combination of full and part time places, with 
short, medium or longer term admission as appropriate. 

 There is no information about how speech and language therapy 
will be offered as part of the proposed changes. 

68. A formal response from the Welsh Language Commissioner included 
the following points:
 The proposals acknowledge the importance of language to pupils 

and of addressing this in any reorganisation of SEN support
 The changes to school organisation must ensure that any internal 

or external support provided by the relevant agencies is available 
in Welsh. Educational psychology, specialist teaching and 
information for parents should be available in Welsh. 

Page 20



Page 15 of 24

 Staff development planning is needed to ensure a sufficient 
number of special educational needs (SEN) staff who are able to 
provide support through the medium of Welsh.

Appraisal of views expressed by statutory and voluntary sector partners 

69. It is acknowledged that the school-based service currently provided 
by the UHB speech and language therapists is a pilot scheme and 
has not yet been evaluated, and that it was not set up to replace 
specialist provision.  

70. The Council notes the comments regarding a mainstream approach 
to support, including the need for adequate specialist places focused 
on short-term intensive support.  The view that there is an ongoing 
need for some specialist provision for SLCN is shared by the majority 
of respondents.  The Council will therefore give further consideration 
to this issue with a view to retaining some specialist provision for 
children with speech and language needs.

71. If the proposals were progressed, a range of training and 
development opportunities would be provided to ensure Allensbank 
Primary School is able to develop the skills and practice required to 
support pupils with autism spectrum conditions.  The Central South 
Consortium also provide support to the school to ensure further 
improvement. 

72. The point made about the need to consider extension of the specialist 
speech and language support service to improve the support 
available in mainstream schools is noted.  Further consideration will 
be given to this point. 

73. The Council does not agree that the proposals contradict the 
principles set out in Cardiff Council’s Additional Learning Needs 
Strategic Framework. The principles are set out on page 9 of the 
consultation document and the proposal is consistent with these 
principles.  Of particular relevance are the following:
 An effective graduated response to additional learning needs is 

underpinned by collaboration with health, children’s services and 
other partners. 

 With the right training, strategies and support, nearly all children 
with special educational needs can be successfully included in 
mainstream education.

 As far as practicable, provision for special educational needs 
should be locally based, to reduce the extent to which children 
travel to access education. 

74. A response to the suggestion that the role of Meadowbank School 
could be developed to provide a mixture of short and long terms 
places is set out in paragraph 29. 

75. The need for staff development planning and to ensure external 
support services are available in Welsh is acknowledged.  A range of 

Page 21



Page 16 of 24

continuing professional development opportunities are available to 
staff in English and Welsh language settings.  The Educational 
Psychology Service delivers services in Welsh and English.  A Welsh 
language audit has identified the need to increase Welsh language 
capacity in the specialist teacher team and will be addressed through 
planned recruitment.  

Responses of staff, parents, pupils and other stakeholders

76. Meadowbank Staff provided a collective response and a number of 
individual responses were received from Meadowbank staff and from 
other schools.  

77. The points raised are set out in italics below.  The paragraphs 
following these points contain the Council’s response.

78. The responses included the following points:
 There has been good capacity building in mainstream schools 

which has improved the speech and language support available 
for all children, and for those with communication delays.  

 Mainstream schools do not have enough resources, staff or time 
to fully support children with the most needs. 

 There are many children in mainstream schools who could benefit 
from the support of Meadowbank, but parents are not aware of the 
school and don’t know what support would be available. 

 The Day Class was a good way to provide intensive part time 
support and to assess whether a specialist placement was 
needed.  This should be reinstated. 

 The central team of 4.6 specialist teachers is inadequate to 
support all of the children who currently need direct support. 

 The number of children being identified with SLCN is increasing in 
Cardiff: there is a need to ensure there is provision for these 
pupils. 

 Responses from other staff included the following points:
 That the proposal is a cost-cutting exercise, at the expense of 

children with special educational needs. 
 That more provision for children with BESN is needed, but the 

criteria and purpose of EICs is not sufficiently clear. 

79. Responses from parents and other family members of pupils and 
former pupils of Meadowbank School strongly opposed the closure of 
Meadowbank School. Their responses included the following points:
 A special school placement has been essential to meet their 

child’s needs. 
 Mainstream and SRB placements would not be able to offer the 

level of specialist support that has been provided by Meadowbank. 
 Some families cite experiences of social isolation and bullying 

prior to their child’s admission to Meadowbank. 
 Parents value the support for the whole family provided by 

Meadowbank. 

Page 22



Page 17 of 24

 Families believe that parents do not have enough information 
about Meadowbank and urged the Council to ‘advertise’ the 
school more widely.

 Many families refer to the day Class as a good way to have 
become familiar with the school prior to admission and suggest 
this should be reopened. 

80. A survey was used to seek the views of children and young people 
about their schools.   Surveys were sent to the schools directly 
affected by the proposals and teachers were asked to help children to 
respond.  The local authority speech and language team also invited 
a number of pupils attending secondary mainstream schools to 
respond.  
 All the responses reflected the children’s positive feelings about 

their school and the support they receive.
 The written or scribed responses from Meadowbank pupils reflect 

their positive experience of the school and in many cases the 
children record that they do not wish the school to close. 

81. A petition with 3078 signatories was received by the Council, 
opposing the closure of Meadowbank School.

82. 122 response forms were submitted opposing the proposal and 
expressing the view that Meadowbank School should not close. 

83. Other responses from members of the public include the following 
points:
 The Court Special School would benefit from better 

accommodation.  If Meadowbank School closes, the Council 
should consider transferring the The Court School there. 

84. Responses were also received from Councillors, the Liberal-
Democratic Group, local AMs and MPs, opposing the proposal to 
close Meadowbank. Their responses included the following points:
 A recent research paper from Cambridge University argues that 

special schools remain a valid part of the education mix.  The 
findings suggest that especially for children with severe learning 
difficulties (SLD), special school provision still plays an important 
role.  

 The belief of Afasic, the charity for adults and children with specific 
language disorders, in the effectiveness of special school 
provision provides expert endorsement of a special school model 
in the appropriate circumstances.

 Concern that the stated demand for “inclusion” may be driven by 
financial considerations rather than pupils’ needs.

 Children should not transfer to mainstream schools before they 
are able to learn the necessary communication skills to 
successfully integrate with their peers.

 The loss of expertise which the closure of Meadowbank would 
entail. 

 Concern is expressed regarding the capacity of mainstreams 
schools to support a wide range of needs. 

Page 23



Page 18 of 24

 If Meadowbank were retained for speech and language, then 
redesignating Allensbank for ASC would be a positive move. If the 
Allensbank pupils transferred to Meadowbank, this would bring the 
school to capacity. 

 Speech and language impairment is a lifelong condition that 
cannot be resolved in a short term placement of twelve months. 

 The proposals state that the EICs will not have any impact on 
standards in mainstream, but they will surely impact on the host 
schools. 

Appraisal of views expressed by staff, parents, pupils and other 
stakeholders 

85. The views expressed are noted.  

86. A response to the view that there is an ongoing need for specialist 
provision for speech and language is set out in paragraph 26. 

87. The assertion that parents are not informed about Meadowbank 
School is addressed in paragraph 48. 

88. A number of respondents express the view that the Council should 
actively encourage parents who have named a mainstream school, to 
consider a place in Meadowbank School. The Council view is that 
such an approach would be contrary to the statutory responsibilities 
set out in the Education Act 1996, and the SEN Code of practice.    
Section 316A of the Education Act 1996 specifies that children with 
special educational needs should normally be educated in 
mainstream schools so long as this is compatible with receiving the 
special educational provision that their learning difficulty calls for; the 
efficient education of other children, and the efficient use of 
resources. This is also reflected in the Special Educational for Needs 
Code of Practice for Wales. 

89. The Council is confident that there are effective processes in place to 
monitor the progress of children in mainstream, and ensure support is 
effective.  However, in response to the concerns expressed by some 
respondents, that there may be children in mainstream schools who 
are not making sufficient progress and for whom specialist placement 
would be appropriate, the Council will request the specialist speech 
and language team and the UHB therapy service to undertake a 
review of the mainstream caseload.   

90. The Day Class was funded by a Welsh Government grant which 
ceased in 2012.  The Council continues to fund an outreach service to 
support pupils with speech and language needs in nursery settings 
and has suppported the development of universal screening in 
Reception to ensure needs are identified and met early. 

91. The speech and language specialist service is a team of 8, 
comprising 4.6 teachers, 3 specialist teaching assistants and an 
education- employed therapist who works in both the speech and 

Page 24



Page 19 of 24

language team and behaviour support team.  The speech and 
language team works collaboratively with speech and language 
therapists to support a shared caseload.  

92. The Council rebuts the notion that the proposal is a cost-cutting 
exercise which will reduce provision for children with special 
educational needs.  The proposal aims to reshape specialist provision 
in response to changing patterns of need.  The majority of children 
with severe speech and language needs are well supported in 
mainstream schools and making progress there. Very few parents are 
requesting a specialist placement for a speech and language child.  
However, there are growing numbers of children experiencing 
behaviour emotional and social needs, for whom there is insufficient 
provision. If the proposal were progressed, resources released 
through closure of the special school would be reinvested in 
alternative SEN provision and support.  

93. The criteria and purpose of EICs is clarified in paragraph 25. 

94. The suggestion that The Court Special School could be transferred to 
the Meadowbank site is noted but is outside the scope of this 
consultation.

95. The research supporting the continued importance of special school 
places to support pupils with severe learning difficulties (SLD) is 
noted.  The definition of SLD or ‘severe learning difficulties’ is a low 
cognitive ability or low IQ, resulting in severely impaired 
understanding and ability to learn.  The Council maintains a range of 
special school and SRB places for children with severe or profound 
learning difficulties, including Ty Gwyn, Woodlands and Riverbank 
Special Schools and the SRBs at Llanederyn, Llanishen Fach, Bryn 
Hafod and Marlborough Primary Schools and the Council accepts the 
point that special schools are an important part of the range of 
inclusive provision for children with low cognitive functioning. 

96. In contrast, Meadowbank Special School and Allensbank SRB are 
designated for pupils with specific language impairment (SLI), which 
is defined as a disorder in the development of language, despite 
adequate intelligence and opportunity and in the absence of any 
associated disorders that may underlie the language difficulties, such 
as hearing loss, autism or learning disability.  While SLI is a lifelong 
condition and may range from ‘moderate’ to ‘severe’, it is distinct from 
a ‘severe learning difficulty’ or SLD.  

97. SLI is acknowledged to be a lifelong condition which would continue 
whatever support or placement is provided, whether this is in 
mainstream or a specialist placement.  The aim for supporting a child 
with SLI in any setting is to enable them to develop strategies and 
skills to manage their impairment and fulfil their potential. 

98. The endorsement of Afasic for a special school model for speech and 
language is noted.  However, a range of alternative models are 

Page 25



Page 20 of 24

described positively by specialists, including the views of the Royal 
College of Speech and Language Therapists, summarised in 
paragraph 61, which describes a mainstream model of support, with 
‘sufficient specialist resource bases with the philosophy of short-term 
intensive support with the outcome of returning to mainstream 
education’.

99. A response to the concerns expressed about a loss of expertise is set 
out in paragraph 25. 

100. The suggestion that if Allensbank SRB pupils transferred to 
Meadowbank this would bring the school to capacity is noted.  
However, this would not address the falling roll at both settings, as 
illustrated in paragraph 26.  

101. The consultation document notes that establishing the EICs would not 
impact on standards.  The pupils attending the classes would be dual 
registered and their learning outcomes and other data would continue 
to be recorded at their local school.  There would be no impact on the 
data of the host school. 

Summary of views expressed during the consultation and proposed way 
forward

102. The initial proposal set out a significant reshaping of specialist 
provision to respond to the changing pattern of special educational 
needs and the increased capacity of mainstream schools to support 
special educational needs.  

103. The proposed reshaping would maintain the current level of 
investment in specialist provision and support for special educational 
needs, while ensuring a better fit to the current pattern of need. 

104. There has been an ongoing gradual decline in the number of parents 
who request a specialist speech and language placement for their 
child, which has resulted in a steady fall in the number of funded 
places over many years, from 70 places prior to 2006; to 58 places in 
2010, and to 34 places in November 2015.   

 
105. The Council has responded to this shift in expectation by investing in 

mainstream support over several years.  Work to build capacity for 
speech and language support began in 2010 and remains ongoing.  
The Council believes the fall in demand/ need for specialist places is 
a direct result both of parental expectations for mainstream inclusion 
and the capacity building work that has been done to meet needs 
more effectively in mainstream.

106. Alongside the changes affecting speech and language provision, 
there has been an increased demand for specialist provision for 
children with special educational needs such as autism spectrum 
conditions  and behavioural emotional and social needs.  

Page 26



Page 21 of 24

107. ESTYN recognised the rationale for responding to these pressures in 
its proposals for re-shaping provision by closing Meadowbank School, 
redesignating the SRB at Allensbank for ASC and developing a 
network of Early Intervention Classes.   

108. In relation to support for speech and language needs, many 
respondents acknowledged the effectiveness of the work that has 
been undertaken in recent years to build capacity and skills in 
mainstream schools.  This work has included a comprehensive 
training programme; universal early screening for speech and 
language needs; and a collaborative working relationship between 
Cardiff and the Vale UHB Speech and Language Therapy Service 
and the Specialist Teacher Service.  

109. There is also a general acknowledgment among respondents, of the 
need for some change in the pattern of provision to support speech 
and language needs.  

110. However, there is a strong consensus among stakeholders regarding 
the importance of continuing to maintain an effective range of 
specialist support for children with speech language and 
communication needs, and concerns that the proposal does not yet 
fully address this issue. 

 
111. In particular, strong views have been expressed regarding the need to 

retain some designated specialist provision for children with the most 
severe speech and language needs.   

112. Some respondents express the view that special school places 
should continue to form part of the range of specialist provision.  
Other respondents put more emphasis on the need for early 
intervention in the form of resource bases.  

113. Given the strong views expressed by stakeholders it is deemed 
advisable for additional work to be undertaken to engage with 
stakeholders more fully prior to bringing forward a revised proposal 
for consideration.  

114. In developing a revised proposal, the relative benefits and costs of 
SRB and special school provision will need to be borne in mind.  
There is evidence to suggest that SRBs are a more efficient and 
effective means of delivering short-term or part-time support.  The 
cost of an SRB place is between one third and one half the cost of a 
special school place, while the mainstream location of SRBs offers 
additional benefits for children of ongoing contact with mainstream 
peers and learning experiences. 

115. In relation to support for behavioural emotional and social needs, 
many respondents acknowledged the growing demand for specialist 
provision for children presenting with behavioural emotional and 

Page 27



Page 22 of 24

social needs, and recognised that there are insufficient specialist 
places available to meet this need at present.

116. The Council agrees with this analysis and this factor was key reason 
for the proposal outlined. 

117. However, there is not yet consensus about the criteria and purpose of 
Early Intervention Classes. Further work is therefore needed to clarify 
and develop this aspect of the proposal prior to bringing forward a 
revised proposal for consideration. 

118. The initial proposal to develop a network of Early Intervention Classes 
was based on a reinvestment of the resources and skills that would 
be released by closure of Meadowbank School.  In the absence of 
significant new investment, it would not be possible to proceed with 
these classes while also retaining Meadowbank School. 

Reason for Recommendations

119. The consultation has identified a number of views that are significant 
concerns for stakeholders.  It is deemed advisable for additional work 
to be undertaken to engage with stakeholders more fully prior to 
bringing forward a revised proposal for consideration.

Financial Implications

120. There are no direct financial implications of a decision to carry out 
further review and engagement and the subsequent development of 
revised proposals as recommended in this report. However any 
revised proposals developed would need to be subject to detailed 
financial implications as part of future Cabinet reports.

121. Meadowbank School is currently operating within its delegated 
budget, which, for 2016/17, totals £641,710. In addition, the school 
has been able to maintain a surplus balance despite falling pupil 
numbers. The surplus balance at 31 March 2016 was £65,774. 
However, should pupil numbers continue to fall, the school’s ability to 
operate within its delegated budget would need to be considered as 
part of any financial implications of future decisions around the future 
of the school.

Legal Implications (including Equality Impact Assessment where 
appropriate)
 
122. Section 316A of the Education Act 1996 specifies that children with 

special educational needs should normally be educated in 
mainstream schools so long as this is compatible with receiving the 
special educational provision that their learning difficulty calls for; the 
efficient education of other children, and the efficient use of 
resources. This is also reflected in the Special Educational for Needs 
Code of Practice for Wales.

Page 28



Page 23 of 24

123. Parental preference refers to the obligation under section 86 of the 
School Standards and Framework Act 1998, which requires a local 
authority to make arrangements enabling the parent of a child to 
express a preference as to the school at which they wish education to 
be provided for his child and to give reasons for his preference. The 
preference expressed must be taken into consideration in relation to 
the statutory assessment process when statements of special 
educational needs are prepared. However, the type of provision will 
also be based upon the professional advice given and is individual to 
each child according to their needs.

124. Any proposal to establish a community school or to discontinue a 
community school and to make changes to special educational needs 
provision at a school may be considered as a regulated alteration to a 
school under Sections 41 and 43 of the School Standards and 
Organisation (Wales) Act 2013.

125. Section 48 of the 2013 Act requires that any proposal in respect of a 
regulated alternation regulated alteration must first be consulted upon 
and then a formal notice published in accordance with the Schools 
Organisation Code.

126. Under the Code the Authority is required to take into account certain 
factors in formulating proposals and those factors are referred to in 
the text of this Report.

127. The Council also has to satisfy its public sector duties under the 
Equality Act 2010 (including specific Welsh public sector duties). 
Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils must in making decisions 
have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
(2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good relations on 
the basis of protected characteristics.

128. Protected characteristics are:
• Age
• Gender reassignment
• Sex
• Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality
• Disability
• Pregnancy and maternity
• Marriage and civil partnership
• Sexual orientation
• Religion or belief – including lack of belief

129. The information from the consultation process will need to feed into 
an Equality Impact Assessment. The purpose of the Equality Impact 
Assessment is to ensure that the Council has understood the 
potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality so that it can 
ensure that it is making proportionate and rational decisions having 
due regard to its public sector equality duty.

Page 29



Page 24 of 24

130. The Cabinet must make a final determination of the proposals after 
any statutory notices are published, an objection period of 28 days is 
allowed, within 16 weeks of the end of the objection period.

HR Implications

131. At this stage there are no direct HR implications arising from the 
recommendations in this report.  It is important that all schools based 
staff who were potentially affected by the original proposal are 
informed of the outcome of the consultation process.

132. The implications for employees arising from the review of speech and 
language support; considerations around early intervention for 
behavioural, emotional and social needs; and any future revised 
proposal in relation to Meadowbank and Allensbank schools, will 
need to be fully considered.

133. With regard to Meadowbank Special School, the budgetary impact of 
falling pupil numbers has meant that the Governing Body has had to 
take decisions to reduce its staffing levels from 1st September 2016.  
It is anticipated that falling pupil numbers will lead to further 
reductions in staffing levels.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Cabinet is recommended to authorise the Director of Education and 
Lifelong Learning, in consultation with the cabinet Member for Education, to; 

1. Carry out a further review of speech and language support in Cardiff with 
the aim of bringing forward revised proposals;

2. Undertake further engagement with schools and other stakeholders in 
relation to early intervention for children with behavioural emotional and 
social needs;

3. Work with the governing bodies of Meadowbank and Allensbank Schools 
to ensure the needs of children with speech and language needs placed 
at the schools can continue to be met effectively, pending any revised 
proposals. 

Nick Batchelar
Director

The following appendices are attached: 

Appendix 1 – Consultation document
Appendix 2 – Formal responses
Appendix 3 – Statutory Screening Tool

Page 30



My Ref: Scrutiny/Correspondence/MJH 
 
24 May 2016 
 
Councillor Sarah Merry 
Cabinet Member - Education and Skills 
County Hall  
Atlantic Wharf 
CARDIFF  
CF10 4UW 
 
 
Dear Sarah 
 
Cabinet proposal Meadowbank School – Specialist Pro vision for Primary Aged 
Pupils with Speech and Language Difficulties, and w ith Behavioural, Emotional 

and Social Difficulties 
 
The Committee has asked me to write to you following its consideration of the 
Cabinet report on the proposals for Meadowbank School, views of a number of 
interested stakeholders, as well as comments contained in the Estyn inspection letter 
and the Directorate Quarter 4 performance report, at Committee on 17 May 2016. 
 
I was initially contacted by a number of people who were concerned about the 
proposals for Meadowbank School. As you are aware a Scrutiny Committee may 
invite anyone whom it believes can make a useful contribution to address it, discuss 
issues of local concern and/or answer questions. To this end I agreed to include an 
item on the agenda to enable anyone wishing to express a view on the proposals to 
address the Committee. 
 
At the Committee meeting a number of parents and staff, the chair of governors and 
a third sector organisation expressed their wish to address the Committee and / or 
submit documents for the Committee to consider. The Committee heard some very 
passionate comments about the education and support provided by the school, and 
how these proposals could impact on the future outcome of pupils with speech and 
language difficulties and with behavioural emotional and social difficulties. 
 
The Committee is fully aware that the consultation period had ended, however 
having read and considered the information in the Cabinet report and reflected on 
the information provided by the parents, staff and governors the Members agreed to 
provide you with its comments, concern and recommendations in respect of the 
policy and service development proposed in the Cabinet report dated 3 December 
2015, prior to the final decision being taken by Cabinet. 
 
The Committee also reflected on comments made by Estyn: “Pupils most at risk of 
exclusion often have speech and language difficulties” and also the Director of 
Education and Lifelong Learning in the Quarter 4 performance report “There is a 
decline in performance on both National strategic indicators relating to the timeliness 
of processing Statements of Special Educational Needs and targets have not been 
met. The main contributory factors to this decline are  

Page 31



1) An increase in the volume of requests for statutory assessments and the 
associated work  
 
2) A commitment to try to resolve issues with parents/carers which often 
extends timescales  
 
3) Challenges in securing placements at specialist provisions  
 
4) The capacity of the Education Psychology Service and Local Health Board 
to respond to the increase in demand for advice.   

 
Action to improve performance is focused upon reducing the reliance upon 
statements to meet children’s needs in mainstream schools, by introducing 
alternative provision, funding models,  business processes and improved information 
sharing.” 
 
The Committee discussed in detail the Cabinet report and information provided, and 
agreed to raise the following issues for you to take into consideration, prior to the 
approval of the proposals for Meadowbank School at Cabinet in the near future. We 
believe that the school should remain open until: 

 
a. A detailed Cardiff wide strategy for the provision of Speech and Language 

Difficulties, and with Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties support, 
is developed, consulted on and implemented. 

 
b. An assessment of current support for children with Speech and Language 

Difficulties, and with Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties across 
Cardiff’s primary schools is undertaken, and is determined to be fit for 
purpose. 

 
c. The professional views of all primary and secondary head teachers on the 

impact of pupils with Speech and Language Difficulties, and with 
Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties currently in their schools is 
sought and assessed. 

 
d. Further discussions are held with the school and appropriate third sector 

organisations on the support and needs of children and young people with 
Speech and Language Difficulties, and with Behavioural, Emotional and 
Social Difficulties. 

 
e. That the school’s expertise is promoted as a centre of excellence or as a 

training centre for teachers across Cardiff and the wider region. 
 
f. Ensure that the Council continues to provide early specialist intervention, as 

it is considered to be the most effective and efficient method of managing 
children with special educational needs. 

 
The Committee also wishes to receive anonymised data on the number and cost of 
any “Out of County” placements of children with Speech and Language Difficulties, 

Page 32



and with Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties, as it was unable to assess 
from the Cabinet report the financial impact of the overall proposals. 
 
The Committee recommends that you consider the above points before you agree 
the final proposals for Meadowbank School, and that you inform the Committee of 
your views on the above. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
COUNTY COUNCILLOR RICHARD COOK 
Chair – Children and Young People Scrutiny Committe e 
 
CC:  Nick Batchelar, Director of Education and Lifelong Learning 

Angela Kent, Head of Achievement and Inclusion. 

Page 33



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 1

Page 35



Page 36



	  

 

 

	  
	  

Table of Contents  

1. Introduction 
2. How you can find out more and give your views 
3. Your Views Matter 
4. Explanation of terms used in this document 
5. Background to the proposal 

5a. Support for speech and language need in Cardiff 
5b. Changes in demand for Special School and Specialist Resource Base places 
5c. Why has the need for Special School and Specialist Resource Base places 
fallen? 
5d. National trend for inclusion  
5e. Early intervention and capacity building in Cardiff  
5f. School-based therapy service (introduced in Cardiff between September 2014 
and July 2015) 
5g. Outcomes for pupils in mainstream 

6. Changing need for Special School, Specialist Resource Base and early 
intervention provision for other areas of SEN 

7. A Strategic Approach to Improving SEN Provision 
8. Early Intervention Classes 

8a. Purpose of an Early Intervention Class 
8b. Processes 
8c. Criteria 
8d. Operation 
8e Neighbourhood Approach  

9. The proposal 
10. School Capacities, Condition and Suitability of School Buildings 
11. Location of schools affected by the proposals 
12. How would other schools be affected? 
13. Interim arrangements 
14. Quality and Standards 
15. What are the benefits of these proposals? 
16. Potential disadvantages of the proposals 
17. Risks associated with these proposals 
18. Alternatives considered 
19. Admission arrangements 
20. Financial matters 
21. Human Resources matters 
22. Land matters 
23. Learner Travel arrangements 
24. Impact of the proposal on the Welsh language 
25. Equality matters 
26. Sustainability matters 
27. Considering community impact  

Page 37



	  

 

 

	  
	  

28. What happens next? 
• Key dates 
• Consultation period 
• Statutory Notice 
• Determination of proposals 
• Decision notification 

29. Consultation Response Form  

 

Page 38



	  

1	  
	  

1. Introduction 

This consultation is an opportunity for people to learn about the school organisation 
proposal put forward in relation to specialist provision for pupils with special 
educational needs (SEN) in Cardiff.  It is your chance to ask questions and make 
comments that will be considered when the Council decides how to proceed. 

Before any decisions are made the Council needs to ensure that it offers a number 
of opportunities for individuals and interested groups to make their views and 
opinions on the proposal known. 

Our consultation process therefore follows Welsh Government guidelines outlined in 
the School Organisation Code 2013 and a range of individuals and groups are being 
asked for their views about these proposals.   

Table 1 sets out details of the groups the Council is consulting: 

Table 1: Groups the Council is consulting with: 
Children and young people  All Cardiff schools 
Parents/ carers Cardiff and the Vale University Health 

Board 
School staff Voluntary Sector Organisations 
School Governing Bodies Neighbouring Authorities  
Local residents Welsh Ministers  
Local Members/ Assembly Members/ 
Regional Assembly Members/ Members 
of Parliament  

Police and Crime Commissioner  

Diocesan Directors of Education  Central South Consortium Joint 
Education Service (CSCJES) 

Trade Unions Welsh Language Commissioner  
Estyn  Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RHAG) 
Cardiff and Vale College   
 
2. How you can find out more and give your views  

Public meetings and drop in sessions have been arranged where the proposals will 
be explained.  These are provided so you can ask questions and make comments 
that will be recorded.  You may also provide your views in writing. 

Information regarding this proposal will be available to view at all Cardiff maintained 
schools.  

Details of the consultation meeting dates are given in table 2 below: 

Table 2: Consultation meeting dates  
Nature of Consultation  Date/ time Venue  
Cardiff Headteachers  4th March, 9-10am Future Inn, Cardiff Bay  
Governors meeting 7th March 6.45pm Meadowbank School 
Parents meeting 25th February, 2-3pm Meadowbank School 
Staff meeting 25th February, 3.45pm  Meadowbank School 
Governors meeting 7th March, 5.30pm Allensbank Primary 

Page 39



	  

2	  
	  

School 
Parents meeting 24th February, 2-3pm Allensbank Primary 

School 
Staff meeting 24th February, 3.30pm Allensbank Primary 

School  
Governors meeting 15th March, 6pm Fairwater Primary School 
Parents meeting 23rd February, 2-3pm  Fairwater Primary School 
Staff meeting 23rd February, 3.30pm Fairwater Primary School 
Governors meeting 23rd February, 4.30pm Glan yr Afon Primary 

School 
Staff meeting 24th February, 3.30pm  Glan yr Afon Primary 

School 
Governors meeting 17th March, 6.30pm   Springwood Primary 

School 
Staff meeting 17th March, 3.30pm  Springwood Primary 

School 
Drop in session (West of 
the city) 

1st March, 1-2pm Ely and Caerau Hub 

Drop in session (East of 
the city) 

2nd March, 2-3pm Rumney Hub  

Public meeting  16th March, 6-7.30pm Ysgol Glantaf  
 
In addition, workshops will be arranged with pupils and young people to provide an 
opportunity for pupils to ask questions, learn more about the proposals and give their 
views.  

3. Your Views Matter 

Your views matter and we want you to tell us what you think about the proposal.  
You can do this by attending one of the meetings or drop in sessions above, and/or 
by completing the online form www.cardiff.gov.uk/21stcenturySchools 

Alternatively, contact the School Organisation Planning Team on (029) 2087 2720, 
by email to schoolresponses@cardiff.gov.uk or by post to Room 422, County Hall, 
Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff, CF10 4UW.   

The closing date for responses to this proposal is 23 March 2016.  

4. Explanation of terms used in this document 

Please note the following terms used throughout this document: 

SEN – Special Educational Needs. A child has SEN if he or she has learning 
difficulties which require special educational provision to be made for him or her. A 
learning difficulty means that the child has significantly greater difficulty in learning 
than most children of the same age or that the child has a disability that needs 
different educational facilities from those that the school generally provides for 
children.  

Page 40



	  

3	  
	  

School Action (SA) - When the class or subject teacher identifies that a pupil has 
SEN they provide interventions that are additional to or different from those provided 
as part of the school’s usual curriculum. 

School Action Plus (SA+) - When the class or subject teacher and the SEN Co-
ordinator are provided with advice or support from outside specialists, so that 
alternative interventions additional or different to those provided for the pupil through 
School Action can be put in place. 

Statemented – A small number of pupils with SEN may need a place in a Special 
School or a Specialist Resource Base, or they may need extra funded support in 
their local school.  These children will usually have a statement of special 
educational needs, which describes their needs and their strengths and sets out 
what support must be in place to make sure they make progress in their learning.  
The statement will also name the school they attend and any extra resources 
provided for the pupil.   

Specialist Resource Base (SRB) - A small class (usually between 8 and 10 pupils 
per class) in a local mainstream school, funded by the local authority for pupils with 
significant SEN.  Specialist Resource Base classes are taught by specialist teachers 
and specialist learning support assistants, but pupils also have opportunities to 
integrate with mainstream peers and are fully included in the life of the school.  All 
pupils attending a Specialist Resource Base have a statement of SEN, and usually 
have significant, long term special educational needs. 

Revolving Door Class (RD) / Nurture Class -  Small classes similar to a Specialist 
Resource Base in terms of size, location and staff expertise, which can provide a 
short term placement for vulnerable learners. Pupils do not usually have a statement 
of SEN but are placed temporarily in the RD or Nurture class because they are 
struggling to cope in their local school due to their behavioural, social and emotional 
needs.  Pupils attend on a temporary basis, while also remaining on the roll of their 
local school.  Pupils re-integrate to their local school following the placement.     

Early Intervention Class – this is the term being used to describe a new initiative in 
Cardiff.  A detailed description of the proposed purpose, function and outcomes of 
early intervention classes are set out in sections 15-20 of this document.   

Statutory Notice - A statutory notice is the formal publication of a finalised proposal, 
if approved by Council’s Cabinet and will only be considered once the Cabinet have 
received a report on all the responses from the consultation. This is a legal 
requirement as outlined in the School Organisation Code 2013. 

5. Background to the proposal  

5a. Support for speech and language needs in Cardiff  

Meadowbank School is a small Special School located in Gabalfa adjacent to 
Gabalfa Primary School and Ysgol Glan Ceubal, for children aged 4-11 with 
significant speech and language difficulties.   

Page 41



	  

4	  
	  

 
Historically the Vale of Glamorgan Council funded 10 places at the school and at that 
time the school operated at 40 places. In 2010, the Vale of Glamorgan gave notice of 
their intention to withdraw from this arrangement, making no new placements. In July 
2015 the last Vale child left the school. The number of Cardiff pupils admitted to the 
school has also fallen over the last five years, and there are now 23 pupils on the 
school roll.  

 
Cardiff also maintains a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) at Allensbank Primary 
School, for 20 pupils with speech and language difficulties.  Admissions have fallen 
since 2010 and there are now only 11 pupils attending the base.  

 
The Speech and Language Therapy Service provides school-based therapy to pupils 
in Meadowbank and Allensbank in line with their assessed level of need.   

 
Admissions to Meadowbank Special School and to Allensbank SRB are subject to a 
statement of special educational needs (SEN) and are managed by the local 
authority in accordance with the SEN Code of Practice for Wales 2002.   

 
In line with equalities legislation and the statutory framework for SEN, children are 
only placed in a Special School or Specialist Resource Base where this is:  

 
• consistent with parents’ wishes and  
• if there is substantial evidence to show that their needs cannot reasonably be met 

other than by placement in a specialised setting. 
 

The prospects for pupils with speech and language difficulties to be reintegrated to 
mainstream school are good; the majority of pupils attending Meadowbank Special 
School and Allensbank SRB transfer to a local high school at Year 7 and many 
pupils make sufficient progress to transfer at an earlier age. 
 
There has been a trend away from Special School places for speech and language 
needs as part of a national trend towards inclusion.  Cardiff is the only local authority 
in England and Wales still maintaining a Special School specialising solely in speech 
and language needs. 

 
While Special School continues to be an important option for some children with 
complex, long term learning difficulties, there has been a growing national trend for 
children with moderate learning delays, speech and language difficulties and 
physical disabilities to attend a local school.  This trend is also reflected in Cardiff.   
 
5b. Changes in demand for Special School and SRB places 
 
Although the number of children and young people with speech and language 
difficulties has not fallen, demand for places at both Meadowbank Special School 
and Allensbank SRB has reduced in recent years.  
 
At the present time (figures from November 2015) there are 22 pupils on roll at 
Meadowbank Special School. Demand for places at Allensbank SRB has also fallen 
from 18 pupils in 2010-11, to 11 pupils in November 2015.  This trend is illustrated in 
Table 1 below.  
 

Page 42



	  

5	  
	  

Table 1: Meadowbank and Allensbank Specialist Resource Base numbers on 
roll, 2010-2015 
 

 
Meadowbank Allensbank Total pupils 

2010-11 40 18 58 
2011-12 35 18 53 
2012-13 34 13 47 
2013-14 32 16 48 
2014-15 27 14 41 

November 2015 23 11 34 
 
Admissions have been falling for a few years with the result that there are now very 
few Foundation Phase pupils in either setting. There were no admissions to either 
setting in September 2015.  The current age profile is illustrated in Table 2 below.  
 
Table 2: Age profile of pupils in speech and language provision 
 

 
Meadowbank Allensbank Total 

Reception 0 0 0 
Year 1 2 0 2 
Year 2 4 4 8 
Year 3 3 2 5 
Year 4 2 2 4 
Year 5 6 3 9 
Year 6 6 0 6 

 23 11 34 
 
The table shows that there are now only 10 Foundation Phase pupils attending 
Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB, and 24 Key Stage 2 pupils.  
 
As the number of pupils has fallen, the therapy allocation to Meadowbank Special 
School and Allensbank SRB has been reduced in order to provide more support for 
pupils in mainstream schools.    
 
5c. Why has the need for Special School and SRB places fallen? 

 
The trend does not arise from a reduction of need, but from changing expectations 
and from the availability of effective mainstream support.   

 
The following factors are explored in more detail below: 

 
• There is a national trend towards more inclusive educational practice;  
• A successful programme of early intervention and capacity building has been 

implemented in Cardiff’s mainstream schools; 
• Between September 2014 and July 2015, the therapy service rolled out a school-

based therapy service, in place of the clinic-based model; 
• Pupil outcomes for children with speech and language difficulties in mainstream 

are good. 
5d. National trend for inclusion  

Page 43



	  

6	  
	  

 
The trend away from Special School places for speech and language needs is part 
of a national trend towards inclusion. The majority of children attending a Special 
School now have severe and complex needs and are likely to benefit from a 
specialist education throughout their school life.   

 
In contrast, children with specific speech and language difficulties have good 
prospects for succeeding in mainstream education provided they receive effective 
specialist support when young. Increasingly, this support can be provided effectively 
in a mainstream context.   

 
Pupils who attend Meadowbank Special School or Allensbank SRB typically transfer 
to mainstream secondary schools. It can be very challenging for pupils to transfer 
directly from a small special class to a large mainstream secondary school in one 
step.  The local authority undertook consultation with Meadowbank Special School 
and Allensbank SRB parents in 2012, to identify the best way of supporting transition 
to secondary school.   
 
There were two main outcomes from this consultation: 
 
• The capacity of the Specialist Teacher Team was increased in order to provide 

more support for transition and for secondary pupils in mainstream; and  
• Both Allensbank and Meadowbank schools began working towards earlier 

reintegration to mainstream.  Many pupils now have the chance to reintegrate to 
a local primary school and to establish friendships there before transferring to 
secondary school.   

 
In the past, a significant factor in the choice of the Special School or SRB was that 
these settings were the only schools where school-based therapy was provided and 
where therapists and teachers worked closely together to provide support.   Children 
who remained in their local mainstream school would be obliged to miss school on a 
regular basis and travel to a clinic to receive therapy. Direct contact between 
therapists and mainstream teaching staff was often minimal and varied from one 
area to another.  
With the roll out of a school-based therapy service in 2014-15, pupils included in 
mainstream are no longer disadvantaged in terms of access to therapy and there are 
additional benefits to remaining in the local school:  

 
• The child experiences fewer transitions; 
• Local friendships; 
• Good role models to support the child’s speech and language development.  
 
5e. Early intervention and capacity building in Cardiff  
 
Since 2010, a strategic programme of capacity building and early intervention has 
significantly improved the extent to which children with speech and language 
difficulties can be well-supported in their local mainstream school.   
 
The Specialist Teacher Speech and Language Team provides effective support, 
training and advice to mainstream schools and provides direct teaching intervention 
to pupils with the most severe difficulties. 

Page 44



	  

7	  
	  

Using the ‘Speech Links’ and ‘Language Links’ programmes, primary schools assess 
the language development of all children entering Reception and use a range of 
strategies and interventions to address any language delays identified. This 
approach has been effective in improving the language skills of children by an 
average of 20 percentage points during the Reception year. The quality and 
timeliness of therapy referrals has also improved, with a positive impact on reducing 
therapy waiting times.  

 
Speech Links and Language Links have been established in all but one primary 
school in Cardiff and are now being rolled out across secondary schools.  
 
Joint working between Cardiff and the Vale University Health Board (CVUHB) 
Speech and Language Therapy Service and the Education Service has lead to 
improved support for children with speech and language difficulties.  Speech and 
language therapists work closely with the specialist teacher team to deliver the five 
stage graduated response, with a single referral pathway and a shared caseload. 
This approach has lead to less duplication and a more efficient and effective service. 
The partnership between health and education in Cardiff was awarded an NHS prize 
for innovative practice in 2014. 

 
5f. School-based therapy service (introduced in Cardiff between September 
2014 and July 2015) 
 
In 2014-15, the Speech and Language Therapy Service established a school-based 
therapy service, with a range of benefits: 
 
• Children in mainstream education are no longer disadvantaged in comparison to 

Special School or SRB pupils, as now they do not have to travel to a clinic to 
access therapy;  

• School-based therapy is more accessible for families without their own transport 
and children do not miss school in order to attend the clinic; 

• There are stronger links between schools and the therapy service, with therapists 
providing direct advice to class teachers and teaching assistants to enable them 
to deliver and oversee programmes. 

 
The school-based service was rolled out in the Vale of Glamorgan a year earlier than 
in Cardiff. Data collected by CVUHB demonstrates that the school-based service has 
led to fewer pupils being discharged early due to non-attendance at clinic. Early 
signs suggest that the same benefits are being realised in Cardiff.     

 
A breakdown of the therapy caseload demonstrates that the majority of speech and 
language children are now being supported in mainstream schools. This is illustrated 
in Table 3.  
 
 
 
 
 
Table 3: Therapy caseload by level of need (Stage 5 being the highest level of 
need), June 2015 

 
 Meadowbank  Allensbank Mainstream  Total 

Page 45



	  

8	  
	  

Specialist 
Resource 
Base  

caseload  

Stage 5 (direct 
input) 

7 1 48 56 

Stage 4 (direct 
input) 

11 12 188 211 

Stage 3 
(monitoring) 

7 2 249 258 

 
5g. Outcomes for pupils in mainstream education 
 
Pupils in mainstream education are achieving their measurable targets. These 
targets are jointly set between education and health. Progress is also measured via 
the Speech and Language Link screening tools and school-based attainment 
progress. This is illustrated in Table 4 below, which sets out the results of pre- and 
post- intervention screening in Reception.  
 
Table 4: Data showing the increase in reception age pupils with age 
appropriate Language Skills and the progress they make over the academic 
year 
 
Year 2010- 2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 
Pre Screen 63.8% 57.2% 69% 63.8% 67.5% 
Post 
Screen  

84% 80.1% 83% 83.7% 84.9% 

% point 
increase 

20.2 22.9 14 19.9 17.4 

 
6. Changing need for Special School, Specialist Resource Base and early 

intervention provision for other areas of SEN 
 
A review of specialist provision for pupils with SEN was completed in 2013. This 
identified a number of priorities for future development of Special School and SRB 
provision, including the need to create additional places for: 
 
• Complex learning difficulties 
• Autism Spectrum Conditions  
• Behavioural, emotional and social difficulties 

 
Demand for Special School or SRB places for primary aged children presenting with 
challenging behaviours has increased over the last two years. In 2014-15 there was 
a 30% increase in the number of new statements for this area of need.   
 
In March 2014 a focus group of Headteachers, health professionals, children’s 
services and parent partnership representatives was consulted on the priorities for 
future development of behavioural, emotional and social difficulties provision in 
Cardiff.   
 
There was consensus on the need for: 

 

Page 46



	  

9	  
	  

• Additional capacity for early intervention such as Nurture Classes and Revolving 
Door classes; 

• Greater emphasis on the underlying needs experienced by this group including: 
mental health and medical needs; speech and language difficulties; literacy and 
numeracy delays.  

 
Extending capacity for early intervention for pupils with behavioural emotional and 
social difficulties is therefore a high priority for Cardiff. The need to plan for future 
expansion of provision for Autism Spectrum Conditions and for complex learning 
difficulties is also a priority. 
 
7. A Strategic Approach to Improving SEN Provision  
 
In 2015, the Education Strategic Group discussed and agreed an Additional Learning 
Needs (ALN) Strategy which sets out the principles and high level actions for 
developing SEN provision through School Organisation Planning.    
 
The Strategy sets out the following principles: 
 
• All children should have access to an appropriate education that affords them the 

opportunity to achieve their personal potential.   

• An inclusive approach to education incorporates the views of parents and 
children, and recognises the wider needs of vulnerable families.  

• An effective graduated response to additional learning needs is underpinned by 
collaboration with health, children’s services and other partners.   

• With the right training, strategies and support, nearly all children with special 
educational needs can be successfully included in mainstream education.  

• Children in Welsh and English medium education should have equitable access 
to specialist learning provision.  

• As far as practicable, provision for special educational needs should be locally 
based, to reduce the extent to which children travel to access education.  

• Mainstream education will not always be right for every child all of the time: a 
high quality range of Learning Resource Bases and Special Schools should be 
maintained in order to offer excellence and choice for all children.  

• Special Schools should function as ‘Centres of Excellence’ providing a high 
quality learning environment for children with a complex range of needs, and 
sharing expertise with their mainstream partners.    

• The interests of all pupils must be safeguarded. 

These principles underpin the current proposal.  

8. Early Intervention Classes 

Page 47



	  

10	  
	  

Cardiff Council is therefore proposing to develop a network of 7 Early Intervention 
Classes across the city.  This would significantly increase capacity to support 
primary aged pupils who are vulnerable to exclusion due to their social emotional 
difficulties.   

The goal would be for each of the six neighbourhood areas to have an Early 
Intervention Class to provide places for children in the Neighbourhood.  In addition, a 
Welsh medium EIC would provide places for children in the Welsh medium sector. 

The existing ‘Revolving Door’ class at Glan yr Afon Primary School, the Specialist 
Resource Base at Fairwater Primary School and the ‘Nurture Class’ at Springwood 
Primary School would cease to operate as they do at present and become part of the 
network of Early Intervention Classes.  

 In addition the Local Authority would establish four new Early Intervention Classes 
including one in a Welsh medium school.   

8a. Purpose of an Early Intervention Class   

• To provide  intensive assessment and short term support for  children displaying 
significant difficulties due to attachment disorders; language, literacy and 
numeracy delays; poor social skills and understanding; challenging social 
circumstances; emotional difficulties. 

• Work in collaboration with parents/ carers, educational psychology, specialist 
support services, health, children’s services and other partners.  

• Establish and implement an Individual Development Plan. 
• Work in partnership with the child’s local school to enable successful  

reintegration.   
• Support the development of positive relationships between home and school. 

8b. Processes  

• Placement decisions will be made by panels of Headteachers and professionals.   
• Consent of parent/ carers must be obtained before a referral is made. 
• The views of parents/ carers and the child must be sought and will inform the 

placement decision.  

8c. Criteria 

Placement in an Early Intervention Class will be considered when there is evidence 
that:  

• Despite sustained, relevant and purposeful action to support them, the child is 
unable  to settle and learn in a mainstream classroom.  

• The child has good potential for reintegrating and succeeding in mainstream with 
the right support. 

8d. Operation 

• Children will be dual registered in their local school and the EIC school. 

Page 48



	  

11	  
	  

• Placements will be for 3-4 terms, with phased reintegration undertaken over the 
course of the placement.  

• Ongoing multi disciplinary assessment to identify the child’s strengths and needs.   
• Every child will have an Individual Development Plan.  
• Team Around the Family plans where appropriate.  
• A plan for supporting and developing capacity at the local school, to enable 

successful reintegration.  
• The local school will contribute to cost of the placement. 
• Educational Psychology Service and Specialist Teacher Services will contribute 

to assessments, support and advice to both the EIC school and the local school, 
provide training and support to the local school as identified in plans.  

8e. Neighbourhood Approach 

It is anticipated that once the full network of 7 EICs is in place, they will operate on a 
locality basis, providing places for children within the neighbourhood and reducing 
the need for children to travel long distances to access specialist support. 

9. The proposal 

To respond to the falling demand for speech and language places and the increased 
demand for provision for other areas of special educational need, the Council is now 
consulting on the following proposals: 
 
1. Close Meadowbank Special School at the end of the academic year 2017.  In 

consultation with parents, the 11 remaining pupils would be offered places at 
Allensbank Specialist Resource Base (SRB) or in a mainstream local school with 
funded support.  

 
2. Continue to maintain a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) at Allensbank but cease 

admission of pupils with speech and language difficulties, unless transferring 
from Meadowbank Special School.  Redesignate this as an SRB for pupils with 
autism spectrum conditions, with first admission of ASC children in September 
2018.  
 

3. Continue to maintain a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) at Fairwater but cease 
admission of pupils with statements for behavioural, emotional and social 
difficulties. Redesignate this as an Early Intervention Class from September 
2018. 
 

4. Maintain the specialist classes at Glan Yr Afon (Revolving Door) and Springwood 
(Nurture Class), but rebadge these as Early Intervention Classes, adopting the 
proposed admission criteria and operational procedures outlined above from 
September 2018.  
 

5. Identify four additional primary schools (one in Welsh medium sector, three 
schools in English medium sector) in various locations across the city, to host 
Early Intervention Classes.  Consideration will need to be given to availability of 
suitable accommodation and distribution of schools across the city. Further 

Page 49



	  

12	  
	  

consultation with named schools will be needed before a final decision could be 
reached.  

 
10. School Capacities, Condition and Suitability of School Buildings 

Table 5 below provides details of school capacities and information regarding 
the condition and suitability of school buildings 

Capacity, condition and suitability of schools affected by the proposals 
Name of 
School/Age 
Range 

Language 
medium/ 
Category of 
school 

Condition 
Category as 
identified by 
21st Century 
Schools 
Survey 

Current 
Published 
Capacity 
(age 4-11) 

Published 
Capacity (nursery 
part-time places) 

Meadowbank 
School 
(4-11) 

English-
medium    
(Special) 

Satisfactory 40 0 

Allensbank 
Primary 
School 
(3-11) 

English- 
medium    
(Community) 

Satisfactory 300 64 

Fairwater 
Primary 
School 
(4-11) 

English-
medium 
(Community) 

Satisfactory 283 0 

Glan yr Afon 
Primary 
School 
(3-11) 

English-
medium 
(Community) 

Satisfactory 292 64 

Springwood 
Primary 
School  
(3-11) 

English-
medium 
(Community) 

Poor 420 48 

 
11. Location of Schools affected by the proposals 

The location of each of the above schools can be seen on the map below: 

 

Page 50



	  

13	  
	  

 

12. How would other schools be affected? 

The proposal would reduce the number of special school places available, however 
this is not expected to impact on access to or the quality of provision available. 

It is anticipated that the proposal would have no effect on the number of pupils on roll 
at Allensbank Primary, Fairwater Primary, Glan yr Afon Primary or Springwood 
Primary.   

Table 6 below illustrates the number of pupils on roll at schools affected by 
the proposals and the projected number of pupils on roll should the proposals 
proceed/not proceed 

School 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
10

 
(N

O
R

) 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
11

 
(N

O
R

) 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
12

 
(N

O
R

) 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
13

 
(N

O
R

) 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
14

 
(N

O
R

) 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
15

 
(N

O
R

) 

20
15

/2
01

6 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
16

/2
01

7 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
17

/2
01

8 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
18

/2
01

9 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
19

/2
02

0 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

Meadowbank 
School 

41 40 35 34 30 29 23 17 11 9 6 

Allensbank 
Primary School 

139 165 218 231 242 252 267 270 286 272 267 

Fairwater 
Primary School 

206 216 205 201 211 205 227 233 229 229 217 

Glan yr Afon 
Primary School 

152 143 138 134 151 156 163 178 181 173 168 

Springwood 
Primary School 

160 154 129 160 158 178 177 186 176 183 173 

Page 51



	  

14	  
	  

 
13. Interim arrangements 

Changes would be carefully planned in consultation with parents and professionals 
to take account of the needs of pupils attending each of the affected settings, to 
minimise disruption to their learning and to take full account of parental views.   
 
Meadowbank pupils 
 
The proposed closure date for Meadowbank Special School is the end of the 
academic year 2017. The majority of current pupils would have transferred to 
secondary school or reintegrated to a mainstream primary by that date. Remaining 
pupils would be offered a range of options, depending on their needs and on parents’ 
views.  
 
The options would include: 
• Transfer to the SRB at Allensbank, which will continue to be a speech and 

language SRB until the current pupils have transferred to secondary school.  
• A supported programme of reintegration to their local mainstream school. This 

would include funded additional support from an appropriately trained Teaching 
Assistant, school-based therapy if this continues to be an assessed need; 
support from the Specialist Teacher Service. Many Meadowbank pupils have 
taken this step over the last few years and it has proved more successful and an 
easier transition for the pupil than reintegrating to mainstream education at the 
end of year 6.   

 
Allensbank Specialist Resource Base pupils 
 
The proposed change of use of the SRB at Allensbank Primary School would be 
timed to take account of the needs and ages of existing pupils. The classes would 
continue to operate as a speech and language specialist setting until the current 
pupils move on, including any pupils who may transfer from Meadowbank.   
 
Even if all Meadowbank pupils transfer to the Allensbank place, there will be capacity 
to begin admission of pupils with Autism Spectrum Conditions from September 2018.  
This is illustrated in the table below: 
 
Year Projected number of 

speech and language 
pupils in Allensbank SRB  

Available places 

2017-18 19 1 
2018-19 15 5 
2019-20 10 10 
 
During the period of transition, there may be a period of 2-3 years when the SRB 
would operate mixed classes of pupils with speech and language needs and Autism 
Spectrum Conditions.  Classes for a range of needs operate successfully in many 
Cardiff schools and in other local authorities.  However, care would be taken not to 
compromise the quality of support by placing pupils with incompatible needs 
together.    
 
 

Page 52



	  

15	  
	  

Fairwater Specialist Resource Base pupils 
 
The proposed change of use at Fairwater Primary School, from an SRB for 
statemented pupils, to an Early Intervention Class, could be phased in over time, 
with some statemented pupils continuing to be taught alongside new admissions on 
the early intervention programme.  As the needs of all pupils would be similar, the 
mixed arrangements would not have a detrimental impact on the pupils.   
 
It is possible that the processes of supported reintegration for pupils admitted on the 
early intervention programme, could enhance the prospects for some statemented 
pupils to reintegrate to mainstream schools.   
 
Glan yr Afon ‘Revolving Door’ class 
 
The ‘Revolving Door’ class at Glan yr Afon Primary School currently admit pupils for 
a one term programme, after which they return to their local school or transfer to 
more specialist provision. There would therefore be no implications for current pupils. 
Springwood ‘Nurture Class’  
 
The ‘Nurture Class’ at Springwood Primary School currently admit pupils for a three 
to four term programme, after which they return to their local school or transfer to 
more specialist provision. This is the same placement pattern as that planned for the 
early intervention classes so there would be no implications for current pupils.    
 
14. Quality and Standards  

The Council works closely with the governing bodies of schools to ensure that 
standards in schools are high, that teaching is good and that leadership and 
governance is strong.  The Council works closely with two organisations in order to 
monitor the performance of schools and to support school improvement. 

Estyn is the office of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and Training in 
Wales. It is a Crown body, established under the Education Act 1992. Estyn is 
independent of the National Assembly for Wales but receives its funding from the 
Welsh Government under Section 104 of the Government of Wales Act 1998.  Estyn 
inspects quality and standards in education and training providers in Wales. 

Central South Consortium Joint Education Service (CSCJES) was established in 
September 2012.  The Local Authority has commissioned the Consortium to support 
and challenge schools in Cardiff. 

When proposing changes of this type to schools, Local Authorities are required to 
refer to the most recent Estyn reports, other evidence derived from performance 
monitoring and any other information available on a school's effectiveness.  

They must also demonstrate the likely impact of the proposals on the quality of: 

• outcomes (standards and wellbeing); 

Page 53



	  

16	  
	  

 provision (learning experiences, teaching, care support and guidance, and 
learning environment);and 
 
• leadership and management (leadership, improving quality, partnership working   
and resource   management). 

Estyn 

Schools are inspected as part of a national programme of school inspection.  The 
purpose of an inspection is to identify good features and shortcomings in schools in 
order that they may improve the quality of education offered and raise standards 
achieved by their pupils (Esytn) 

The relevant Estyn Inspection reports provide grades against Key Questions and 
provide schools with recommendations for improvement. 

Estyn inspection carried out after September 2010, provide judgements against three 
Key Questions. 

Each key question is provided with a judgement: 
 
Excellent – many strengths, including significant examples of sector-leading practice 
Good – many strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement 
Adequate – strengths outweigh areas for improvement 
Unsatisfactory – important areas for improvement outweigh strengths 
 
Welsh Government categorisation of schools 

In 2014 the Welsh Government introduced a new categorisation system that 
considered each school’s standards alongside the school’s capacity to improve so as 
to understand the level of support that organisations such as the CSCJES need to 
provide to each school in order that they achieve their targets. 

The categorisation system is described in Table 7 below: 

Table 7: Welsh Government Categorisation System 

Category What the category means 

Green  A highly effective school which is well run, has a strong leadership and is 
clear about its priorities for improvement.   

Yellow An effective school which is already doing well and knows the areas it 
needs to improve.   

Amber A School in need of improvement which needs help to identify the steps 
to improve or to make change happen more quickly.   

Red A school in need of greatest improvement and will receive immediate, 
intensive support.   

Page 54



	  

17	  
	  

 
To determine the colour coded category as explained in the table above, schools are 
placed in one of four groups for standards (1-4) and for bringing about improvement 
(A-D) with one being the highest grouping for standards and A being the highest for 
improvement capacity. 

For further information about the new categorisation scheme, please see Welsh 
Government’s parents’ guide to the National School Categorisation System: 

http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150119-parents-guide-en.pdf 

Meadowbank Special School 

Meadowbank Special School was last inspected in November 2013.  The school’s 
performance was judged to be good with prospects for improvement judged to be 
adequate. 

In December 2014, the school was judged to have made good progress and as a 
result was removed from the list of school required Estyn monitoring.  

Allensbank Primary School 

Allensbank Primary School was last inspected in December 2013. The school’s 
performance was judged to be adequate with prospects for improvement judged to 
be adequate. 

In February 2015, the school was judged to have made sufficient progress and was 
removed from the list of school requiring significant improvement. 

The Welsh Government has classified the school as Red. 

Fairwater Primary School 

Fairwater Primary School was last inspected in July 2013.  The school’s 
performance was judged to be adequate with prospects for improvement judged to 
be adequate. 

In November 2015, the school was judged to have made sufficient progress and was 
removed from the list of schools requiring significant improvement. 

The Welsh Government has classified the school as Red. 

Glan yr Afon Primary School 

Glan yr Afon Primary School was last inspected in January 2015.  The school’s 
performance was judged to be adequate with prospects for improvement judged to 
be good. 

The Local Authority will monitor the school’s performance. 

The Welsh Government has classified the school as Red. 

Page 55



	  

18	  
	  

Springwood Primary School 

Springwood Primary School was last inspected in September 2012.  The school’s 
performance was judged to be good with prospects for improvement judged to be 
adequate. 

In December 2013, the school was judged to have made good progress and was 
removed from the list of schools required Estyn monitoring.  

The Welsh Government has classified the school as Yellow. 

Standards 

The Council’s aim is to provide good quality SEN support in both English-medium 
and Welsh-medium across the city.  All children and young people in Cardiff should 
be educated in environments that are fit for purpose, in the right place to enable the 
effective delivery of first class education. 

The Council has in place policies to support school improvement e.g. ‘High 
Achievement for All’ and ‘Achievement for Inclusion’.  It is working to respond to the 
key principles of the School Effectiveness Framework to secure better learning 
outcomes and well-being for all children including those at the schools which form 
part of these proposals. 

It is acknowledged that there are differing standards at the schools included in these 
proposals and support specific to the needs of each school is in place and will 
continue to be provided as appropriate with a view to raising standards and 
improving outcomes for all. 

As the proposals are not proposing any changes in respect of mainstream education 
provision it is not anticipated that there will be any impact on the quality of standards 
of education or the delivery of the Foundation Phase and in each key stage of 
education at any of the schools.   

Provision 

The number of pupils requiring SEN support is increasing that the changes to 
existing SRB provision/establishment of additional SRB provision will ensure the 
availability of appropriate English-medium and Welsh-medium capacity. 

Leadership and Governance 

The Council will work with the leadership of any school affected by the proposals to 
develop a rigorous whole school approach to improvement planning and secure 
good relationships with parents and other partners in order to ensure pupils receive a 
high quality education.   

Careful planning will take place during the proposed period of change to avoid any 
risk of distraction or disruption to leadership and governance that could impact on 
educational outcomes. 

Page 56



	  

19	  
	  

The LA has no information to suggest that the Quality and Standards of existing 
schools would be negatively affected by the proposals.   

15. What are the benefits of these proposals? 

The proposal would offer the following educational benefits: 

• Reduce the number of school transfers for children with speech and language 
difficulties, by ensuring every child can be effectively supported in mainstream 
education throughout their education.  
 

• Significant expansion of Early Intervention Classes for vulnerable learners with 
social and emotional needs, attachment difficulties and mental health needs. This 
will strengthen the graduated response to SEN. It will increase the number of 
children who can be successfully included in their local school.   
 

• Additional provision in the Welsh medium sector. An Early Intervention Class will 
supplement the SRB provision currently available in Welsh medium.   
 

• An increased number of SRB places for children with complex learning 
difficulties, and with Autism Spectrum Conditions, in line with projected needs.  

 
16. Potential disadvantages of the proposals 

• A small number (11) of younger pupils currently attending Meadowbank Special 
School would be affected by the school closure as they would need to transfer to 
an alternative school.  However, there would be sufficient time to plan and 
support a transition to ensure as much consistency as possible.  Parents would 
be fully consulted on the appropriate school for their child, and the support that 
would need to be in place.  Places in Allensbank SRB would be available for 
every Meadowbank child if this is parental preference, although it is anticipated 
that some may choose a local mainstream school.  
 

• A few pupils at Allensbank and Fairwater SRB’s could be affected by the changes 
during the period of transition. Although they would not need to change school, 
the resource bases may begin to admit pupils with a different set of needs, while 
some current pupils are still attending.  Care would be taken to ensure that any 
transition arrangements are appropriately staffed, and that the needs of each 
child would be appropriately met.   

17. Risks associated with these proposals 

• Failure to secure sufficient growth in the number of Early Intervention Classes 
and Specialist Resource Bases to meet the growing demand for children with 
additional needs could affect the wellbeing and progress of some children.  
 

• The number on roll at Meadowbank Special School and Allensbank Specialist 
Resource Base is falling steadily and projected to fall further. If action is not 

Page 57



	  

20	  
	  

taken, there is a risk that both settings could become too small to deliver 
education effectively to the remaining pupils.   

18. Alternatives considered 

The option of keeping Meadowbank open as a speech and language Special School 
has been considered however this is not considered viable. The school roll has fallen 
consistently over the last five years and there is no expectation that the trend will 
reverse. This places the future of the school at risk even if no action is taken. 
 
19. Admission arrangements 

Admission to Specialist Resource Bases and Special Schools are currently through a 
statement of special educational needs.  The draft Additional Learning Needs Bill 
proposes changes to this statutory framework, and would replace statements with 
Individual Development Plans (IDPs).  As yet there is no guidance on how admission 
arrangements will be affected, although it is likely that the process will be similar to 
the current system.   

Temporary placement in the proposed Early Intervention Classes would be through 
placement panels, subject to agreement by parents/ carers.  Placements would be 
temporary and the child would continue to be registered in their local school.   

20. Financial matters 

All Cardiff schools are funded from the delegated schools budget which is a ring 
fenced account that allocates funding to each school using the Formula Funding 
Mechanism. The Formula Funding Mechanism is primarily based on a pupil number 
basis for Primary and Secondary schools and on a place basis for Special Schools 
and Specialist Resource Bases (SRB's).  

In this particular instance, the phased reduction of the number of places at the 
Special School will result in a corresponding reduction in the amount of funding 
being provided to this school. The school is currently operating within its delegated 
budget and maintains a surplus balance despite falling number of places. However 
this may not continue to be the case should pupil numbers continue to fall. Using the 
revised number of places a financial profile of the school for the forthcoming medium 
term is required in order to establish whether or not the school will be in deficit at any 
point. In the event of the financial profile indicating a deficit then there will be a need 
to identify an appropriate source which would bridge the gap. Consideration also 
needs to be given to the governance arrangements of the school when financial 
viability becomes a clear risk. 

The need for some additional places in some SRB’s has been identified and the 
funding for these will be found from the amount released from the reduction in places 
in Meadowbank Special School. There will also need to be consideration of any 
other financial impact on schools as a result of increasing capacity in order to ensure 
that schools are appropriately funded. This proposal is likely to generate savings for 

Page 58



	  

21	  
	  

the delegated schools revenue budget but this cannot be effectively quantified at this 
stage and will need to be considered in detail. 

Once identified, there will be a need consideration of the site currently occupied by 
Meadowbank Special School in terms of potential capital receipt or alternative use. 

21. Human Resources matters 

A Human Resources Framework has been produced in consultation with key 
stakeholders including headteachers, governors, representatives of the diocesan 
authorities and the trade unions. It provides the basis for managing the human 
resources issues associated with School Organisation Planning and its purpose is to 
support governing bodies and staff working in schools, through a variety of strategies 
and with the ultimate aim of minimising compulsory redundancies across schools in 
Cardiff. 

In the period leading up to the closure of a school, as pupil numbers reduce, the 
impact on the school budget and staff resources will need to be managed through 
the School’s Redeployment and Redundancy Policy and Procedure, which has been 
developed in consultation with trade unions and key stakeholders. The Council will 
also support the Headteacher and governing body during this time, as they will need 
to ensure that staff continue to be supported and motivated during what may be a 
potentially difficult situation and the Headteacher is able to manage recruitment and 
retention of employees.  

A key aspiration for the Council is to achieve staff reductions as far as possible 
through redeployment rather than voluntary redundancy or compulsory redundancy 
means. Therefore the Council is committed to maximising opportunities for school 
staff to secure employment in other schools in Cardiff and will facilitate a 
redeployment process.  

Full support will be offered to the school staff and governing body of Meadowbank 
Special School by HR People Services throughout the reorganisation. This will 
involve attendance at consultation meetings, meetings with school staff where 
appropriate and the circulation of a Frequently Asked Questions document. 

22. Land matters 

The future use of the Meadowbank Special School site would be considered should 
the proposal be progressed to implementation.  It is expected that the site would be 
retained for educational purposes. 

23. Learner travel arrangements 

Under these proposals there are no plans to change the Council's policy on the 
transport of children to and from schools. Any pupils affected by this proposal would 
be offered the same support with transport as is provided throughout Cardiff and in 
accordance with the same criteria that apply across Cardiff. The Council's transport 
policy can be viewed on the Council's website  

Page 59



	  

22	  
	  

(www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Schools-and-learning/Schools/School-
transport/Pages/default.aspx). 
There is a statutory legal obligation on the Council to provide free home to school 
transport to Primary school pupils who live 2 miles or more from the nearest suitable 
school, as measured by the shortest available walking route. 

When deciding which is the nearest suitable school, the local authority must consider 
any disability a child has and any special educational needs (SEN). 

24. Impact of the proposal on the Welsh language 

It is anticipated that the proposal would have a beneficial impact on Welsh language 
as it would address the need for Welsh medium SEN provision. 

 

25. Equality matters 

An initial Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out. The assessment 
concluded that this proposal would not adversely affect a particular group in society. 
The assessment will be reviewed following consultation.  

26. Sustainability matters 

A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the proposal has been carried out in 
accordance with European Legislation. The assessment confirms that the proposal is 
compatible with the environmental objectives identified in the SEA of Cardiff’s 21st 
Century: A Strategic Framework for a School Building Improvement Programme.  

27. Considering community impact 

There is a need to respond to a trend away from Special Schools for speech and 
language needs and to increase provision for Primary aged pupils presenting with 
challenging behaviours without impacting adversely on the community. The following 
are taken into account when considering a proposal: Public Open Space, parkland, 
noise and traffic congestion. Officers will work with schools and any community 
groups to ensure that should the proposal proceed it would avoid negative impacts 
wherever possible. 

28. What happens next? 

Key dates 

The feedback from this consultation will be collated and summarised, and a report 
presented to the Council’s Cabinet. This consultation report will be available for all 
persons to view on the Council website and copies can be obtained on request by 
using the contact details in this document. 

There are a number of further stages that the Council would have to go through 
before a final decision is made by the Council. 

Page 60



	  

23	  
	  

Consultation period  

The consultation period for these proposals starts on 11th February 2016 and ends 
on 23rd March 2016. 

Within 13 weeks of 23rd March 2016 a consultation report will be published on the 
City of Cardiff Council website. Hard copies of the report will also be available on 
request. The report will summarise the issues raised by consultees during the 
consultation period and provide the Council’s response to these issues. The report 
will also contain Estyn’s view of the proposals. 

The Council’s Cabinet will consider the consultation report and decide whether or not 
to proceed with the proposals. 

If the Cabinet decides to continue with the proposals the City of Cardiff Council must 
publish a statutory notice. 

Statutory Notice 

The statutory notice would be published on the City of Cardiff Council website and 
posted at or near the main entrance to the school/sites subject to the notice. Copies 
of the notice would be made available to schools identified in the notice to distribute 
to pupils, parents, guardians and staff members (the school may also distribute the 
notice by email). The notice sets out the details of the proposals and invites anyone 
who wishes to object to do so in writing within the period specified. 

Determination of proposals 

The City of Cardiff Council Cabinet will determine the proposals. Cabinet may decide 
to approve, reject or approve the proposals with modifications. In doing so, Cabinet 
will take into account any statutory objections that it has received. 

Decision notification 

Following determination of proposals, all interested parties will be informed of the 
decision which will be published electronically on the City of Cardiff Council’s 
website. 

  

Page 61



	  

24	  
	  

CONSULTATION RESPONSE FORM (SEN Provision 2016) 

Consultation on specialist provision for primary aged pupils with Speech and 
Language Difficulties and with Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties. 

Your views matter, please tell us what you think about the proposal by: 

• Completing and returning the accompanying questionnaire to the address given 
at the bottom of the form. 

• Completing the on line response form www.cardiff.gov.uk/21stcenturyschools 
• Or if you prefer you can e-mail your views to: schoolresponses@cardiff.gov.uk 
 

Please note that all comments sent in writing or by e-mail must contain the full 
name and full postal address of the person making the comments. 

The closing date for responses to this consultation is 23 March 2016.  
Unfortunately no responses received after this date can be considered by the 
Council. 

Consultation responses will not be counted as objections to the proposals.  
Objections could only be registered following publication of a statutory notice. 

Any responses received can be requested under the Freedom of Information Act and 
may have to be made public, however any information that would identify an 
individual such as name and address would be removed. 

Your name: 
…………………………………………………………………………………………............ 

Address: 
………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Postcode: 
………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Date: 
………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Your status: Parent       Governor      Pupil      Member of Staff       Other     (please 
specify)  

………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

1. Do you support the proposal to address the fall in demand for speech and 
language special school places by closing Meadowbank Special School? 

Yes    No      

 

	  	  

Page 62



	  

25	  
	  

If you do not support the proposal, please give your reasons together with any 
changes or alternatives that you would like to suggest.  

 

 

 

 

 

2. Do you agree with the proposal to respond to the fall in demand for places at 
Allensbank SRB by redeveloping this as a Specialist Resource Base for children with 
Autism Spectrum Conditions?  

Yes    No      

 
If you do not support the proposal, please give your reasons together with any 
changes or alternatives that you would like to suggest.  

 

 

 

 

3. Do you agree with the proposal to convert Fairwater Specialist Resource Base, 
Glan yr Afon Revolving Door Class and Springwood Nurture Class to Early 
Intervention Classes? 

Yes    No      

 
If you do not support the proposal, please give your reasons together with any 
changes or alternatives that you would like to suggest.  

 

 

 

 

 
	  
	  

	  

Page 63



	  

26	  
	  

4. Do you agree with the proposal to open four additional Early Intervention Classes 
(subject to further consultation with named schools). 

Yes    No      

 
If you do not support the proposal, please give your reasons together with any 
changes or alternatives that you would like to suggest.  

 

 

 

 

Please return this form to the School Organisation Planning Team, Room 219, 
County Hall, CF10 4UW by 19 October 2015. 

 

Thank you for your comments 

Please tick the box below if you wish to be notified of publication of the consultation 
report  

Please return this form to the School Organisation Planning Team, Room 422, 
County Hall, CF10 4UW by 23 March 2016. 

 

 

Page 64



Please return this form to Room 213, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW by 
29 FEBRUARY 2016 

SEN Consulation 11 February to 23 March 2016 1 

 
 
This document is about changes proposed to schools in your area.  You have been sent this 
document for you to find out more about this proposal and for you to give your views.  Please 
tick this box if you require this information in your language and write your name, address and 
telephone number in English or Welsh in the large box at the bottom of the form.  Please return 
this form to the address at the top of the form. 
 
 
FR □ 

 
 
CN □ 

 
 
SM □ 

 
 
PL □ 

 
 
CZ □ 

 
 
AR □ 

 
 
HD □ 

 
   

Page 65



Please return this form to Room 213, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW by 
29 FEBRUARY 2016 

SEN Consulation 11 February to 23 March 2016 2 

 
DR □ 

 
 
GJ □ 

 
 
KD □ 

 
 
PJ □ 

 
 
UD □ 

 
 
BG 
 
□ 

 
 
 
* Name: 

Address: 

 

( Phone: 

 

Page 66



Appendix 2

Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Appendix   3

Cardiff Council 
Statutory Screening Tool Guidance

If you are developing a strategy, policy or activity that is likely to impact people, communities or 
land use in any way then there are a number of statutory requirements that apply. Failure to 
comply with these requirements, or demonstrate due regard, can expose the Council to legal 
challenge or other forms of reproach.

For instance, this will apply to strategies (i.e. Housing Strategy or Disabled Play Strategy), 
policies (i.e. Procurement Policy) or activity (i.e. developing new play area).  

Completing the Statutory Screening Tool will ensure that all Cardiff Council strategies, policies 
and activities comply with relevant statutory obligations and responsibilities.  Where a more 
detailed consideration of an issue is required, the Screening Tool will identify if there is a need 
for a full impact assessment, as relevant.

The main statutory requirements that strategies, policies or activities must reflect include:

 Equality Act 2010 - Equality Impact Assessment
 Welsh Government’s Sustainable Development Bill
 Welsh Government’s Statutory Guidance - Shared Purpose Shared Delivery
 United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child
 United Nations Principles for Older Persons
 Welsh Language Measure 2011
 Health Impact Assessment
 Habitats Regulations Assessment
 Strategic Environmental Assessment

This Statutory Screening Tool allows us to meet all the requirements of all these pieces of 
legislation as part of an integrated screening method that usually taken no longer than an hour.

The Screening Tool can be completed as a self assessment or as part of a facilitated session, 
should further support be needed. For further information or if you require a facilitated session 
please contact the Policy, Partnerships and Citizen Focus Team on 2078 8563 e-mail: 
siadavies@cardiff.gov.uk. Please note:

- The completed Screening Tool must be submitted as an appendix with the Cabinet report.
- The completed screening tool will be published on the intranet.

Page 139

http://cmsweb.cardiff.gov.uk/cardiff/content.asp?nav=3026,3050&parent_directory_id=3094
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/sustainabledevelopment/sdbill/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/improvingservices/publicationsevents/publications/sharedpurpdel/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/childrenyoungpeople/rights/uncrc/?lang=en
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/about/UN-principles.aspx
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,3259,5018&parent_directory_id=2865&id=2477&d1p1=1
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1843/introduction/made
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/sea/?lang=en
mailto:siadavies@cardiff.gov.uk


2

Statutory Screening Tool

Name of Strategy / Policy / Activity: 

School Organisation Proposals: Specialist Provision for Primary Aged 
Pupils with Speech and Language Difficulties and with Behavioural 
Emotional and Social Difficulties. 

Date of Screening: 

June 2016

Service Area/Section: Education Lead Officer: Nick Batchelar
Attendees:  
Self-assessment

What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/ 
Service/Function

Please provide background information on the           
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done etc.]

The Cabinet is recommended to authorise the Director of Education and 
Lifelong Learning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Education, to; 

1. Carry out a further review of speech and language support in 
Cardiff with the aim of bringing forward revised proposals;

2. Undertake further engagement with schools and other 
stakeholders in relation to early intervention for children with 
behavioural emotional and social needs;

3. Work with the governing bodies of Meadowbank and Allensbank 
Schools to ensure the needs of children with speech and language needs 
placed at the schools can continue to be met effectively, pending a 
revised proposal.

Background 
At its meeting on 03 December 2015 the Cabinet authorised officers to undertake a 
public consultation on proposals to:

• Close Meadowbank Special School at the end of the academic year 2017.  

• Continue to maintain a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) at Allensbank School 
but cease admission of pupils with speech and language difficulties, unless 
transferring from Meadowbank Special School.  Redesignate this as an SRB for pupils 
with autism spectrum conditions (ASC), with first admission of ASC children in 
September 2018. 

• Continue to maintain a Specialist Resource Base at Fairwater School but cease 
admission of pupils with statements for behaviour emotional and social difficulties.  
Redesignate this as an Early Intervention Class (EIC) from September 2018.

• Maintain the specialist classes at Glan Yr Afon (Revolving Door) and 
Springwood (Nurture Class), but rebadge these as Early Intervention Classes, adopting 

P
age 140



3

the proposed admission criteria and operational procedures outlined above from 
September 2018. 

The initial proposal set out a significant reshaping of specialist provision to respond to 
the changing pattern of special educational needs and the increased capacity of 
mainstream schools to support special educational needs.  

The proposed reshaping would maintain the current level of investment in specialist 
provision and support for special educational needs, while ensuring a better fit to the 
current pattern of need. 

There has been an ongoing gradual decline in the number of parents who request a 
specialist speech and language placement for their child, which has resulted in a 
steady fall in the number of funded places over many years, from 70 places prior to 
2006; to 58 places in 2010, and to 34 places in November 2015.   

The Council has responded to this shift in expectation by investing in mainstream 
support over several years.  Work to build capacity for speech and language support 
began in 2010 and remains ongoing.  The Council believes the fall in demand/ need for 
specialist places is a direct result both of parental expectations for mainstream 
inclusion and the capacity building work that has been done to meet needs more 
effectively in mainstream.

Alongside the changes affecting speech and language provision, there has been an 
increased demand for specialist provision for children with special educational needs 
such as autism spectrum conditions  and behavioural emotional and social needs.  

ESTYN recognised the rationale for responding to these pressures by re-shaping 
provision by closing Meadowbank School, redesignating the SRB at Allensbank for ASC 
and developing a network of Early Intervention Classes.   

The consultation response
In relation to support for speech and language needs, many respondents 
acknowledged the effectiveness of the work that has been undertaken in recent years 
to build capacity and skills in mainstream schools.  This work has included a 
comprehensive training programme; universal early screening for speech and 

P
age 141



4

language needs; and a collaborative working relationship between Cardiff and the 
Vale UHB Speech and Language Therapy Service and the Specialist Teacher Service.  

There is also a general acknowledgment among respondents, of the need for some 
change in the pattern of provision to support speech and language needs.  

However, there is a strong consensus among stakeholders regarding the importance 
of continuing to maintain an effective range of specialist support for children with 
speech language and communication needs, and concerns that the proposal does not 
yet fully address this issue. 

In particular, strong views have been expressed regarding the need to retain some 
designated specialist provision for children with the most severe speech and language 
needs.   

Some respondents express the view that special school places should continue to 
form part of the range of specialist provision.  Other respondents put more emphasis 
on the need for early intervention in the form of resource bases.  

Given the strong views expressed by stakeholders it is deemed advisable for 
additional work to be undertaken to engage with stakeholders more fully prior to 
bringing forward a revised proposal for consideration.  

In developing a revised proposal, the relative benefits and costs of SRB and special 
school provision will need to be borne in mind.  In Council’s view, SRBs are a more 
efficient and effective means of delivering short-term or part-time support.  The cost 
of an SRB place is between one third and one half the cost of a special school place, 
while the mainstream location of SRBs offers additional benefits for children of 
ongoing contact with mainstream peers and learning experiences. 

In relation to support for behavioural emotional and social needs, many respondents 
acknowledged the growing demand for specialist provision for children presenting 
with behavioural emotional and social needs, and recognised that there are 
insufficient specialist places available to meet this need at present.

The Council agrees with this analysis and this factor was key reason for the proposal 

P
age 142



5

outlined. 

However, there is not yet consensus or sufficient clarity about the criteria and 
purpose of Early Intervention Classes. Further work is therefore needed to clarify and 
develop this aspect of the proposal prior to bringing forward a revised proposal for 
consideration. 

The initial proposal to develop a network of Early Intervention Classes was based on a 
reinvestment of the resources and skills that would be released by closure of 
Meadowbank School.  In the absence of significant new investment, it would not be 
possible to proceed with these classes while also retaining Meadowbank School.

Reason for recommendation 
The consultation has identified a number of views that are significant concerns for 
stakeholders.  It is deemed advisable for additional work to be undertaken to engage 
with stakeholders more fully prior to bringing forward a revised proposal for 
consideration.

Part 1: Impact on outcomes and due regard to Sustainable Development
Please use the following scale when considering what contribution the activity makes:

+ Positive

- Negative

ntrl Neutral
Uncertain Not Sure

Positive contribution to the outcome

Negative contribution to the outcome
Neutral contribution to the outcome
Uncertain if any contribution is made to the outcome

Please TickHas the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? + - Ntrl Un-

Crtn

Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation

1.1 People in Cardiff are healthy; 
Consider the potential impact on
 the promotion of good health, prevention of damaging 

behaviour, promote healthy eating/active lifestyles etc,
 vulnerable citizens and areas of multiple deprivation
 Addressing instances of inequality in health

 - The delay in a decision regarding the future of provision for speech 
and language needs will cause a delay in the goal of providing 
additional specialist places for children experiencing behaviour 
emotional and social difficulties.  

- The number of primary aged pupils who require a specialist 
placement due to their behaviour emotional social needs is 

P
age 143



6

Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn

increasing.  There are insufficient specialist places  to meet this 
need.

- There is a high risk that in September 2016 there will be 12 or more 
pupils unable to access the specialist provision they need, and their 
needs will be insufficiently met. 

People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable 
environment;
Consider the potential impact on
 the causes and consequences of Climate Change and 

creating a carbon lite city 

 -  The recommendation to develop revised proposals will have no 
impact on this outcome. 

 encouraging walking, cycling, and use of public transport 
and improving access to countryside and open space

 -  The recommendation to develop revised proposals will have no 
impact on this outcome.

 reducing environmental pollution (land, air, noise and water) N/A

 reducing consumption and encouraging waste reduction, 
reuse, recycling and recovery 

N/A

1.2

 encouraging biodiversity N/A

P
age 144



7

Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn

1.3 People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe; 
Consider the potential impact on
 reducing crime, fear of crime and increasing safety of 

individuals 
 addressing anti-social behaviour
 protecting vulnerable adults and children  in Cardiff from 

harm or abuse

 - high quality support for speech and language pupils in mainstream 
schools, and in specialist settings will continue pending revised 
proposals. However, there will be a delay in securing additional 
provision for  pupils with behavioural emotional and social 
difficulties with the outcome  that some vulnerable learners and 
their families will be adversely affected. 

1.4 Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy;
Consider the potential impact on
 economic competitiveness (enterprise activity, social 

enterprises, average earnings, improve productivity)
 Assisting those Not in Education, Employment or Training
 attracting and retaining workers (new employment and 

training opportunities, increase the value of employment,)
 promoting local procurement opportunities or enhancing the 

capacity of local companies to compete

N/A.

1.5 People in Cardiff achieve their full potential; 
Consider the potential impact on
 promoting and improving access to life-long learning in 

Cardiff
 raising levels of skills and qualifications
 giving children the best start
 improving the understanding of sustainability
 addressing child poverty (financial poverty, access poverty, 

participation poverty)
 the United Nations Convention on the Rights of a Child  and 

Principles for Older persons

 - high quality support for speech and language pupils in mainstream 
schools, and in specialist settings will continue pending revised 
proposals. However, there will be a delay in securing additional 
provision for  pupils with behavioural emotional and social 
difficulties with the outcome  that some vulnerable learners and 
their families will be adversely affected.

P
age 145



8

Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn

1.6 Cardiff is a Great Place to Live, Work and Play
Consider the potential impact on
 promoting the cultural diversity of Cardiff
 encouraging participation and access for all to physical 

activity, leisure & culture
 play opportunities for Children and Young People
 protecting and enhancing the landscape and historic 

heritage of Cardiff
 promoting the City’s international links

N/A

1.7 Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society.
Consider the potential impact on
 the elimination of discrimination, harassment or 

victimisation for equality groups 
 has the community or stakeholders been engaged in 

developing the strategy/policy/activity?
 how will citizen participation be encouraged (encouraging 

actions that consider different forms of consultation, 
through more in depth engagement to full participation in 
service development and delivery)?

 See Equality Impact Assessment below (and attached). 

- The education community, families and other partners have 
been engaged in consultation on the initial proposal.  The 
recommendation to develop revised proposals is a recognition 
of the concerns that have been expressed and the need to 
reconsider some elements of the proposal.

1.8 The Council delivers positive outcomes for the city and its 
citizens through strong partnerships
Consider the potential impact on
 strengthening partnerships with business and voluntary 

sectors
 the collaboration agenda and the potential for shared 

services, cross-boundary working and efficiency savings



- In the process of developing revised proposals, there will be further 
engagement with stakeholders, including schools, pupils, families, 
NHS health services and voluntary sector partners, with a view to 
further developing collaborative approaches to supporting children 
with special educational needs and their families. 

P
age 146



9

Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project have a differential impact on 
any of the following:

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact (positive 
and negative), and what action(s) can you take to address any negative 
implications?

 Age (including children and young people aged 0-25 and 
older people over 65 in line with the United Nations 
Conventions)

 Age 4 – 11

- There is insufficient provision for pupils with behaviour emotional 
and social needs in this age group.

- Projections of need suggest that an additional SRB for pupils with 
autism spectrum conditions will be needed by September 2017.

- The delay in making  a decision regarding the reshaping of specialist 
provision for primary aged pupils will have an adverse impact on the 
above groups. 

 

 Disability  - high quality support for speech and language pupils in mainstream 
schools, and in specialist settings will continue pending revised 
proposals. However, there will be a delay in securing additional 
provision for  pupils with behavioural emotional and social 
difficulties with the outcome  that some vulnerable learners and 
their families will be adversely affected.

 Gender Reassignment  N/A
 Marriage & Civil Partnership  N/A
 Pregnancy & Maternity  N/A
 Race  The proposal would not have a differential impact upon one 

particular ethnic group as the provision would be available to all.  

 Religion/Belief  N/A
 Sex  All schools would continue to admit pupils of both sexes.

P
age 147



10

Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn

The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising 
from reorganisation would be used in implementing the changes 
in this proposal.  This ensures that good practice is followed, 
including the application of the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 

 Sexual Orientation  N/A
 Welsh Language
 Other languages







The decision to revisit the proposals could delay provision of 
Welsh-medium specific provision for behavioural social and 
emotional difficulties.  

Other Language support

The proposal will not directly impact on the level of support 
provided s all support is dependent on the Minority Ethnic 
Achievement Grant which is reviewed and then renewed 
according to the results of the annual Needs Assessment 
Survey.  The allocation of teachers and Bi-lingual Teacher 
Assistants (BTAs) is usually in place for the period of the 
academic year but is liable to change throughout the year to 
meet fluctuations in demand.

SUMMARY OF APPRAISAL (highlight positive and negative effects of the policy / plan / project being assessed, demonstrating how 
it contributes to the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the city): 

Economic/Educational/Social

The decision not to progress the initial proposal will initially have a potentially adverse effect on the education of a small group of vulnerable 
learners with behavioural social emotional needs, for whom there is currently insufficient  provision.  The initial proposal attempted to address 
this by releasing resources from under-subscribed speech and language provision, and investing in additional specialist places for this group.  

The decision to undertake further work and revise the proposals will ultimately result in proposals that address the concerns of stakeholders.

P
age 148



11

WHAT ACTIONS HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED OR CHANGES BEEN MADE TO THE POLICY / PLAN / PROJECT AS A RESULT OF THIS 
APPRAISAL:

The following assessments to be undertaken:
 Equality Impact Assessment to be updated once revised proposals have been developed  

P
age 149



12

Part 2: Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening
Yes No

2.1 Does the plan or programme set the framework for future 
development consent?

X

2.2 Is the plan or programme likely to have significant, positive or 
negative, environmental effects?

X

Is a Full Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening 
Needed?

 If yes has been ticked to both questions 2.1 and 
2.2 then the answer is yes

 If a full SEA Screening is required then please 
contact the Sustainable Development Unit to 
arrange (details below)

Yes No
X

An SEA has been 
undertaken (see 
attached) and will be 
updated following 
public consultation on 
the school proposals.  

If you have any doubt on your answers to the above questions regarding SEA then please 
consult with the Sustainable Development Unit on 2087 3228 
sustainabledevelopment@cardiff.gov.uk 

Part 3: Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA)

Yes No Unsure

3.1 Will the plan, project or programme results in an activity 
which is known to affect a European site, such as the Severn 
Estuary or the Cardiff Beech Woods?

x

3.2 Will the plan, project or programme which steers 
development towards an area that includes a European site, 
such as the Severn Estuary or the Cardiff Beech Woods or 
may indirectly affect a European site?

x

3.3 Is a full HRA needed? x

Details of the strategy will be sent to the County Ecologist on completion of the process to determine if a Habitat 
Regulation Assessment is needed.  For further information please phone 2087 3215 or email 
biodiversity@cardiff.gov.uk

Page 150

mailto:sustainabledevelopment@cardiff.gov.uk


13

Appendix 1 – Statutory Requirements

It is possible that the Impact Screening Tool will identify the need to undertake specific statutory 
assessments:

 Equality Impact Assessment: This assessment is required by the Equality Act 2010 and Welsh 
Government’s Equality Regulations 2011. 

 Sustainable Development Bill: The Bill, when it comes into effect, will require sustainable 
development (SD) to be a central organising principle for the organisation. This means that there 
is a duty to consider SD in the strategic decision making processes.

 Shared Purpose Shared Delivery- The Welsh Government requires local authorities to produce a 
single integrated plan to meet statutory requirements under a range of legislation. Cardiff 
Council must therefore demonstrate its contribution towards Cardiff’s own integrated plan; 
“What Matters”.

 United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child: The Children Act 2004 guidance for 
Wales requires local authorities and their partners to have regard to the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of a Child. 

 United Nations Principles for Older Persons: The principles require a consideration of 
independence, participation, care, self-fulfillment and dignity.

 The Welsh Language Measure 2011: The measure sets out official status for the Welsh 
language, a Welsh language Commissioner, and the freedom to speak Welsh.

 Health Impact Assessment: (HIA) considers policies, programmes or projects for their potential 
effects on the health of a population

 Strategic Environmental Impact Assessment: A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is an 
European Directive for plans, programmes and policies with land use implications and significant 
environmental effects.

 Habitats Regulations Assessment: The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2007 provides a requirement to undertake Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
of land use plans. 

Page 151

http://cmsweb.cardiff.gov.uk/cardiff/content.asp?nav=3026,3050&parent_directory_id=3094
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/sustainabledevelopment/sdbill/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/improvingservices/publicationsevents/publications/sharedpurpdel/?lang=en
http://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/content.asp?nav=260&parent_directory_id=2
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/childrenyoungpeople/rights/uncrc/?lang=en
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/about/UN-principles.aspx
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,3259,5018&parent_directory_id=2865&id=2477&d1p1=1
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/sea/?lang=en
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1843/introduction/made


14

CARDIFF COUNCIL

Initial Equality Impact Assessment 

Corporate Assessment Template

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: 

School Organisation Proposals: Specialist provision for primary aged pupils with speech and 
language difficulties and with behavioural emotional and social difficulties
New/Existing/Updating/Amending:  

New
Who is responsible for developing and implementing the Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name:  
Jennie Hughes 

Job Title: 
Senior Achievement Leader Inclusion

Service Team: 
Inclusion 

Service Area: 
Education

Assessment Date: December  2014

1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/ 
             Service/Function?            

It is proposed that:

The Cabinet is recommended to authorise the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Education, to; 

1. Carry out a further review of speech and language support in Cardiff with the aim of 
bringing forward revised proposals;

2. Undertake further engagement with schools and other stakeholders in relation to early 
intervention for children with behavioural emotional and social needs;

3. Work with the governing bodies of Meadowbank and Allensbank Schools to ensure the 
needs of children with speech and language needs placed at the schools can continue to be 
met effectively, pending a revised proposal.

2. Please provide background information on the Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function 
and any research done [e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done etc.]

There has been a trend away from special schools places for speech and language needs as part of a 
national trend towards inclusion.  Cardiff is the only local authority in England and Wales still 
maintaining a special school specialising solely in speech and language needs.

While special school continues to be an important option for some children with complex, long term 
learning difficulties, there has been a general trend for children with moderate learning delays, speech 
and language difficulties and physical disabilities to attend a local school.

Meadowbank School is a small special school located in Gabalfa adjacent to Gabalfa Primary School 
and Ysgol Glan Ceubal, for children aged 4-11 with significant speech and language difficulties.  

Historically the Vale of Glamorgan Council funded 10 places at the school and at that time the school 
operated at 40 places.  In 2010, the Vale of Glamorgan gave notice of their intention to withdraw from 
this arrangement, making no new placements.  In July 2015 the last Vale child left the school. 

Page 152



15

Cardiff also maintains a specialist resource base (SRB) at Allensbank Primary School, for 20 pupils with 
speech and language difficulties.  

Although the number of children and young people with speech and language difficulties has not fallen, 
demand for places at both Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB has fallen in recent years, with an 
increasing number of parents expressing a preference for mainstream education, with support 
provided in the local catchment school. 

At the present time, November 2015, there are 23 pupils on roll at Meadowbank. 

Demand for places at Allensbank has also fallen from 18 in 2010-11, to 11 pupils in November 2015. 

The prospects for pupils with speech and language difficulties to be reintegrated to mainstream school 
are good; the majority of pupils attending Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB transfer to a local high 
school at Year 7, and many pupils make sufficient progress to transfer at an earlier age.

A report on specialist provision for pupils with SEN/ ALN was completed in 2013.  This identified a 
number of priorities for future development of special school and SRB provision.  

In March 2014 a focus group of Headteachers, health, children services and parent partnership 
representatives was consulted on the priorities for future development of BESD provision in Cardiff 
(Appendix 3).  There was consensus on the need for:

 More capacity for early intervention such as Nurture Classes and Revolving door classes;
 Greater emphasis on the underlying needs experienced by this group including: mental health 

and medical needs; speech and language difficulties; literacy and numeracy delays. 

Demand for special school or SRB places for primary aged children presenting with challenging 
behaviours has increased over the last two years.  In 2014-15 there was a 30% increase in the number 
of new statements for this area of need..

The initial proposal set out a significant reshaping of specialist provision to respond to the changing 
pattern of special educational needs described above. The proposed reshaping would maintain the 
current level of investment in specialist provision and support for special educational needs, while 
ensuring a better fit to the current pattern of need. 

There is also a general acknowledgment among respondents, of the need for some change in the 
pattern of provision to support speech and language needs.  

However, there is a strong consensus among stakeholders regarding the importance of continuing to 
maintain an effective range of specialist support for children with speech language and communication 
needs, and concerns that the proposal does not yet fully address this issue. In particular, strong views 
have been expressed regarding the need to retain some designated specialist provision for children 
with the most severe speech and language needs.   

Given the strong views expressed by stakeholders it is deemed advisable for additional work to be 
undertaken to engage with stakeholders more fully prior to bringing forward a revised proposal for 
consideration.  
 
In relation to support for behavioural emotional and social needs, many respondents acknowledged 
the growing demand for specialist provision for children presenting with behavioural emotional and 
social needs, and recognised that there are insufficient specialist places available to meet this need at 
present.  The Council agrees with this analysis and this factor was key reason for the proposal outlined. 

Page 153



16

However, there is not yet consensus or sufficient clarity about the criteria and purpose of Early 
Intervention Classes. Further work is therefore needed to clarify and develop this aspect of the 
proposal prior to bringing forward a revised proposal for consideration. 

The consultation has identified a number of views that are significant concerns for stakeholders.  It is 
deemed advisable for additional work to be undertaken to engage with stakeholders more fully prior to 
bringing forward a revised proposal for consideration.

  

3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1 Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative/] on 
younger/older people? 

                                                                                                       Yes No N/A
3-11 years +ve /-ve
12 - 65 years x
Over 65 years x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 
High quality support for speech and language pupils in mainstream schools, and in specialist settings 
will continue pending revised proposals. 
However, there will be a delay in securing additional provision for pupils with behavioural emotional 
and social difficulties with the risk that some vulnerable learners and their families will be adversely 
affected.  It is anticipated that some pupils who require specialist placement will be unable to access 
this support and will remain in their local mainstream school with funded support.  This will increase 
the risk of exclusion, school placement breakdown and adverse impact on other pupils. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
The Education and Lifelong Learning Directorate, via the behaviour support team, education 
psychology service and inclusion managers, will work closely with schools to ensure continued support 
for vulnerable pupils.

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 

3.2 Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on 
disabled people? 

Yes No N/A
Hearing Impairment X
Physical Impairment X
Visual Impairment X
Learning Disability x
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition X
Mental Health -ve
Substance Misuse X
Other X
 

Page 154



17

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 
The rise in the number of children displaying challenging behaviour correlates with the increase in mental health 
issues in very young children, which has been identified as national phenomenon.
The delay in securing additional specialist provision for this vulnerable group, increases risks for children 
experiencing mental health difficulties. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 
The Education and Lifelong Learning Directorate, via the behaviour support team, education 
psychology service and inclusion managers, will work closely with schools to ensure continued support 
for vulnerable pupils.

3.3 Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on 
transgender people? 

Yes No N/A
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have undergone a 
process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex by changing physiological or 
other attributes of sex)

X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 

N/A

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on 
marriage and civil partnership?

Yes No N/A
Marriage X
Civil Partnership X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 
N/A

3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on 
pregnancy and maternity? 

Yes No N/A

Pregnancy X
Maternity X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

Page 155



18

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 
N/A

3.6 Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on 
the following groups? 

Yes No N/A
White X
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups X
Asian / Asian British X
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British X
Other Ethnic Groups X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 

N/A

3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on 
people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs? 

Yes No N/A
Buddhist X
Christian X
Hindu X
Humanist X
Jewish X
Muslim X
Sikh X
Other X
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 

N/A

3.8 Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on 
men and/or women? 

Yes No N/A
Men X
Women X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

Page 156



19

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 

 

3.9 Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on the 
following groups? 

Yes No N/A
Bisexual X
Gay Men X
Gay Women/Lesbians X
Heterosexual/Straight X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 

 

3.10  Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on 
Language? 

Yes No N/A
Welsh Language -ve

Other languages x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any. 
The initial proposal made provision for a welsh medium specialist class for children experiencing behaviour 
emotional and social needs.  Development of this specialist class may be delayed due to undertake further work 
and develop revised proposals. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
The Education and Lifelong Learning Directorate, via the behaviour support team, education 
psychology service and inclusion managers, will work closely with schools to ensure continued support 
for vulnerable pupils.

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment: 

The proposal will not directly impact on the level of support provided as all support is dependent on 
the Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant which is reviewed and then renewed according to the results of 
the annual Needs Assessment Survey.  The allocation of teachers and Bi-lingual Teacher Assistants 
(BTAs) is usually in place for the period of the academic year but is liable to change throughout the year 
to meet fluctuations in demand

4. Consultation and Engagement

What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities Groups?

Page 157



20

- Revision of the proposals will include engagement with al stakeholders, including schools, 
pupils and their families, health, social care and voluntary sector organisations. 

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups Actions
Age The Education and Lifelong Learning Directorate, via the behaviour support team, 

education psychology service and inclusion managers, will work closely with schools 
to ensure continued support for vulnerable pupils.

Disability The Education and Lifelong Learning Directorate, via the behaviour support 
team, education psychology service and inclusion managers, will work closely 
with schools to ensure continued support for vulnerable pupils.

Gender 
Reassignment

None identified

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership

None identified 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity

None identified 

Race None identified 
Religion/Belief None identified 
Sex None identified 
Sexual 
Orientation

None identified  

Language The Education and Lifelong Learning Directorate, via the behaviour support team, 
education psychology service and inclusion managers, will work closely with schools 
to ensure continued support for vulnerable pupils.

Generic Over-
Arching 

None identified .

6. Further Action

Once revised proposals have been developed, a new EIA and SA/SEA appraisal will be 
undertaken. 

7.       Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each Service Area.

Completed By: Date:
Designation: 
Approved By: 
Designation:
Service Area: Education

Page 158



21

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
of the proposal relating to  Specialist Provision for Primary Aged Pupils with Speech and 
Language Difficulties and with Behavioural Emotional and Social Difficulties.

Background

In 2008, a retrospective Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of Cardiff’s 21st Century: A 
Strategic Framework for a School Building Improvement Programme (published in 2006) was 
carried out based on the guidance that supports the European SEA Directive 2001/42/EC.  

The retrospective approach to assessment was quality assured by an external consultant and 
their independent compliance review determined that the report detailing the assessment on the 
strategic framework met the key requirements set out for reporting the SEA process as required 
by the SEA Directive.

The assessment provides the basis for assessing current and future school organisation 
proposals at a strategic level.  

To request a copy of the assessment on the Strategic Framework please contact Clive 
Bailey, 029 2087 3166, CBailey@cardiff.gov.uk . 

Proposal 
At its meeting on 03 December 2015 the Cabinet authorised officers to undertake a public 
consultation on proposals to:

• Close Meadowbank Special School at the end of the academic year 2017.  

• Continue to maintain a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) at Allensbank School but cease 
admission of pupils with speech and language difficulties, unless transferring from 
Meadowbank Special School.  Redesignate this as an SRB for pupils with autism spectrum 
conditions (ASC), with first admission of ASC children in September 2018. 

• Continue to maintain a Specialist Resource Base at Fairwater School but cease admission 
of pupils with statements for behaviour emotional and social difficulties.  Redesignate this as an 
Early Intervention Class (EIC) from September 2018.

• Maintain the specialist classes at Glan Yr Afon (Revolving Door) and Springwood 
(Nurture Class), but rebadge these as Early Intervention Classes, adopting the proposed 
admission criteria and operational procedures outlined above from September 2018. 

Background 
The initial proposal set out a significant reshaping of specialist provision to respond to the 
changing pattern of special educational needs and the increased capacity of mainstream 
schools to support special educational needs.  

The proposed reshaping would maintain the current level of investment in specialist provision 
and support for special educational needs, while ensuring a better fit to the current pattern of 
need. 

There has been an ongoing gradual decline in the number of parents who request a specialist 
speech and language placement for their child, which has resulted in a steady fall in the number 
of funded places over many years, from 70 places prior to 2006; to 58 places in 2010, and to 34 
places in November 2015.   

Page 159

mailto:CBailey@cardiff.gov.uk


22

The Council has responded to this shift in expectation by investing in mainstream support over 
several years.  Work to build capacity for speech and language support began in 2010 and 
remains ongoing.  The Council believes the fall in demand/ need for specialist places is a direct 
result both of parental expectations for mainstream inclusion and the capacity building work 
that has been done to meet needs more effectively in mainstream.

Alongside the changes affecting speech and language provision, there has been an increased 
demand for specialist provision for children with special educational needs such as autism 
spectrum conditions  and behavioural emotional and social needs.  

ESTYN recognised the rationale for responding to these pressures by re-shaping provision by 
closing Meadowbank School, redesignating the SRB at Allensbank for ASC and developing a 
network of Early Intervention Classes.   

The consultation response
In relation to support for speech and language needs, many respondents acknowledged the 
effectiveness of the work that has been undertaken in recent years to build capacity and skills 
in mainstream schools.  This work has included a comprehensive training programme; universal 
early screening for speech and language needs; and a collaborative working relationship 
between Cardiff and the Vale UHB Speech and Language Therapy Service and the Specialist 
Teacher Service.  

There is also a general acknowledgment among respondents, of the need for some change in 
the pattern of provision to support speech and language needs.  

However, there is a strong consensus among stakeholders regarding the importance of 
continuing to maintain an effective range of specialist support for children with speech 
language and communication needs, and concerns that the proposal does not yet fully address 
this issue. 

In particular, strong views have been expressed regarding the need to retain some designated 
specialist provision for children with the most severe speech and language needs.   

Some respondents express the view that special school places should continue to form part of 
the range of specialist provision.  Other respondents put more emphasis on the need for early 
intervention in the form of resource bases.  

Given the strong views expressed by stakeholders it is deemed advisable for additional work to 
be undertaken to engage with stakeholders more fully prior to bringing forward a revised 
proposal for consideration.  

In developing a revised proposal, the relative benefits and costs of SRB and special school 
provision will need to be borne in mind.  In Council’s view, SRBs are a more efficient and 
effective means of delivering short-term or part-time support.  The cost of an SRB place is 
between one third and one half the cost of a special school place, while the mainstream 
location of SRBs offers additional benefits for children of ongoing contact with mainstream 
peers and learning experiences. 

In relation to support for behavioural emotional and social needs, many respondents 
acknowledged the growing demand for specialist provision for children presenting with 

Page 160



23

behavioural emotional and social needs, and recognised that there are insufficient specialist 
places available to meet this need at present.

The Council agrees with this analysis and this factor was key reason for the proposal outlined. 

However, there is not yet consensus or sufficient clarity about the criteria and purpose of Early 
Intervention Classes. Further work is therefore needed to clarify and develop this aspect of the 
proposal prior to bringing forward a revised proposal for consideration. 

The initial proposal to develop a network of Early Intervention Classes was based on a 
reinvestment of the resources and skills that would be released by closure of Meadowbank 
School.  In the absence of significant new investment, it would not be possible to proceed with 
these classes while also retaining Meadowbank School.

Reason for recommendation 
The consultation has identified a number of views that are significant concerns for 
stakeholders.  It is deemed advisable for additional work to be undertaken to engage with 
stakeholders more fully prior to bringing forward a revised proposal for consideration.

The Cabinet is recommended to authorise the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Education, to; 

1. Carry out a further review of speech and language support in Cardiff with the aim of 
bringing forward revised proposals;

2. Undertake further engagement with schools and other stakeholders in relation to early 
intervention for children with behavioural emotional and social needs;

3. Work with the governing bodies of Meadowbank and Allensbank Schools to ensure the 
needs of children with speech and language needs placed at the schools can continue to be met 
effectively, pending a revised proposal.

Page 161



24

Key:

xx = very incompatible; very negative effect
x = incompatible; negative effect
✔ = compatible; positive effect
✔✔ = very compatible; very positive effect

0 = no links; neutral effect
? = uncertain effects

DNA = data not available

* Comparison of the preferred option to do nothing or possible alternative options is required in a SA/SEA.

Proposed Closure of 
Meadowbank

Do NothingSEA objective

Rating Commentary/ 
explanation of 
compatibility 
with SEA 
objective

Rating

1. Promote a greener 
economy by delivering a 
sustainable pattern of 
speech language and 
communication (SLCN) 
behaviour emotional and 
social needs (BESN) 
provision across Cardiff

✔ Achieved as this 
proposal would 
provide a better 
match of supply 
to demand.  

X

Commentary/ explanation 
of compatibility with SEA 
objective

Do nothing is not an option 
as the change in the pattern 
of special educational needs 
and demand has to be 
addressed.  However, in view 
of the concerns of 
stakeholders expressed 
during consultation, it is 
deemed advisable to 
undertake further work with a 
view to developing revised 
proposals. 

2. Reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions through:

a) Energy efficient 
building design and 
disposing of poor quality 
surplus accommodation

b) Promoting sustainable 
modes of transport and 
integrated transport 
systems

  N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

3. Promote health and 
wellbeing by protecting 
and enhancing public 
open space and 
improving access to 
POS

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Page 162



25

4. Minimise air, light and 
noise pollution 
associated with building 
development and traffic 
congestion

N/A N/A N/A N/A

5. Protect and enhance 
biodiversity, flora and 
fauna

N/A N/A N/A

6. Protect and enhance 
the landscape
(habitats/visual 
amenities)

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A N/A

7. Conserve water 
resources and increase 
water efficiency in new 
developments and 
promote sustainable 
urban drainage systems

N/A .N/A N/A N/A

8. Promote regeneration 
by delivering inclusive 
schools that will improve 
equality of opportunity 
and access for all

N/A N/A N/A N/A

9. Protect and enhance 
designated historic 
assets

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Page 163



26

Conclusion

The proposal has been assessed to be largely compatible with the environmental 
objectives used to assess the goal and principles of the‘’21st Century Schools: A 
Strategic Framework for A School Building Improvement Programme” that underpin 
school organisation proposals.  

Page 164



CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE   

11 JULY 2016

COMMITTEE’S WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17

Purpose of Report

1. The purpose of this report is to invite Members to consider the approach they 

would like to take to setting the Committee’s work programme for the municipal 

year 2016/17. 

Background

2. The Council’s Constitution states that each Scrutiny Committee will set its own 

work programme for the forthcoming year (Scrutiny Procedure Rule 7). With the 

establishment of a new administration the Committee is now tasked with 

constructing a work programme for the year ahead that ensures the time available 

to the Committee is used most effectively, by considering items in a timely fashion 

that maximise the impact of scrutiny. 

3. This Committee’s terms of reference give the Committee responsibility for 

scrutinising, measuring and actively promoting improvement in the Council’s 

performance in the provision of services and compliance with Council policies, 

aims and objectives in the area of Education and Children’s Services:

 To scrutinise, measure and actively promote improvement in the Council’s 

performance in the provision of services and compliance with Council 

policies, aims and objectives in the area of children and young people, 

including: 

Page 165

Agenda Item 4



School Improvement

Schools Organisation

School Support Services

Education Welfare & Inclusion

Early Years Development

Special Educational needs

Governor Services

Children’s Social Services

Children & Young People’s 

Partnership

Youth Services and Justice

Play Services

 To assess the impact of partnerships with and resources and services 

provided by external organisations including Welsh Government, Welsh 

Government Sponsored Public Bodies and quasi-departmental non-

governmental bodies on the effectiveness of Council service delivery. 

 To report to an appropriate Cabinet or Council meeting on its findings and to 

make recommendations on measures, this may enhance Council 

performance and service delivery in this area.

4. The calendar of meetings for the year was agreed at Council om 30 June 2016, 

and are as follows:

 4.30pm, Tuesday 27 September 2016 in Committee Room 4 at County Hall

 2.30pm, Tuesday 18 October 2016 in Committee Room 4 at County Hall.

 2.30pm, Tuesday 8 November 2016 in Committee Room 4 at County Hall

 4.30pm, Tuesday 6 December 2016 in Committee Room 4 at County Hall

 2.30pm, Tuesday 10 January 2017 in Committee Room 4 at County Hall

 9.30am, Monday 13 February 2017 in Committee Room 4 at County Hall

 4.30pm, Tuesday 14 March 2017 in Committee Room 4 at County Hall

5. In addition to the above, the Committee is requested to hold a joint meeting with 

the Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee in order to receive and 

scrutinise the Director of Social Services’ Annual Report 2016/17. The first 

meeting of which was agreed by Council for 1 December 2016, 

Page 166



6. Members may also decide to hold Task & Finish group meetings, where several 

Committee members take on work to investigate and scrutinise a specific area in 

depth, on behalf of the whole committee, either over a period of time or 

throughout one day. The subsequent report is then considered by the whole 

Committee prior to approval. 

Developing a work programme

7. The work programme is normally constructed at the beginning of the municipal 

year but can be updated during the year. Given the range of Directorates and 

subjects covered by each Committee, the work programme needs to be carefully 

constructed to ensure that it meets with the Council’s corporate priorities and that  

the time available to the Committee is most effectively used. 

8. There are many scrutiny approaches open to the Committee when constructing 

its work programme, including: 

a. Policy Review & Development – where the Committee contributes to the 

development of a policy, at an early stage, by scrutinising and making 

recommendations on proposals.

b. Pre decision of draft Cabinet reports - Where the Committee has evaluated 

and commented on proposals before they go to the Cabinet, giving the 

Cabinet the opportunity to know Scrutiny Members’ views prior to making their 

decision.

c. Inquiries and Investigations – where the Committee examines a clearly 

defined topic using a planned approach over a set period of time, resulting in a 

clear set of key findings and recommendations.

d. Performance Review and Monitoring – where the Committee regularly 

analyses Corporate Performance reports as well as key performance data 

from the service areas within its’ remit in order to: highlight good performance; 

Page 167



identify poor performance; examine trends over time; benchmark against over 

authorities; and examine the impact that initiatives and changes in resources 

have on performance and service delivery.

e. Monitoring Reports - Where the Committee undertakes monitoring of the 

Council’s Partnership’s and Regional Consortium’s performance and progress 

in implementing actions previously agreed.

f. Call Ins – the Council’s constitution allows for any Member to call-in a Cabinet 

decision prior to implementation. The Call-In period is set at seven working 

days after the publication of the decision on the Council’s intranet site.  For a 

decision to be valid for Call-In it has to comply with criteria and parameters set 

out in the constitution.

9. These activities enable Scrutiny Committees to have a clear input into the 

development and implementation of the Council’s corporate priorities, as well as 

the main policies and strategies that form the Council’s policy framework. The 

Committees can also comment on operational and service delivery issues, identify 

potential improvements and savings, highlight good practice and reflect the voice 

and concerns of the public. Members can hear from relevant Cabinet Members 

and officers as well as external witnesses such as statutory partners, third sector 

organisations, service user representatives, advocacy groups and other 

stakeholders.

10.Scrutiny Services have developed various tools to assist Committees with 

developing specific inquiries and investigations for their work programme.  The 

first stage is to identify potential work programme items for consideration, by 

seeking suggestions from Members and stakeholders, relevant auditors, 

inspectors and regulators, partnerships, consortiums and regional groups.

11.Following the identification of items and issues, Committee Members will need to 

prioritise the list to form a balanced work programme for the year. Mechanisms 

that have consistently been used by this Scrutiny Committees in Cardiff include:

Page 168



a. A mechanism to consistently prioritise topics suggested for scrutiny (known as 

PICK): 

 Public Interest

 Impact

 Council Performance and 

 Keeping in context.

b. Scoping reports:  these are designed following discussions with the relevant 

directorate, stakeholders and to other interested parties to clearly state the 

terms of reference for each agreed scrutiny inquiry, proposed timescales, 

involvement of other agencies, major constraints and resource and research 

issues, and the critical success factors that can be used to judge the success 

of the scrutiny exercise. 

Work Programme Development

12.The construction of a work programme involves obtaining information from a 

range of sources, these include:

 Issues Arising from the 2015/16 Annual Report/Issues carried forward 

from Previous Inquiries;

 Suggestions and ideas put forward by the Children & Young People 

Scrutiny Committee;

 Information from relevant Directorates;

 Relevant extracts from the current Corporate Plan 2016-18; and

 Performance Information/Issues Arising from Correspondence Reports.

13.The topics gathered from the sources identified above are summarised in a 

document titled ‘Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

– Potential Items 2016/17’.  This has been attached to this report as Appendix A.  

14.During this session Members will have an opportunity to review the ‘Children and 

Young people Scrutiny Committee Work Programme – Potential Items 2016/17’ 

Page 169



and ask any questions that they may have on the potential items.  Once this 

discussion is complete each Member will be given a priority scoring matrix so that 

they can record their scrutiny priorities for 2016/17, copy attached at Appendix B.  

Following the meeting the collective scores will be calculated and used to identify 

Member priorities for scrutiny during 2016/17.

Way Forward

15.The Member priorities will then be placed into a draft 2016/17 work programme 

document and brought back to the September Scrutiny Committee meeting for 

formal approval. 

Legal Implications

16.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this 

report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications. 

However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters under review are 

implemented with or without any modifications. Any report with recommendations 

for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising 

from those recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council 

must (a) be within the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural 

requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person 

exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with 

the procedural requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure 

Rules; (e) be fully and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken 

having regard to the Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be 

reasonable and proper in all the circumstances.

Page 170



Financial Implications

17.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this 

report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial implications 

at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. However, financial 

implications may arise if and when the matters under review are implemented 

with or without any modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision 

that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any financial implications arising from 

those recommendations.

RECOMMENDATION

The Committee is recommended to:

 Discuss and agree the issues to be considered for the Committee’s work 

programme for 2016/17, so that a final version of the programme can be 

brought back to Committee in September for formal approval.

DAVID MARR
Interim Monitoring Officer 

5 July 2016

Page 171



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix A

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME – 
POTENTIAL ITEMS 2016/17

This paper sets out the items that have been identified as potential items for the 

Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee during 2016/17. At this meeting 

Members will need to prioritise which items to include on the 2016/17 work 

programme.

This document contains suggestions arising from the following sources:

 Standing Items on the Committee’s Agenda;

 Issues Arising from the 2015/16 Annual Report/Issues carried forward from 

Previous Inquiries;

 Suggestions and ideas put forward by the Children & Young People 

Scrutiny Committee;

 Information from relevant Service Areas;

 Relevant extracts from the current Corporate Plan 2016-18; and

 Performance Information/Issues Arising from Correspondence Reports

Standing Items on the Committee’s Agenda:

 Budget 2017/18

 Quarterly performance reports

 C&YPSC Annual Report 2016/17

 Correspondence Reports

 Schools Annual Report – Performance report

Page 173



Issues Arising from the 2015/16 Annual Report/Issues carried forward from 
Previous Inquiries:

 National & Regional Adoption Service

 Schools causing concern – Phase 2

 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) – response from Cabinet and further review 

 Social Services & Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 – series of briefing papers on 

each work stream

Information from Relevant Service Areas:

Education

 Education 2020 – Aiming for Excellence – Progress/Update Report
 Looked After Children – Finalised Results (available October 2016)
 Consortium Delivery Plan
 Youth Service – Progress/Update Report
 Draft Admission Policy 2018-2019
 21st Century Schools Programme – Update Report 

Children’s Services:

 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) – End of Financial Year Progress 

Report

 Early Help & Prevention Strategy – End of Financial Year Progress Report

Suggestions and ideas put forward by the Children & Young People Scrutiny 
Committee:

Education related

 Education - NEETS – how other cities in England tackle this, ESTYN consistently 

say Cardiff’s figures are too high and at the last committee meeting it was 

admitted that resources are not enough. Can we do things differently?

Page 174



 Young people not in education employment or training (NEET), prevention and 

what actually works (Global), an appraisal (again some research) consulting with 

various agencies, voluntary groups and organisations.

 Sufficiency of (future) school placements primary and secondary for young 

people across Cardiff.

 Sufficiency of (future) school placements for those young people identified with 

severe hearing and language difficulties, across Cardiff.

 Educational prospects of white working class boys in Cardiff schools.

 Task and Finish topic: Educational provision of excluded pupils

 School catchment areas and admissions policies

 School federation

 Education provision for asylum seeking refugee children, schools well being 

programmes in Primary and secondary education 

Children’s Services Related

 Children’s Services - Listening event – not completed last year

 Welsh Government funding for young people’s mental health services and 

preventative support. How are Cardiff Council’s children’s services working in 

partnership with the voluntary and health sectors to utilize this extra funding?

 Families  first programme that is newly overseen by children's services and the 

impact to children young people and families - in particular what are the next step 

for third sector as it is in its final year, and how does this fit with children services 

outcomes going forward

Other

 A short scrutiny into the numbers of girls in Cardiff affected by Female Genital 

Mutilation ( FGM ). To include how to identify and prevent the practice and 

education of ethnic minorities in prevention of the crime of FGM.

Page 175



Extracts From The Corporate Plan 2016-2018:

Priority 1: Better education and skills for all

Improvement Objective 1.1: Every Cardiff school is a good school

In order to achieve the above the Council will: 

 Deliver the Schools Organisation Programme including the completion of Band A 

investment projects by 31 March 2019

 Contribute to the development of a regional ‘Central South Wales networked 

learning community’, run by schools for schools by September 2017, focused on 

improvements in the quality of leadership, teaching and learning

 Implement the requirements of the new curriculum for Wales - ‘Successful 

Futures’ - by September 2021, commencing with the introduction of the Digital 

Competence Framework in all Cardiff schools by September 2016

 Implement the new statutory framework for supporting children and young people 

with additional learning needs, in accordance with the legislative framework, by 

2021

 Turn around the performance of the minority of Secondary Schools that are 

causing concern by July 2018

 Improve and sustain the expertise of Cardiff schools in Mathematics and English, 

increasing capacity in teaching and learning at all levels

 Address the persistent impact of poverty on attainment and the marked variations 

between schools in the attainment of FSM pupils

Improvement Objective 1.2: Looked after children in Cardiff achieve their potential

In order to achieve the above the Council will: 

 Embed key elements of the Corporate Parenting Strategy in collaboration with 

partners by March 2017

Page 176



Priority 2: Supporting vulnerable people

Improvement Objective 2.1: People at risk in Cardiff are safeguarded

In order to achieve the above the Council will: 

 Improve the system for protecting children from significant harm by implementing 

new Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) arrangements for managing 

referrals by June 2016 

 Improve the recruitment and retention of children’s social workers, ensuring the 

Council achieves and maintains a vacancy rate for children’s social workers 

below 18% by March 2017

 Implement key elements of the Cardiff Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy in 

collaboration with partners by March 2017

 Work towards Cardiff becoming a ‘Child Friendly City’ by March 2017

 Complete roll out of the second phase of a specialist training programme 

regarding the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014

 Introduce and deliver within the school curriculum a WJEC accredited 

“Challenging Extremism” module to raise awareness and prevent radicalisation

Improvement Objective 2.3: People in Cardiff are supported to live independently

In order to achieve the above the Council will: 

 Improve the effectiveness of transitional support for disabled and vulnerable 

children approaching adulthood

Priority 3: Creating more jobs and better paid jobs

Improvement Objective 3.3: All young people in Cardiff make a successful transition 

into employment, education or training

Page 177



In order to achieve the above the Council will: 

 Improve multi agency arrangements:

o to ensure the early identification of children and young people at risk of not 

progressing to ongoing education, training or employment after leaving 

school; and

o to ensure that identified children and young people receive early and 

appropriate support

 Strengthen and extend the existing ‘lead worker’ model to directly support the 

transition of young people from school into employment, utilising European Social 

Fund resources to extend capacity for the next 3 years

 Improve information sharing and tracking systems between partners for young 

people pre and post 16 by September 2016

 Implement the Welsh Government Youth Guarantee and Cardiff Commitment to 

ensure appropriate progression routes for all learners by September 2016

 Enhance the range of opportunities for young people to develop employability 

skills and secure employment in Cardiff

Performance Information:

Issues Arising from Quarter 4 Performance Report (considered by C&YPSC – 
17 May 2016) – text in italics is quotes from letters from the Chair to the 
relevant Cabinet Member.

Children’s Services

 Increase in referrals into Children’s Service – “had had a detrimental impact 

on the percentage of referrals with decisions made within one day”. 

 New set of Performance Indicators for 2016/17 – “undertake further briefings 

on the new performance measures in the near future”.

 CSSIW inspection report on Children’s Services – “the Committee requested 

a copy of the relevant action plans that address the recommendations, so that 

Page 178



it can monitor the Directorate’s implementation of the actions, and assess that 

the outcome addresses the concerns identified in the inspection report”.

Education

 To recap, this letter requests several actions, requests for information and 

recommendations, as follows and requires:

 A copy of the action plans which have been developed and include the 

areas that the Estyn letter highlighted.

 Details of the plans to improve the admissions procedure across all 

schools, to be provided with the next quarterly performance report.

 A breakdown, by number, of the different reasons for pupils to be not in 

education, training or employment;

 A detailed briefing and actions focussing on the “wider capped points 

score” and Level 2 threshold.

Correspondence Report – Future Actions 2015/16

Correspondence report – 15 March 2016

 Child Health and Disability progress report - resolved “to continue to monitor”

 New Model for Children’s Play - resolved “awaiting business plans; Further 

report to be presented to Committee”

Correspondence report – 14 June 2016

 Further monitoring reports on the level of social worker vacancies – resolved 

“Continue to monitor”.

 Accommodation of youth offending service and looked after children service – 

resolved “Further briefing to be issued”

Page 179



 Education and Consortium Delivery Plans 2016-2018 – resolved “Receive 

further reports in June / July”

 Quarter 3 performance – resolved “To monitor the provision of information” on 

Cardiff commitment to youth engagement and progression; and a progress 

report on Biometric school meals

Page 180



Appendix B
Other Issues to be considered by Committee

Members are ask to score each item from 0 -5, with 0 being the lowest priority and 5 
being the highest priority, in the first column, using the following P.I.C.K. criteria:

is the item of Public Interest,   can scrutiny of the item deliver an Impact,    are there issues 
with the Council’s Performance in this area, and,    in terms of Keeping it in context, is it 
timely to scrutinise this item or should it be delayed.

Members can then suggest whether the item could be scrutinised through one of the 
following methodologies: full Committee, off-agenda briefing, Inquiry or investigation, or 
through an on-going panel of members reporting back to Committee.

Potential Agenda Items Priority 
Score 
 0 to 5

Report  
at Cttee

Report  
off 
agenda

T & F or 
Investigation

Ongoing 
Panel

ITEMS IDENTIFIED VIA 2015/16 
ANNUAL REPORT/CARRIED 
FORWARD 

National & Regional Adoption Service
Schools causing concern – Phase 2
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) – 
response from Cabinet and further 
review 
Social Services & Well-being (Wales) 
Act 2014 – series of briefing papers on 
each work stream

ISSUES RAISED BY SERVICE AREAS

Education 2020 – Aiming for 
Excellence – Progress/Update Report
Looked After Children – Finalised 
Results (available October 2016)
Consortium Delivery Plan
Youth Service – Progress/Update 
Report
Draft Admission Policy 2018-2019
21st Century Schools Programme – 
Update Report 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) – End of Financial Year 
Progress Report
Early Help & Prevention Strategy – 
End of Financial Year Progress Report

Page 181



Appendix B
Potential Agenda Items Priority 

Score 
 0 to 5

Report  
at Cttee

Report  
off 
agenda

T & F or 
Investigation

Ongoing 
Panel

MEMBER SUGGESTIONS 

Education - NEETS – how other cities 
in England tackle this, ESTYN 
consistently say Cardiff’s figures are 
too high and at the last committee 
meeting it was admitted that 
resources are not enough. Can we do 
things differently?
Young people not in education 
employment or training (NEET), 
prevention and what actually works 
(Global), an appraisal (again some 
research) consulting with various 
agencies, voluntary groups and 
organisations.
Sufficiency of (future) school 
placements primary and secondary 
for young people across Cardiff.
Sufficiency of (future) school 
placements for those young people 
identified with severe hearing and 
language difficulties, across Cardiff.
Educational prospects of white 
working class boys in Cardiff schools.
Task and Finish topic: Educational 
provision of excluded pupils
School catchment areas and 
admissions policies

 School federation
 Education provision for asylum 

seeking refugee children, schools well 
being programmes in Primary and 
secondary education 

 Children’s Services - Listening event – 
not completed last year

.

 Welsh Government funding for young 
people’s mental health services and 
preventative support. How are Cardiff 
Council’s children’s services working 
in partnership with the voluntary and 
health sectors to utilize this extra 
funding?

Page 182



Appendix B
Potential Agenda Items Priority 

Score 
 0 to 5

Report  
at Cttee

Report  
off 
agenda

T & F or 
Investigation

Ongoing 
Panel

Families  first programme that is 
newly overseen by children's services 
and the impact to children young 
people and families - in particular 
what are the next step for third sector 
as it is in its final year, and how does 
this fit with children services 
outcomes going forward
A short scrutiny into the numbers of 
girls in Cardiff affected by Female 
Genital Mutilation ( FGM ). To include 
how to identify and prevent the 
practice and education of ethnic 
minorities in prevention of the crime 
of FGM.

.
CORPORATE PLAN 2016/18 
PRIORITIES

Deliver the Schools Organisation 
Programme including the completion 
of Band A investment projects by 31 
March 2019
Contribute to the development of a 
regional ‘Central South Wales 
networked learning community’, run 
by schools for schools by September 
2017, focused on improvements in 
the quality of leadership, teaching and 
learning
Implement the requirements of the 
new curriculum for Wales - 
‘Successful Futures’ - by September 
2021, commencing with the 
introduction of the Digital 
Competence Framework in all Cardiff 
schools by September 2016
Implement the new statutory 
framework for supporting children 
and young people with additional 
learning needs, in accordance with 
the legislative framework, by 2021
Turn around the performance of the 
minority of Secondary Schools that 
are causing concern by July 2018
Improve and sustain the expertise of 
Cardiff schools in Mathematics and 
English, increasing capacity in 
teaching and learning at all levels

Page 183



Appendix B
Potential Agenda Items Priority 

Score 
 0 to 5

Report  
at Cttee

Report  
off 
agenda

T & F or 
Investigation

Ongoing 
Panel

Address the persistent impact of 
poverty on attainment and the 
marked variations between schools in 
the attainment of FSM pupils
Embed key elements of the Corporate 
Parenting Strategy in collaboration 
with partners by March 2017
Improve the system for protecting 
children from significant harm by 
implementing new Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
arrangements for managing referrals 
by June 2016 
Improve the recruitment and 
retention of children’s social workers, 
ensuring the Council achieves and 
maintains a vacancy rate for 
children’s social workers below 18% 
by March 2017
Implement key elements of the 
Cardiff Child Sexual Exploitation 
Strategy in collaboration with 
partners by March 2017
Work towards Cardiff becoming a 
‘Child Friendly City’ by March 2017
Complete roll out of the second phase 
of a specialist training programme 
regarding the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014
Introduce and deliver within the 
school curriculum a WJEC accredited 
“Challenging Extremism” module to 
raise awareness and prevent 
radicalisation
Improve the effectiveness of 
transitional support for disabled and 
vulnerable children approaching 
adulthood
Improve multi agency arrangements:
 to ensure the early identification 

of children and young people at 
risk of not progressing to ongoing 
education, training or 
employment after leaving school; 
and

 to ensure that identified children 
and young people receive early 
and appropriate support

Page 184



Appendix B
Potential Agenda Items Priority 

Score 
 0 to 5

Report  
at Cttee

Report  
off 
agenda

T & F or 
Investigation

Ongoing 
Panel

Strengthen and extend the existing 
‘lead worker’ model to directly 
support the transition of young 
people from school into employment, 
utilising European Social Fund 
resources to extend capacity for the 
next 3 years
Improve information sharing and 
tracking systems between partners 
for young people pre and post 16 by 
September 2016
Implement the Welsh Government 
Youth Guarantee and Cardiff 
Commitment to ensure appropriate 
progression routes for all learners by 
September 2016
Enhance the range of opportunities 
for young people to develop 
employability skills and secure 
employment in Cardiff

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

Increase in referrals into Children’s 
Service – “had had a detrimental 
impact on the percentage of referrals 
with decisions made within one day”
Children’s Services New set of 
Performance Indicators for 2016/17 – 
“undertake further briefings on the 
new performance measures in the 
near future”.
CSSIW inspection report on Children’s 
Services – “the Committee requested 
a copy of the relevant action plans 
that address the recommendations, so 
that it can monitor the Directorate’s 
implementation of the actions, and 
assess that the outcome addresses the 
concerns identified in the inspection 
report”.
A copy of the action plans which have 
been developed and include the areas 
that the Estyn letter highlighted.
Details of the plans to improve the 
admissions procedure across all 
schools, to be provided with the next 
quarterly performance report

Page 185



Appendix B
Potential Agenda Items Priority 

Score 
 0 to 5

Report  
at Cttee

Report  
off 
agenda

T & F or 
Investigation

Ongoing 
Panel

A breakdown, by number, of the 
different reasons for pupils to be not 
in education, training or employment;
A detailed briefing and actions 
focussing on the “wider capped points 
score” and Level 2 threshold.

CORRESPONDENCE REPORTS

Child Health and Disability progress 
report - resolved “to continue to 
monitor”
New Model for Children’s Play - 
resolved “awaiting business plans; 
Further report to be presented to 
Committee”
Further monitoring reports on the 
level of social worker vacancies – 
resolved “Continue to monitor”.
Accommodation of youth offending 
service and looked after children 
service – resolved “Further briefing to 
be issued”
Education and Consortium Delivery 
Plans 2016-2018 – resolved “Receive 
further reports in June / July”
Quarter 3 performance – resolved “To 
monitor the provision of information” 
on Cardiff commitment to youth 
engagement and progression; and a 
progress report on Biometric school 
meals

Page 186



CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
 11 July 2016

UPDATE ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SOCIAL SERVICES and WELL - 
BEING (WALES) ACT 2014 - PREVENTION SERVICE BRIEFING

Purpose of Report

1. This report provides Committee with a briefing on the progress being made to 

ensure the Council is prepared to implement the Social Services and Well- being 

(Wales) Act 2014 around the Prevention service, copy attached at Appendix 1.

Background

2. The Committee has previously received briefings in January, July 2015, January 

2016 and March 2016 providing an update on progress with the preparations for the 

Act. These briefings included:

 an implementation timeline and self- assessment of readiness; 

 information on the implications of the Act for Social Services and the wider 

Council; 

 details of the advice and support available to assist Councils in implementing 

the Act;

 details on the various statutory codes of guidance and regulations that Welsh 

Government were enacting to support the primary legislation; 

 the Cardiff and Vale Social Care and Workforce Development Plan, which will 

ensure the workforce receive the information they need to deliver the changes 

the Act requires;

 Information that a Regional Steering Group has been established to oversee 

and monitor the preparations for implementing the Act and reports to the 

Integrated Health and Social Care Governance Board, so that all partners are 

kept up to date on progress;

Page 187

Agenda Item 5



 An updated Regional Implementation Plan, which reflects the nine work 

streams being delivered through the Sustainable Social Services Programme 

and includes a risk assessment of the tasks required to implement the Act; 

and

 The governance structure together with regional task and finish groups for 

each work stream and lead co-ordinating officers.

3. In addition four national work groups have been established to share best practice 

and produce consistent material on an all Wales basis.  Cardiff and the Vale region 

have appointed officers to contribute to each of these groups. They are helping with 

the development of national checklists and, where possible, avoidance of 

duplication.

4. At the meeting in March 2016 Committee asked for the final briefings on the 

prevention service to be provided latter in the year.

Update and Issues

5. The Act establishes four key principles and these can be summarised as:

 We must support people who have care and support needs to achieve well-
being.

 People are to be put at the heart of the new system by giving them an 

equal say in the support they receive.

 Partnership and co-operation must drive service delivery.

 Services will promote the Prevention of escalating need and ensure that 

the right help is available at the right time

6. New services are being developed to work towards these principles.  Part 2 of the 

Act sets out a duty on local authorities, with support from their local health boards, to 

ensure the provision of an information, advice and assistance service for all people 

in their area, not just people who have an immediate need for care and support. This 

Page 188



service will be designed to ensure that people can get access to the right help at the 

right time to meet their individual situation.  

7. The Prevention Service (the Service) is central to the success of the transition to the 

care and support system under the Act. The Acts requirements for the Provision of 

Preventative Service by Local Authorities are to provide or arrange for the provision 

of preventative services in order to:

 Help prevent or delay the development of people’s needs which require care 

and support;

 Reduce the needs for care and support for those who have these needs;

 Promote the upbringing of children by their families, when it is consistent with 

the wellbeing of the child

 Prevent people from suffering abuse or neglect

 Enable people to live as independently as possible;

 Reduce the need for:

i. Care of supervision orders under the Children’s Act 1989

ii. Criminal proceedings against children

iii. Proceedings which may lead to children being placed into local 

authority care.

8. The report provides details of the briefing report provided for the Task & Finish 

Group on the “Current position in relation to Preventative Services across Cardiff 

and the Vale, copy attached at Appendix A and the “Early Help Strategy”, which 

sets out the strategic direction for delivering a partnership approach to Early Help 

and provides guidance for everyone who works with children, young people and 

families in Cardiff in order that the strategic approach can be successfully 

implemented across the Cardiff Partnership copy attached at Appendix B.

Scope of Scrutiny

9. The scope of this scrutiny is to consider the implementation of the Social Services 

and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014, and to pass on any observations, comments or 

recommendations to the Director of Social Services, and cover:

Page 189



 the progress being made to undertake this area of the Implementation Plan, 

in accordance with the Act’s requirements;

 any identified risks and the appropriateness of any proposed 

countermeasure;

 The effectiveness of the implementation plan in addressing the requirements 

of the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014.

Way Forward

10.Tony Young (Director of Social Services), Angela Bourge (Family Intervention 

Support Services /CAMHS) and Cheryl Chapman (OM for Early Intervention) have 

been invited to Committee present the briefing and answer any questions Members 

may have. 

11. Members are invited to consider the information set out in this report and to identify 

any issues on which they would wish to receive further information.

Legal Implications

12.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report 

are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications. However, 

legal implications may arise if and when the matters under review are implemented 

with or without any modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that 

goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising from those 

recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be 

within the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement 

imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers 

on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural 

requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully 

and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 

Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the 

circumstances.

Page 190



Financial Implications

13.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report 

are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial implications at this 

stage in relation to any of the work programme. However, financial implications may 

arise if and when the matters under review are implemented with or without any 

modifications. These financial implications will need to be considered before any 

changes are implemented. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes 

to Cabinet/Council will set out any financial implications arising from those 

recommendations.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee is recommended to:

Consider this briefing paper and provide comments or advice to the Cabinet 

Member and Director of Social Services.

DAVID MARR TONY YOUNG
Interim Monitoring Officer Director of Social Services

5 July 2016

Page 191



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



1

Appendix 1
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 

Prevention Services Briefing

Purpose

1. The purpose of this report is to brief the Children and Young Person’s Scrutiny 
Committee Members on the work undertaken across Cardiff and Vale region to 
address the requirements set out in the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014 to plan and promote preventative services.

2. The report will also include information on Dewis Cymru which provides a 
central place where information about well-being can be accessed by 
members of the public and professionals across Wales.

3. The report outlines the work of the regional Social Services Planning and 
Promoting Preventative Services Task and Finish Group and provides a short 
summary of the development of Cardiff’s Early Help Strategy. 

Background information on the Social Services & Well-being 
(Wales) Act (The Act)

4. The Act 2014 radically transforms the way social services are delivered in 
Wales, ensuring they meet the needs of individuals, giving people a voice in 
how Social Services assess and deliver their care and support and ensuring 
services are sustainable for the future.

5. It focuses on earlier intervention, increasing preventative services in the 
community, helping people maintain their independence and enabling people 
to get the help they need before their situation becomes critical. This will help 
to reduce pressure on more costly statutory services.

6. Additionally the Act:

 ensures easy access to information and advice is available to all

 Introduces new eligibility criteria focused on individual need, replacing 
the current threshold system

 Introduces portable assessments, so people who move from one part 
of Wales to another will receive the services they need in their new 
area without immediately having to undergo a new assessment

Page 193



2

 Introduces new arrangements so that, if they want to, young people will 
be supported to stay with their foster carers until they reach 21 (or 25 if 
they are in education or training)

 Requires local authorities and health boards to come together in new 
statutory partnerships to drive integration, innovation and service 
change.

Dewis Cymru

7. Dewis is the place for information and advice regarding well-being in Wales 
and helps people find what they need to know for both themselves and the 
person they may care for. The resource originally developed across North 
Wales is now being adopted by the other regions across Wales and was 
launched in Cardiff & the Vale of Glamorgan in April 2016. To view Dewis 
please go to www.dewis.wales 

8. Dewis Cymru promotes people’s well-being by making it easier for them to find 
out about how to improve their well-being, and the sources of advice and 
support which can help them.  It is also intended to support the successful 
delivery of the new requirements placed on local authorities, around 
Information, Advice and Assistance, as set out Part 2 of the Act.

9. Dewis has two parts. The first is a narrative content, to help people identify 
their own needs; the second part is the resource directory. The resource 
directory has all services on an equal footing; a resource can be a lunch club 
or a commissioned service. As part of the development they have developed 
the search facility with feedback to make improvements. The resource 
directory includes a range of resources; these may be Community services, 
Health services, Local Authority services, Third Sector services as well as 
commercial services. Our local site includes the Family Support Directory held 
on the Family Information Service (FIS) website and provides a link to FIS.

10.Each entry in the Resource Directory include a large amount of information 
answering the following key questions:

 What is it?
 Who is it for?
 Is there a cost? If so how much?
 How to contact?
 Where the resource is? Geographical area covered (currently down to 

Ward level, maybe possible to go to Lower Supper Output Area 
(LSOA) level)

Page 194

http://www.dewis.wales/


3

Each resource will have to be reviewed at least twice a year, though this can 
be more frequently if providers decide. Reminder emails will be sent to 
providers when any resources that have been logged on Dewis are due to be 
reviewed.

The Act’s requirements for the Provision of Preventative Services

11.Linked to local assessment, local authorities are also required to provide or 
arrange for the provision of preventative services in order to, for example: 

 Help prevent or delay the development of people’s needs which require 
care and support;

 Reduce the needs for care and support for those who have these 
needs;

 Promote the upbringing of children by their families, when it is 
consistent with the wellbeing of the child;

 Prevent people from suffering abuse or neglect;
 Enable people to live as independently as possible;
 Reduce the need for,

o Care of supervision orders under the Children Act 1989
o Criminal proceedings against children
o Proceedings with may lead to children being placed into local 

authority care.

In order to do the above, the local authority must pay attention to existing 
services and which make the best use of resources available. The local 
authority has the duty to promote the third sector in the provisions of their 
areas of care. 

12.The Act reinforces a partnership approach to prevention and a recognition that 
developing and delivering preventative services can only occur through the 
local authority working closely with key relevant partners. Indeed, the whole 
local authority, not just social services needs to have a stake, and in terms of 
assistance to improve well-being, people may well require input from a variety 
of different key sectors, community and local businesses. 

13.The Act brings in new duties to promote not for profit organisations to provide
Preventative services which include social enterprises, co-operatives, user-led 
services and the third sector. The NHS also has a key role to play in terms or 
preventing and managing health issues for adults and children in line with 
“prudent health care.” The contribution to prevention made by other statutory 
services such as the police, the fire service and schools is also very 
important.

Page 195



4

Planning and Promoting Preventative Services Task Group

14.A regional Planning and Promoting Preventatives Services Task and Finish 
Group has been operational since September 2015 to support the 
implementation of the Act. The group is co-chaired by Angela Bourge, 
Operational Manager for Strategy, Commissioning & Resources (Cardiff) and 
Suzann Clifton – Head of Service for Business & Innovation (Vale of 
Glamorgan). The group takes its membership from a range of statutory and 
voluntary sector organisations that are engaged in delivering or supporting the 
delivery of preventative services for adults and children across the region.

15.As part of the work of the task and Finish Group, a Briefing Report on the 
Current Position in relation to Preventative Services across Cardiff and 
the Vale of Glamorgan was produced by Val Connors (Practice Solutions) 
who provided a resource to the group. The purpose of the report was to 
describe the current position with regard to preventative services across the 
region, as well as setting out the linkages to other relevant areas of the Act 
Implementation. It identified key actions to take forward the preventative 
agenda across the region. The full briefing is located at Appendix A of this 
report for information.

16.The briefing report clarified that “Prevention” is a term that is used increasingly 
frequently when describing health and social care services and policy. 
However, there is no definition or consensus as to what constitutes ‘preventive 
services’. It recognised that this lack of clarity is further compounded by the 
haziness around the boundary between health and social care and between 
social care and wider community services such as housing and transport. 

17.The report recognised that at its simplest, taking a preventative approach 
means building a stronger community infrastructure in 
neighbourhoods/localities and providing accessible public services for 
vulnerable adults to reduce, delay or prevent them from becoming socially 
excluded and needing more intensive, costly support. Its primary focus is not 
personal care for those with substantial and complex needs and it is not a 
simple re-labelling of existing traditional low level services, e.g. laundry 
services, meals-on-wheels.

18.However, the report identified that from a narrow perspective, a preventive 
service may be one that aims to prevent or delay a specific condition or 
outcome. An example, it could be a service that aims to prevent admission to 
hospital because of a fall, where there is a well-defined outcome. A holistic or 
whole-systems approach to prevention carries within it both the idea of 
inclusion and engagement. It adds value to the social cohesion agenda, by 
delivering services and support that help to create and strengthen the ‘glue’ 
that binds communities together. People are enabled and supported to 
maintain and improve their own wellbeing, that of their families, neighbours 

Page 196



5

and local communities. Using a wider definition, the report recognised that 
prevention includes activity that enhances and extends quality of life.

19.The Planning and Promoting Preventative Services Task and Finish Group 
considered the findings of the briefing report and convened a workshop in April 
2016 to consider two of its strategic recommendations and how these should 
be taken forward.

 The development of a joint prevention strategy with all key partners 
and stakeholders and,

 Consideration of the arrangements required to develop a joint 
commissioning approach which supports the shift in health and social 
care towards prevention and early intervention.

20.Members of the Task and Finish Group who attended the workshop identified 
that in order for these strategic recommendations to be progressed the 
following conditions needed to be promoted in order to achieve success: 

 Conditions for creating an effective Preventative Strategy
o Co-operation and collaboration between partner agencies at the most 

senior level as well as operational levels
o A commitment to join up cross-cutting work-streams to achieved 

better synergy (e.g. tackling Poverty programmes / Future generations 
Act / Social services & Well-being Act)

o Recognition of the role of the independent sector 
o Actively promote and support Social Enterprise
o Recognition that prevention is everybody’s business, recognising the 

different levels of prevention (e.g. primary, secondary & tertiary)
o Commitment to Co-production 
o Recognition that there may need to agree an invest to save 

arrangement where money freed up from provision of services for 
people with complex needs is reinvested to strengthen preventative 
services

o Think Family Approach

 Conditions for creating joint commissioning that supports 
prevention & early intervention
o Robust governance arrangements need to be in place that promote 

an outcome focussed approach to commissioning.
o Pooled budgets are not always necessary – we need to start the 

process with small, manageable steps that do not create further 
barriers for progressing the joint-commissioning agenda but act as 
enablers

o An understanding that commissioning for early intervention is different 
to commissioning for complex needs and that it may not always end 
up with the procurement of services

Page 197



6

o We need to develop a more co-operative approach that promotes co-
production

21.The feedback from the workshop has been shared with the Regional Steering 
Group and at the time of writing this report, consideration is being given to how 
best to take this work forward. There are clearly some merits in bringing 
together current preventative work-streams that focus on either children & 
families or adults to provide an all -inclusive population approach. However, 
consideration is also being given to how we can continue to promote the 
preventative agenda at a local level where significant progress has already 
been made in some areas (for example, Cardiff’s well established Early Help 
Strategy) whilst maximising the benefits of planning, promoting and 
commissioning preventative services on a regional basis where it is 
appropriate and practicable to do so. 

Cardiff Children’s Early Help Strategy

22.  In Cardiff, the Children’s Early Help Strategy is a positive example of how key 
organisations across the Partnership have come together to support families in 
caring for children which is clearly emphasised by the Act, with a focus on 
helping parents develop their own ability to identify and manage problems, 
keeping families together in a safe, supportive and stable environment. A copy 
of the Early Help Strategy is located at Appendix B for information.

23.The Act identifies specific areas for focus when considering preventative 
services for children and families. These are:

 The importance of cross agency work to prevent children from suffering 
from abuse of neglect

 The importance of preventing or delaying circumstances that might 
lead to a child or young person being looked after by a local authority

 The importance in youth justice to prevent offending or re-offending by 
children and young people

 It is clear that children and families present a wide range of areas for 
preventative activity and there is already considerable experience to be 
drawn from national programmes such as Flying Start and Families

24.The Early Intervention & Prevention Steering Group has developed the Early 
Help Strategy to promote and facilitate intervening early and as soon as 
possible to tackle problems emerging for children, young people and their 
families.

Page 198



7

25.Engagement of partners in the Steering Group has been positive and work has 
been undertaken to develop a common language that describes preventative 
support as “Early Help” with a focus on support rather that assessment. It 
promotes the right conversations taking place at the right time, between the 
right people. The Strategy was successfully launched in September 2015 with 
all key partners who are represented on the Vulnerable Children and Families 
Programme Board physically signing up to it and wider partners pledging their 
commitment to adopting the early help approach. 

26.The Early Help Strategy recognises that all organisations in the Cardiff 
partnership share in the responsibility for safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children and young people.  Working alongside other agencies is 
extremely effective for improving outcomes for children due to the cross cutting 
themes that organisations are able to come together over.  It’s by coming 
together to share information and raise concerns that we can increase the 
likelihood of protecting children from harm and promoting their welfare so that 
fewer children suffer from significant harm.

27. In order to strengthen the approach to Early Help across the Partnership and 
to secure the timeliness of progress against the key tasks required for the 
successful implementation of the Early Help Strategy, Children’s Services 
reconfigured existing funding to create a dedicated post that is responsible for 
progressing actions set out in the Implementation Plan located in the  
Appendix of the Strategy Document (located at Appendix B of this report)  - 
The Prevention & Partnerships - Improvement Project Manager leads on the 
development of Cardiff’s Early Help Strategy, promoting best practice in the 
delivery of Early Help Services across Cardiff and facilitating effective 
partnership working in the delivery of Early Help Provision. 

28.The transfer of the administration of the Families First Grant to Children’s 
Services earlier this year has strengthened the links between Families First 
services and the Early Help Strategy and their interface with Children’s 
Services. This is viewed by Families First providers and Children’s Services as 
a very positive development that promotes stronger joint-working 
arrangements around step-up and step-down arrangements between 
preventative and statutory services.  

29.The Strategy focuses on two strategic objectives and thereby achieving two 
strategic outcomes, namely:

 Strategic Objective 1 - Ensure that children & young people receive 
help at the lowest level or intervention that is safe and effective in 
promoting good outcomes.

Page 199

http://www.safenetwork.org.uk/help_and_advice/Pages/reporting_a_concern.aspx


8

 Strategic Objective 2 - Maximise the impact of Children’s (Social) 
Services by strengthening the effectiveness of social work intervention 
and specialist / targeted family support.

30.Actions that address the requirements set out in the two key objectives above 
are detailed in the summary work plan located in Appendix  G of the Strategy 
Document located at Appendix 1.  It is expected that these actions will 
contribute to achieving the following strategic outcomes:

 Strategic Outcome 1 - To reduce the number of children, young 
people and their families requiring support at the “remedial” end of the 
Cardiff continuum of support to families (See Appendix D in the 
Strategy Document located at Appendix 1 – Spectrum of Need and 
Services for details).

 Strategic Outcome 2 - To narrow the gaps for children and young 
people, at risk of poor outcomes, in Cardiff and their peers. 

31. It is anticipated that over the next three years the implementation of the Early 
Help Strategy and its early intervention approach will achieve a 5% reduction 
in Cardiff’s Looked after Children Population resulting in a £1,274,000 saving 
for the Local Authority.

32.Savings of this order has been achieved by other Local Authorities that have 
brought together a suite of strategies combining the efforts of partners by 
focusing everyone who works with children and young people on a common 
goal of prevention. Local Authorities that have already adopted this approach 
have reduced the need to spend large sums on a few children with poor overall 
outcomes. Instead they spend lower cost effective sums on a wider population 
of children whilst securing better outcomes. This has resulted in fewer 
children's needs being met through the court arena, in the Looked After 
system or in the criminal justice system with more children being able to enjoy 
family life in their own homes.

33.Progress against the key actions outlined in the plan is monitored via the Early 
Intervention and Prevention Steering Group with regular updates to the 
Vulnerable Children and Families Programme Board. 

Page 200



Briefing report on the current position in
relation to Preventative Services across

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan

CARDIFF & VALES OF GLAMORGAN SOCIAL SERVICES

Practice Solutions Ltd

Author:

Val Connors

March 2016

CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

1

Briefing report on the current position in
relation to Preventative Services across

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan

CARDIFF & VALES OF GLAMORGAN SOCIAL SERVICES

Briefing report on the current position in
relation to Preventative Services across

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan

CARDIFF & VALES OF GLAMORGAN SOCIAL SERVICES

Page 201



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

2

INDEX

Page

1. Background 3

2. The Social Services & Well Being (Wales) Act and Preventative Services 3

3. What the Act is trying to achieve in relation to Prevention 4

4. Code of Practice 5

5. Charging for Preventative Services 5

6. A Prevention Approach 6

7. A Prevention Framework 7

8. The Spectrum of Prevention 9

9. Cardiff & Vale of Glamorgan Prevention Services Overview 10

10. Current Position re: Preventative Services 14

11. The role of the Information 15

12. Population Assessment 16

13. Conclusions and Next Steps 18

14. Recommendations 19

15. Appendix 1 20

16. Appendix 2 21

17. Case Study Examples 22

18. Appendix 3 27

Page 202



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

3

Background

The Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 signalled Welsh Government’s intention to shift the
emphasis of Social Care from acute and intensive services towards prevention, health promotion and
community services. It encourages investment in Prevention to improve people’s wellbeing and wherever
possible to prevent hospital admissions and the use of institutional care. In order to achieve this aim it will
be important to embed a preventative ethos in partnership with the Third Sector, local business sector and
public services across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, so that people are actively supported to:

• Look after themselves, stay healthy and retain their independence

• Participate fully as active members of their communities

• Choose and have easy access to the type of help they need, when they need it

• Remain safe and secure and continue to enjoy a good quality of life

The purpose of this paper is to describe the current position with regard to preventative services across
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, as well as setting out the linkages to other relevant areas of Act
implementation and key actions to take forward the agenda.

The Social Services & Well Being (Wales) Act and Preventative Services

The Social Services & Well Being (Wales) Act will be implemented from 6 April 2016. It brings in new duties
for local authorities, local health boards and other public bodies, and covers adults, children and carers.

The Act aims to reform and simplify the law: it repeals many previous laws and guidance relating to care and
support and replaces them with this Act. It builds on the White Paper ‘Sustainable Social Services for Wales:
A Framework for Action’ to modernise the law for care and support in Wales.

The Act aims to change the way people’s care and support needs are met – putting an individual at the
centre of their care and support and giving them a voice in, and choice and control over, reaching the
personal outcome goals that matter to them. Central to this is the concept of well-being – helping people to
maximise their own well-being.

The Act attempts to rebalance the focus of care and support to prevention and earlier intervention –
increasing preventative services within the community to minimise the escalation of needs to a critical level.

The Act creates both a strategic and practical duty in relation to preventative services. At a strategic level,
local authorities and local health boards will be under a duty to assess the extent of need for a range and
level of preventative services (see Population Assessment pages 16 - 19). At a practical level, local authorities
are required to provide/ arrange for the provision of services that will contribute towards preventing/
delaying/ reducing the development of needs for care and support; minimising the effect on disabled people
of their disabilities; helping to prevent people suffering abuse and neglect and enabling people to live their
lives as independently as possible.

Strong partnership working between organisations and co-production with people needing care and support
is a key focus of the Act. The Act requires a culture change from the way in which services have often been
provided, to an approach based on collaboration, and an equal relationship between practitioners and
people who need care and support and carers who need support.

These principles will enable people to be at the centre of their care and support and ensure their well-being
will be central to any decisions made about their lives.

Part 2 outlines the overarching duties that relate to anything people do under the Act, including the well-
being duty. Part 2 also sets out the requirements to undertake a population assessment, and provide
preventative services and an information, advice and assistance service, as well as the duty to promote
social enterprises / diverse forms of delivery.

Page 203



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

4

What the Act is trying to achieve in relation to Prevention

Shown above is a diagrammatic representation of the principles and assumptions underpinning the Act.

The key assumption is that through an increased level of effective earlier intervention / preventative
services, including better access to information and advice for everyone, and well-being support for those
who need some help (the left hand side of the care and support spectrum), more people will be able to be
supported without need for managed intensive support. Hence the dotted line moves to the right: fewer
citizens will need care and support planning for managed, complex care.

The Act attempts to rebalance the focus of care and support to prevention and earlier intervention –
increasing preventative services within the community to minimise the escalation of needs to a critical level.
The Act also recognises carers’ vital input and aims to help them maintain their caring role, which of course
will often help the people they care for to postpone the need for more managed, complex care.

Promoting prevention needs to happen at a strategic, operational and individual level by local authorities
and their partners. The Part 2 Code of Practice identifies ways that local authorities can ‘do’ prevention on a
strategic level by setting out tools, methodologies, services and behaviours. This will require a robust
population assessment and good partnership working to collect, analyse and act on information about the
needs and outcomes that are important to the population.

At an individual level, the local authority has a duty to assess whether, and if so, to what extent, the
provision of preventative services could contribute to the achievement of personal outcomes or otherwise
meet the needs of an individual. The assessment of individuals and getting this right is crucial to not only the
success of promoting prevention but also providing evidence about what type of preventative services are
needed and where.

Page 204



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

5

Code of Practice

The Code of Practice for Part 2 states that “There is no one definition for what constitutes preventative
activity. It can be anything that helps meet an identified need and could range from wide-scale measures
aimed at the whole population to more targeted individual interventions, including mechanisms to enable
people to actively engage in making decisions about their lives… local authorities should consider the range
of options available.”

The Act does require that local authorities must provide or arrange for the provision of a range and level of
preventative services which they consider will achieve the following purposes:

a. Contributing towards preventing or delaying the development of people’s needs for care and
support

b. Reducing the needs for care and support of people who have such needs

c. Promoting the upbringing of children by their families, where that is consistent with the well-being
of children

d. Minimising the effect on disabled people of their disabilities

e. Contributing towards preventing people from suffering abuse or neglect

f. Reducing the need for:

i. Proceedings for care or supervision orders under the Children Act 1989

ii. Criminal proceedings against children

iii. Any family or other proceedings in relation to children which might lead to them being placed
in local authority care, or

iv. Proceedings under the inherent jurisdiction of the High Court in relation to children

g. Encouraging children not to commit criminal offences

h. Avoiding the need for children to be placed in secure accommodation; and

i. Enabling people to live their lives as independently as possible.

Local Health Boards must also take a preventative approach that helps achieve these aims, collaborating
where appropriate.

Charging for Preventative Services

Regulations and the Code of Practice in relation to Part 5 of the Act set out the arrangements for charging.
The Act (section 69) makes clear that local authorities may impose flat rate charges for preventative services
or assistance it provides or arranges in order to help the service be viable. However, flat rate charges made
must not exceed the cost incurred in arranging or providing for the care and support, preventative service or
assistance to which they relate. Local authorities should also avoid a situation where the charge discourages
take up of preventative services.

In addition, the local authority must not charge for Reablement services provided to people returning from
hospital for the first six weeks following discharge.

The local authority must not charge for preventative services for children.

Page 205



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

6

A Prevention Approach

Prevention is a term that is used increasingly frequently when describing health and social care services and
policy. There is no definition or consensus as to what constitutes ‘preventive services’. Compounding this
lack of clarity is a further haziness around the boundary between health and social care and between social
care and wider community services such as housing and transport. At its simplest, taking a prevention
approach means building a stronger community infrastructure in neighbourhoods/localities and providing
accessible public services for vulnerable adults to reduce, delay or prevent them from becoming socially
excluded and needing more intensive, costly support. Its primary focus is not personal care for those with
substantial and complex needs and it is not a simple re-labelling of existing traditional low level services, e.g.
laundry services, meals-on-wheels.

From a narrow perspective, a preventive service may be one that aims to prevent or delay a specific
condition or outcome. An example could be a service that aims to prevent admission to hospital because of a
fall, where there is a well-defined outcome. A holistic or whole-systems approach to prevention carries
within it both the idea of inclusion and engagement. It adds value to the social cohesion agenda, by
delivering services and support that help to create and strengthen the ‘glue’ that binds communities
together. People are enabled and supported to maintain and improve their own wellbeing, that of their
families, neighbours and local communities. Using a wider definition, prevention includes activity that
enhances and extends quality of life.

The Act reinforces a partnership approach to prevention and a recognition that developing and delivering
preventative services can only occur through the local authority working closely with key relevant partners.
Indeed, the whole local authority, not just social services needs to have a stake, and in terms of assistance to
improve well-being, people may well require input from a variety of different key sectors, community and
local businesses. The Act brings in new duties to promote not for profit organisations to provide
preventative services which include social enterprises, co-operatives, user-led services and the third sector.
The NHS also has a key role to play in terms or preventing and managing health issues for adults and children
in line with “prudent health care.” The contribution to prevention made by other statutory services such as
the police, the fire service and schools is also very important.

The principle of supporting families in caring for children is also emphasised by the Act with a focus on
helping parents develop their own ability to identify and manage problems, keeping families together in a
safe, supportive and stable environment. The Act identifies specific areas for focus when considering
preventative services for children and families. These are:

• The importance of cross agency work to prevent children from suffering from abuse of neglect

• The importance of preventing or delaying circumstances that might lead to a child or young person
being looked after by a local authority

• The importance in youth justice to prevent offending or re-offending by children and young people

It is clear that children and families present a wide range of areas for preventative activity and there is
already considerable experience to be drawn from national programmes such as Flying Start and Families
First which have developed significant local approaches and initiatives.

Page 206



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

7

A Prevention Framework

In the absence of any specific definition for prevention, it may be useful to think about a prevention
framework which is broken down into three general approaches – primary, secondary and tertiary
prevention. These are described in more detail below.

1. Prevent: Primary prevention/promoting wellbeing

These are activities and services aimed at individuals who either have no current particular health or care
and support needs, or where there is some identified risk that their wellbeing or quality life isn’t as good as it
could be. Promoting wellbeing services are often provided outside of the scope of traditional health and
social care settings and provided in the community through voluntary groups or not for profit organisations.
These services are focused towards people who are basically healthy but require some form of low level
support or intervention to maintain their health, to be safe or get the most out of their lives.

Delivering and driving improvements in any approach to supporting independence within social care services
must be seen in the context of this wider preventative agenda. Actions to address healthy lifestyle and the
determinants of health through changes in behaviour can result in better health in the longer term,
reduction in disease and limiting conditions and an associated reduction in demand for health and social
care services. External factors such as inadequate housing and welfare reform also need to be considered.

Adopting a universal approach to this type of prevention across all sectors can help to reduce levels of need
and the associated pressure that this places upon the health and social care sector as well as improving life
experience and chances for people living in Cardiff & the Vale of Glamorgan. However, it is clear that much
of the activity to deal with the wider prevention operates over a significant length of time and the outcomes
of such interventions are not always clear. For this reason it will be important to also think about an
approach in the short term which supports independence within the services that people access.

Primary prevention includes services, activities, facilities or resources provided or arranged that may help an
individual avoid developing needs for care and support, or help a carer avoid developing support needs by
maintaining independence and good health and promoting wellbeing. They are generally universal (i.e.
available to all) services, which may include, but are not limited to interventions and advice that:

• promote access to good quality information

• support safer neighbourhoods and safer homes

• promote healthy and active lifestyles (e.g. physical activity, health walks)

• encourage lifestyle changes (e.g. stop smoking, weight loss, health trainers)

• reduce social isolation (e.g. befriending schemes)

• provide services for parents, children and young people (e.g. health visiting, basic parenting courses,
teaching lifestyle skills to young people)

• encourage early discussions in families or groups about potential changes in the future, e.g.
conversations about potential care arrangements or suitable accommodation should a family
member become ill or disabled.

2. Reduce: Secondary prevention/early intervention

These are more targeted interventions aimed at individuals who have an increased risk of developing needs,
where the provision of services, resources or facilities may help slow down any further deterioration or
prevent other needs from developing. Research highlights effective interventions to tackle social isolation in
vulnerable people to prevent loneliness are: community navigators, befriending, social interaction through
community involvement and hobbies. Social group activities included group exercise, art, therapeutic writing
and aspirating activities, with different studies showing a reduction in falls and improved physical health.

Page 207



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

8

Early intervention includes falls prevention, floating support to help people to live in their own homes, minor
adaptations to housing which improve accessibility or provide greater assistance for those at risk of a fall,
and assistive technology including Telecare services. Targeted interventions also include approaches to
identifying carers, including those who are taking on new caring responsibilities. Carers can benefit from
support to help them develop the knowledge and skills to care effectively and look after their own health
and wellbeing. Flying Start and Families First are networks of support for children and young people which
also fall within the framework of preventative services.

Maximising independence services such as reablement type activities are designed to help those who
already have an illness or disability to live as active and full a life as possible and to be safe in the services
that they access. These services could be traditional social care and health based interventions but they
need to be tailored to give people the right sort of support and help so that they can do more for themselves
and remain independent for longer. Interventions will be for a short-term defined period, rather than on-
going which can inadvertently lead to a reliance on services and reduce independence. Short-term targeted
care and support is support required in the short term to assist people to recover their health and wellbeing.

3. Delay: Tertiary prevention

This is aimed at minimising disability or deterioration in people who already have an established health
condition/s or complex social care need/s and are at risk of needing further or more intensive services at a
further point. This could be because of normal deterioration of a progressive condition or an adverse or
trigger event which if not responded to effectively could be triggered into a high cost service, emergency
care or residential and/or nursing care. These interventions include supporting people to regain skills and
reduce need for intensive services wherever possible and also help to manage the volatility of unscheduled
or unplanned care. Examples of tertiary prevention include:

• Post discharge support to reduce the risk of someone being readmitted to hospital

• Hospital at home services to prevent unnecessary hospital admissions

• Reablement and rehabilitation services which support both prevention to hospital and post
discharge arrangements

• Support to improve the quality of life of carers

• Purposeful programmes in residential, day and extra care that prevent and delay deterioration or
minimise disability rather than just “contain” need

• Family support services that prevent the need for substitute care for children

Page 208



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

9

The Spectrum of Prevention

Interventions are required across all three categories of prevention set out above in order to deliver the
wellbeing outcomes to which people aspire. The spectrum of prevention in relation to older people is well
illustrated diagrammatically in the figure below.

(Reference: ‘Improving care and saving money: learning the lessons on prevention and early intervention

for older people’ DH, January 2010)

Page 209



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

10

Cardiff & Vale of Glamorgan Prevention Services Overview

Links with Dewis project

It was agreed at the Regional Health and Social Care strategic implementation group on 23 October 2015
that Dewis Cymru would be the regional directory of choice used across health and social care service in
Cardiff and the Vale. Dewis Cymru has been developed against Section 17 of the Social Services and Well
Being (Wales) Act 2014 (The Act), in terms of supporting the provision of Information, Advice and Assistance
(IAA) to Citizens through the development of IAA services.

NB: Dewis Cymru will be referred to as Dewis from now on within this report. Where Dewis appears it is
referring to Dewis Cymru and not the Third Sector organisation called Dewis.

The Dewis project ( see Project Brief at Appendix 1) has been established to support the development of a
comprehensive, up to date directory of services and resources available across Cardiff and the Vale of
Glamorgan. It is intended that the directory will be used by local authority staff, Cardiff and Vale of
Glamorgan citizens, the Third Sector and Health professionals.

The Dewis Cymru website includes a resource directory (a database) to which local, regional or national
resources that promote and support wellbeing can be added. The inclusion of these resources within the
website will enable citizens to see what is available in a particular area that might be of benefit to
themselves, their family member/friends or the people they care for. It will also be of equal use to
professional when developing a support plan and when information/advice advisors need to discuss or
suggest options of support or engagement.

The resource directory is supported by a sophisticated search function that can return results based on
keywords and/or geographical areas. This approach is aimed at replacing the more traditional approach of
simply collecting and listing services that may be available in a particular area.

Dewis is expected to have a number of benefits for professionals and citizens alike including:

• Improved access to information and advice

• Improved access to prevention and well being services and an increase in self support

• Putting the citizen at the centre of the decision making process.

• In the longer term, Dewis is expected to support the further development and commissioning of
preventative services across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan as local authorities working in
partnership with the University Health Board and the Third Sector make increasing use of the
database to identify how services are being utilised as well as any gaps in services.

Set out below is an overview providing an example of services, broken down into primary, secondary and
tertiary prevention service categories. It should be noted that some services fall into more than one
category, in that they can support people with different levels of need. Not all services will be available
across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan and the intention of the Dewis project will be to map the current
range of services to provide this picture.

Included under each of the categories below is a diagram representing the current ‘What matters to you’
fields found on Dewis Cymru which may be helpful in visualising the potential scope and extent of
preventative services across the region. NB: A separate section for Carers is currently under development by
Dewis Cymru.

Page 210



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

11

PRIMARY PREVENTION

Being Social: Social Networking and forum
websites, community centres, community

activities, cultural and belief specific support,
youth clubs, social clubs and associations, 50+

Forums, village halls, Lunch Clubs, Assisted
shopping schemes, Information & signposting,

befriending schemes, Counselling, BME
community development, Carer’s support

services

Leisure:
Leisure

Centres, Parks,
gardens, open

spaces,
sensory

gardens, skate
parks, sports

clubs,

Children & Families: health visiting, basic parenting skills,
teaching life skills to children and young people

Primary

Prevention

PREVENT

Life Long Learning:
Libraries, Adult

Education, Schools,
Colleges

Travel: Taxis, Public
Transport, Community

Buses, Patient &
Accessible transport

Being well: GPs, District
nurses, Ambulances, Public

Health, Dentistry, Pharmacy,
Opticians, Health Promotion,

Vaccinations, Screening,
Healthy Living Campaigns

Managing your money: Debt
Support, Budget

Management, Welfare Rights
Advice & Support

Work: Job Centre Plus
initiatives, Department of

Work & Pensions campaigns,
employment support and
advice, volunteering, work

experience, apprenticeships,
supported employment

Being at Home: Housing
options, Housing advice and
support, insulation support,
planning & building controls,
trusted traders, Handy vans,

Carers support

Being Safe: Falls prevention,
Police, Fire Service,

Coastguards, Lifeboats,
Lifeguards, Neighbourhood

Watch Schemes, School
crossing patrols, CCTV,

Traffic Wardens, Farm/Rural
Watch

Page 211



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

12

SECONDARY PREVENTION SERVICES

Being Social: Day opportunities, Social Activities,
Group and community activities, Resource

Centres, Drop-in centres, Peer Group support,
Advocacy, One Stop Shops, Befriending,

Dementia Memory Cafes, Support Workers, Self
Help Groups, Advocacy, Volunteering, Carer’s

Support Services, Direct Payments

Managing your money: Debt
support, fuel poverty and
energy efficiency advice,
Welfare rights advice &

support

Being Well: GPs District
Nurses, OTs,

Physiotherapists, Allied
Health Professionals,

Bereavement support,
Counselling, Continence

Support, Home from Hospital
Support, Footcare, Harm

Reduction Service, Substance
misuse advice, Mental health

support services, Health
Visiting, Therapeutic

intereventions for children &
families, intermediate care &

reablement

Being at Home: Supported
Housing services, Sheltered

Housing, Extra Care,
Resettlement support,

Floating support, Aids for
daily living, Assistive

technology, Community
alarms, Telecare,

Adaptations, Care & Repair,
Handy Person Schemes,

Carers Support

Practical Assistance:
Shopping, Laundry,

Housework, Bathing, Meals,
Daily Living skills,

Reablement, Carers Support,
Direct payments

Secondary

Prevention

REDUCE

Being Safe: Falls prevention,
Family Intervention &

Support Services, telephone
help lines (domestic violence,

crisis, rape etc) Advocacy

Children & Families: Flying Start, Families First,
Communities First and Supporting People services,

support for young carers

Page 212



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

13

TERTIARY PREVENTION SERVICES

Tertiary

Prevention

DELAY

Being Social: Day Opportunies, Day Centres,
Specialist transport, support workers, specialist

sight and hearing rehabilitation officers,
Advocacy, Befriending schemes, Respite & Short

Breaks, Direct Payments, Support for Carers

Children & Families: Integrated Family support services, Family
Intervention and Support services, Specialist fostering services,

short breaks for disabled children, support for young carers

Managing your money:
Direct payments,

employment support
(personal assistants), welfare

rights advice & support,

Being Well: GPs, District
Nurses, Specialist Healthcare,
Hospital Discharge Schemes,

Reablement &
Rehabilitiation, Intermediate

Care, End of Life Support,
Telehealth, Occupational

Therapy, Diagnosis specific
advice & support, Day

Hospital

Being at Home: Personal
Care, Laundry, Meals,

Telecare, Direct Payments,
Reablement and

Rehabilitation, Occupational
Therapy, Major Adaptations/

DFGs, Support for Carers –
Day & Night sitting, respite

care, Carers support

Being Safe: Child & Adult
protection services, support

for carers

Page 213



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

14

Current Position re: Preventative Services across Cardiff & Vale of
Glamorgan

As part of the Dewis project it was agreed to undertake a scoping exercise to identify across Cardiff and the
Vale of Glamorgan:

• Directories / Databases already in existence

• What detail of information do they hold

• How and when data is being updated on them

• What programme have they been written in

• Number of organisations/ services that are held on the directory/database

• Are there paid staff to support them or are they maintained by volunteers

The results of the scoping exercise are summarised in Appendix 3 indicate that there are currently 28 known
Directories/ Databases of services across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. These include the Third Sector
membership directories held by the CVCs (including National organisations), Family Information Service
Directories for children and families, Carers support directories, Supported Housing Directories, NHS
Directories and bespoke Directories relating to Mental Health Services, Armed Forces etc.

It should be noted that there are some distinct differences between the directories and databases and the
rationale for developing these. Some directories such as Cardiff & Vale Mental Health Services and “Where U
stand” contain information about how to navigate the range of mental health and learning disability
services, how to get and assessment, definitions of conditions etc. and provide a good resource for carers to
use as a reference. Some databases such as those used by the CVCs are the mechanism used to invite
members to whom they are accountable, to AGMs so that they are properly involved in the process of
electing trustees, receiving information etc. Further consideration about how the information contained in
these databases/ directories is captured in the future will need to be considered as part of the Dewis Cymru
project and the future development of this going forward.

The scoping exercise revealed that information relating to more than 9,400 organisations/services across
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are included in the directories. There is a great deal of duplication and
overlap in the information contained within the directories/databases and the detail of the information held
also varies significantly. The scoping exercise also highlighted a diverse range of programmes used to hold
the information – excel, access, paper based systems, word list & bespoke systems, and showed that there is
currently no consistent approach to how and when the data contained within the directories/databases is
updated.

The aim of the Dewis project will be to provide a single point of information for citizens and professionals
across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan which avoids duplication and means that anyone with information
about resources in their area can contribute to the database. The action plans and timescales for completing
the upload of information on to the Dewis database from each organisation involved in the Dewis project
are still being finalised, although the aim is to get all the known resources from both Councils on by 31
March 2016 ahead of the Act implementation date of 6 April 2016.

A key factor in the success of the Dewis project will be ensuring the sustainability, quality and consistency of
the information held on the database. It is intended that this will be achieved through effective governance
and management arrangements ensured by cooperative working between organisations and networks and
adherence to clear website administrative roles and resource directory content standards.

Page 214



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

15

The role of the Information, Advice and Assistance Service (IAA) in
supporting a preventative approach

Information, advice and assistance has a vital role to ensure preventative services are accessible, that they
are known about and that people are supported to gain access to them. People need to be able to make
informed choices about what outcomes they wish to achieve and how best to live their lives and manage
their well-being. To support this, the Act requires that local authorities put in place an information, advice
and assistance (IAA) service to ensure that all people within the local authority area have suitable
information, advice and assistance to access the most appropriate services. The IAA service will be a
preventative service in its own right and will offer a first point of contact with the care and support system.
For many people this will be their first encounter with social services. The Code of Practice for Part 2 says
that “The information, advice and assistance service will be easy to use, welcoming and informative” and
people must have an opportunity to explain what matters to them, to explore what options are available,
and to find the help that they feel is right for them to achieve their personal outcomes.

Professionals involved in the IAA service will have a key role in signposting and referring people to support
services available in their locality, particularly preventative services. For the most part these preventative
and early intervention services are not part of the social care or statutory sector market so the role of the
IAA service will be to inform people about the options available to them through the local community and
where appropriate to support them to access these services by assisting them to make contact rather than
solely offering them basic contact details.

The commitment given to the development of Dewis as an online resource directory to identify the services
that are available and how they can be accessed, is fundamental to ensuring that the IAA service operates
effectively in both local authorities. It will be important to also link both Dewis and IAA to commissioning
and procurement so that there is a robust commissioning cycle, which utilises all data, and involves all
partners in the planning and development of preventative services. By delivering this approach it is
anticipated that as a region, Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan will build a stronger community
infrastructure which is underpinned by an improvement and expansion of information, advice and assistance
which is focused towards reducing health inequalities, delaying or preventing social exclusion and the need
for more intensive, costly support from statutory agencies.

Further information about how the IAA service operates across Cardiff and the Vale is included at Appendix 3
together with some examples of case studies demonstrating the benefit of a preventative approach.

Page 215



Population Assessment

The Act requires local authorities and local health boards to jointly assess the extent to which there are
people who need care and support, or carers who need support, in the local area.
assessment links to and supports other requirements on local authority social services under the Act. For
example, this assessment will inform local authoritie
16 of the Act to promote social enterprises, co
support the requirement to identify the care and support, and preventative services, these al
service models should provide. It will similarly inform the nature of the information, advice and assistance
service required.

In summary, the outline requirements

• That the responsible bodies (local authoriti
of the outcome of the population assessment.

• That local authorities and Local Health Boards must have regard to the statement of well
outcomes (issued under section 8 of the Act) when carryin

• That local authorities and Local Health Boards must engage with people (including adults and
children with care and support needs, carers, and the parents of children with care and support
needs) in the production of a populat
engagement.

• That local authorities and Local Health Boards must engage with private sector and third sector
organisations concerned with the provision of care and support or preventative services to
population in the production of a population assessment report.

• That the first population assessment reports must be produced by 1 April 2017. Each local authority
and Local Health Board must publish the relevant population assessment on its webs
copy to Welsh Ministers.

• That population assessment reports must be kept under review.

The following diagram is included in the Code of Practice a

CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

16

The Act requires local authorities and local health boards to jointly assess the extent to which there are
people who need care and support, or carers who need support, in the local area. This population
assessment links to and supports other requirements on local authority social services under the Act. For
example, this assessment will inform local authorities in meeting the requirement contained within section
16 of the Act to promote social enterprises, co- operatives, user led services and the third sector. It will
support the requirement to identify the care and support, and preventative services, these al
service models should provide. It will similarly inform the nature of the information, advice and assistance

In summary, the outline requirements set out in the Code of Practice are:

That the responsible bodies (local authorities and Local Health Boards) must jointly produce a report
of the outcome of the population assessment.

That local authorities and Local Health Boards must have regard to the statement of well
outcomes (issued under section 8 of the Act) when carrying out population assessments.

That local authorities and Local Health Boards must engage with people (including adults and
children with care and support needs, carers, and the parents of children with care and support
needs) in the production of a population assessment report and establish a procedure for this

That local authorities and Local Health Boards must engage with private sector and third sector
organisations concerned with the provision of care and support or preventative services to
population in the production of a population assessment report.

That the first population assessment reports must be produced by 1 April 2017. Each local authority
and Local Health Board must publish the relevant population assessment on its webs

That population assessment reports must be kept under review.

The following diagram is included in the Code of Practice as an illustration of what the process is all about:

The Act requires local authorities and local health boards to jointly assess the extent to which there are
This population

assessment links to and supports other requirements on local authority social services under the Act. For
s in meeting the requirement contained within section

operatives, user led services and the third sector. It will
support the requirement to identify the care and support, and preventative services, these alternative
service models should provide. It will similarly inform the nature of the information, advice and assistance

es and Local Health Boards) must jointly produce a report

That local authorities and Local Health Boards must have regard to the statement of well-being
g out population assessments.

That local authorities and Local Health Boards must engage with people (including adults and
children with care and support needs, carers, and the parents of children with care and support

ion assessment report and establish a procedure for this

That local authorities and Local Health Boards must engage with private sector and third sector
organisations concerned with the provision of care and support or preventative services to the local

That the first population assessment reports must be produced by 1 April 2017. Each local authority
and Local Health Board must publish the relevant population assessment on its website and submit a

tion of what the process is all about:

Page 216



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

17

It is intended that the population assessment will drive change, by enabling both local authorities and Local
Health Boards to focus on preventing approaches to care and support needs. It will provide the information
required to support resource and budgetary decisions; ensuring services and outcomes are targeted,
sustainable, effective and efficient.

The draft Code refers to the population assessment ensuring good outcomes for people. It also refers to the
Outcomes Framework and performance measurement framework in respect of how need should be
assessed. In summary, the purpose of the assessment is to:

• Ensure services and strategies are based on evidence;

• Ensure a focus on prevention;

• Inform other activity such as developing social enterprises and information and advice services;

• Ensure a link with other strategic planning requirements including the Integrated Medium Term Plan
(IMPT) and housing and homelessness services.

At a strategic level the population needs assessment will provide the opportunity to review not just
population needs but the effectiveness of those currently being provided. The population assessment is
intended to be a key tool to assist with monitoring and evaluating services to establish whether they are
meeting individual and population well-being outcomes. The first population assessment reports must be
produced by April 2017 and currently SSIA and PHW are working together to create a toolkit to support the
development of these reports. The final content of the toolkit is in the process of being developed with an
anticipated publication date of April 2016.

It is clear that the population assessment will be a vital component in assessing the current range and level
of preventative services and whether these are sufficient. However, the requirement on local authorities to
provide or arrange preventative services will come into force from 6 April 2016 a full year before the
population assessment reports have to be completed. In the meantime it is expected that local authorities
and health boards will provide or arrange services based on their current knowledge and understanding of
the care and support needs and the support needs for carers and the Dewis project will have a key role to
play in supporting this. Ensuring that as much information as possible about preventative services can be
uploaded on to the Dewis ahead of the Act implementation date of 6 April 2016 will be vital to ensuring that
the region is able to meet the requirements of the Act in this respect.

Page 217



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

18

Conclusions and Next Steps

Work already undertaken with regard to the Dewis project and the development of IAA services across
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan indicate that there is already a range of provision within the community
and many of the primary, secondary and tertiary preventative services identified on pages 12 – 14 already
exist. However, until the population assessment has been completed, the region will not be able to identify
specific services, who these services are for – whole population, specific user groups, eligible individuals etc;
the geographical coverage; or whether there are any gaps in the current provision.

In the short term there is a need for:

• The Dewis Cymru project to deliver on its Project Brief and Plan:

− To complete regional and local action plans
− Upload information about resources into the Dewis database ensuring that sufficient

information is available for the system to go “live” by 6 April 2016
− Promote the use of Dewis with staff across both local authorities, the health board, the Third

Sector and other providers
− Publicise Dewis and the IAA service externally to the public across Cardiff and the Vale of

Glamorgan

• The project plans for Dewis and the IAA service to be effectively linked ensuring that IAA staff
receive appropriate training to deliver the service and the requirements of the Act

• Ensure that there are effective arrangements in place to undertake the population assessment and
that information uploaded into Dewis can be used to contribute to identifying the range of
preventative services currently available

• Consider how the local authority and its partners will identify wider community and neighbourhood
activities and groups not captured in the current range of Directories and resources to be uploaded
on to Dewis.

In the longer term following the completion of the population assessment report, consideration will
need to be given to:

• Developing a joint prevention strategy with key partners which seeks to create a culture of
prevention and early intervention and supports the ethos of the Act. This would need to be
developed across statutory agencies, third sector organisations and private providers in consultation
with citizens and could potentially focus on the following key commitments:

− Making enablement and prevention 'everyone's business'
− Offering early support to all people
− Ensuring that prevention and enablement activities reach all people
− Enabling people to live in accommodation and access aids to daily living that support their

independence, health and wellbeing
− Delivering Public Health activities that have been proven to help people stay healthy and

well, and that are targeted to people who most need that help
− Giving people information, advice and support so they can help themselves to stay as

healthy and well as possible
− Enabling family carers to continue caring and stay well
− Ensuring that networks of community support are built around people who are isolated
− Developing partnerships with community organisations and groups to deliver early

intervention and prevention activities across the region
− Making sure people get more ‘joined up’ health and care support, and staff work in a more

unified way around individuals with significant health and care needs

Page 218



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

19

• Developing joint commissioning strategies to support the required strategic re-orientation of health
and social care towards prevention and early intervention and enable a sustainable approach to
offering opportunities for people across the region to stay active, healthy and independent for as
long as possible in their home and community of choice.

• Agreeing with partners, priorities for investment to support the shift towards prevention and early
intervention ensuring that there is a balanced investment in respect of services available for:

− The general population (universal services) – primary preventative services and support
− Low level preventative services for more vulnerable groups of people – secondary

preventative services and support
− People with high level, more complex needs – tertiary preventative services and support.

Recommendations

1) Ensure that the Dewis Cymru project delivers on its Project Brief and Plan within the required

timescales and that this is monitored and evaluated.

2) Ensure that there are effective links between the Dewis project plans and those required to

deliver the IAA service and Population Assessment.

3) Ensure that staff who deliver IAA services receive appropriate training so that they are

competent and skilled in accordance with the requirements of the Act.

4) Consider developing a joint prevention strategy with all key partners and stakeholders.

5) Consider the arrangements required to develop a joint commissioning approach which

supports the shift in health and social care towards prevention and early intervention.

6) Agree with partners, priorities for investment which support a preventative approach.

Page 219



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

20

Appendix 1

To view the Dewis Project Brief, please click on this link:

Dewis Project Brief v0.4

Page 220



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

21

Appendix 2

The diagram below sets out the approach to IAA services across Cardiff & the Vale of Glamorgan and highlights the range of different services and partners who
provide these services.

P
age 221



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

22

Case study examples

Case Study 1: Care and Repair Cardiff and the Vale Casework Service

Background

Mr M contacted Care & Repair Cardiff as he had been sent a letter from the GP surgery offering him a
‘Healthy@Home Check’ from Care & Repair. Mr and Mrs M have never asked for help in the past but
contacted us as were curious as to what we could offer.

What did we do?

• A Caseworker visited Mr and Mrs M and identified that both would be eligible for Attendance Allowance
due to health conditions. A claim was put in and both received High Rate. Due to this, the Caseworker
put in for Carers Allowance for both and as a result, they were then entitled to claim Guaranteed
Pension Credit and full Council Tax Benefit, Severe Disablement Allowance and Carers Premium.

• The Caseworker also identified the need for rails and a stair lift in the home. In turn, a referral was made
to Care & Repair’s Occupational Therapist who assessed and referred them for a heavy duty stair lift,
two internal grab rails, an external rail and a 5” bath step.

• Due to the nature of Mrs M’s health and her need for a downstairs toilet, the Caseworker sought funding
via the ILG grant (Independent Living Grant) to fund a downstairs toilet extension. Care & Repair’s
Contractors Panel was used to source quotations and to undertake the works. Care & Repair’s
Occupational Therapist provided the Caseworker with a report to enable the fees for the Building
Planning and Building Control to be waivered.

• As a result of the Pension Credit Award, the couple were now eligible for an ECO grant for a new boiler.

• The Caseworker also referred to Care & Repair’s Home Safety and Security Project for 2 smoke
detectors.

How are they better off?

• Both Mr and Mrs M can live in dignity in respect to personal care, due to the stair lift and the down stairs
toilet being provided. The stair lift cost £3,000.00 and the ILG was £6,748.00.

• Both Mr and Mrs M were at risk of falls and the stair lift has lowered that risk. The other adaptations
provided may also prevent falls in the home, at a cost of approximately £120.00.

• Mr and Mrs M feel safer by having the smoke detectors in place at a cost of £50.00.

• Mr and Mrs M feel more independent and financially stable due to the extra money they have received.
The couple are now better off by £272.00 extra per week.

• Due to the new boiler, Mr and Mrs M are now warmer and saving on fuel bills and due to the efficiency
of the new boiler approximate value of £3,000.00. Their worries about the old boiler – numerous repairs,
have now been removed.

What would have happened if Care & Repair did not exist?

• Mr and Mrs M may have fallen without the use of the adaptations in the home.

• Their well-being (due to personal issues) may have also suffered without the use of the stair lift and the
downstairs toilet.

• Again, poor well-being could have been caused by worry over the high heating costs and the repair costs
of the old boiler.

Page 222



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

23

• Mr and Mrs M would have missed out on benefits and thus extra money per week helping them to stay
independent.

• Should there have been a fire in the home, Mr and Mrs M may not have been able to get out of their
home in adequate time, without the early detection from the smoke detectors that had been provided.

Case Study 2: Cardiff Independent Living Service

Background

Mr L is 51 years of age and has Necrotic Toes causing severely reduced mobility. District Nurses attend every
day for wound care. Mr L requested assistance with a benefit entitlement checks and advice on somebody to
help with household tasks.

What we did and How the person is better off:

An independent living visiting officer visited Mr L and undertook a full holistic review of the service users
needs in order to remain independently living in their own home.

Mr L mobilises on crutches and it became apparent that he struggled to get to back into the chair’s low
position. After discussing how he bathes and mobilises around the house it was agreed that I refer to the
Occupational Therapy Service.

Full income maximisation review was undertaken by the visiting officer, and a referral for a new claim for
Daily Living component of PIP of an additional £82.30 per week was made. Once in payment Mr L will then
be eligible to the Severe Disability Premium payment within his Employment Support Allowance, which is
£61.85 per week. Both benefits provided him with an additional £7,495.80 per year!

Mr L’s home had no smoke alarms therefore referral made to the Fire Safety team to visit.

The visiting officer completed a Swalec Warm Home Discount Scheme application form completed to get
£140 off his energy bills.

A referral to Speakeasy was made as due to his mobility he struggles to prepare food in the kitchen, which
has been compounded by the fact that his microwave blew up which he said was ‘his life line’. Speakeasy
were able to provide Mr L with a microwave from a contact they had in a nearby church to where Mr L lives
as they had a spare – the church arranged to drop the microwave to Mr L. Mr L also had arrears with his
energy bills which Speakeasy also helped with.

Mr L had a leak in his bathroom which is causing a damp smell therefore referral was made Care and Repair
to get assistance with this.

The visiting officer assisted Mr L to search for cleaning services and he us

Service user/citizen feed back

Mr L was amazed at the number of things the Independent Living Visiting Officer was able to help him with.
He said having his microwave back was such a relief. All this would not have been provided without this
intervention. He is better equipped in his home to get around after the Occupational Therapy visit. Mr L
could not believe he would be better off by £7,495.80 per year. He sent a thank you to the officer involved.

Case Study 3: Independent Living Service Cardiff

Background

Mr S is in his mid 70’s and lives with his 16 year old granddaughter who is disabled and requires 24 hour
care. Mr S lost his wife to cancer just after Christmas who had been the main carer to his granddaughter.

Page 223



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

24

The telephony Contact Officer from our first Point of Contact team identified that the support from an
Independent Living Visiting Officer was required.

What We Did

The visiting officer checked Mr S income with the DWP to ensure that his pension was up to date since his
wife had passed away as Mr S didn’t know what money he had to manage with. The visiting officer made a
phone call to his bank for him to check his balance and find out his payment dates. A request was also put in
to set up internet banking.

The visiting officer contacted SSE due to an overdue bill and his wife was still the main account holder. The
name was changed a cheaper tariff identified. She also checked they had his granddaughters oxygen tank on
their system as that would reduce the bill.

The visiting officer showed Mr S how easy it was to order shopping off his smart phone which he was using
and we got some quotes for an internet package. The visiting officer also connected him to set him up with
an Asda shopping app via his phone.

The Visiting officer also provided Mr S with a list of clubs to meet people and be less isolated. He discussed
being able will be able the clubs once assistance organised through a carers assessment was in place for his
granddaughter.

How the person is better off:

Mr S is very happy knowing that he will be able to take care of the essential things around the home and be
self-sufficient.

Service user/citizen feed back

Mr S said “I would not have managed without you, a great help, something easy to you but seemed
impossible to me and now I know what I am doing. You have been a saviour today.”

Page 224



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

25

Case Study 4: Putting Families First

Background

The parent was identified by the school as being disengaged and uninvolved with her children's education.
She was approached by the Learning Support Assistant who encouraged her to join the group. After much
persuading, the parent attended sessions in Reading Readiness and the Parent Nurture Programme. Initially
she was a quiet group member, reserved and uncommunicative; she struggled with group situations and was
withdrawn, choosing not to participate due to a lack of confidence in her own abilities.

What we did

Over a period of weeks and then months, the parents confidence began to grow as she attended a number
of other Putting Families First courses. On attending a Welsh course the parent began to help other learners
struggling with their pronunciation. The Parent moved on to becoming more involved with school life and
supported the planting of trees within a school group activity. The parent has progressed from being
completely disengaged with the school and every aspect of her children’s education, to being affirm
advocate for education, and leading on several projects which benefits both herself and her family.

How the person is better off

The parent has grown in both experience and confidence and is now re-engaging with her children's
education and has reported as now having the confidence to support them with their school work. Her
children regularly see their mum coming to school and taking part in school life.

The parent is now a trustee for the committee set up to improve the school café, she supports the drop in at
the café every week and makes herself available to chat with other parents. She has trained to deliver Geo-
cache sessions for forest schools, she assists with the vegetable co – op and supports and promotes all
learning / school and community activities that are offered. She seeks opportunities to share what she has
gained with others.

She found that she enjoyed working with children so much that she sought advice from the Putting Families
First Learning Support Assistant, who guided her on the next steps to becoming a Learning Support
Assistant. The parent has now enrolled on a Level 3 Childcare course and is currently undertaking a
placement at Ysgol Gwaun Y Nant.

Page 225



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

26

Case Study 5: Western Vale Family Support project

Background

The family - a single mum and her two children aged 4 and 3 months, live in the Western Vale. A referral
was made for parenting support from the health visitor. There was a history of domestic violence as well as
mum suffering from depression and having financial and housing issues. Both the children’s names were on
the child Protection register. The youngest child also had health problems and was due to have tests.

What we did

Support initially concentrated on routines for both children as well as boundaries and consequences for the
older child. This incorporated sleep and bedtime routines as well. Due to mum’s financial situation a referral
was also made to the local food bank, with mum engaging well with the support from Western Vale Family
Support and with Social Services and Atal Y Fro. Mum was happy to take on board the advice and support
given and put this into practice, she was able to acknowledge and comment on the positive changes she was
noticing with the children's behaviour, especially the good behaviour demonstrated by the older child, and
put this down to the more structured routine she had established.

As the support continued Mum reported that she felt more confident in her parenting, and although the
children’s names remained on the Child Protection register at the time of the review case conference it was
acknowledged how much progress mum had made.

An incident with mum’s ex-partner, and with the youngest child reaching new stages of development,
resulted in a new referral being put in from the Social worker for further ongoing support, as mums
confidence about going out had dipped due to the incident with her ex. Despite this, Mum continued to
evidence that she was sticking with her daily and bedtime routine and was using the strategies and advice
given to deal with unwanted behaviour from her oldest daughter.

The health issues with the youngest child continued, with mum having to attend a number of hospital
appointments, along with two weeks stays in hospital. Despite this, mum continued to progress and gain
confidence in her parenting ability. In addition to receiving the 1-1 support within her home, she now started
to attend the Pop in and Play sessions at the gathering Place.

How the person is better off

In May 2014 the children’s names were removed from the child protection register with acknowledgment of
the progress mum had made in respect of her parenting skills and confidence being recognised. This resulted
in the 1-1 support ending. Prior to the end of the programmes support a home safety review was carried
out, with equipment and advice given. Mum continues to access the pop in and play session at the gathering
Place where she can access support and advice if needed on an informal basis and the children having the
opportunity to enhance their social development, as well as having fun and enjoying the variety of toys and
art and craft activities on offer.

Mums comment on her evaluation form stated “I have learnt a lot from all the sessions and I have learnt to
priorities my children’s needs over my own. I am extremely grateful for all the help and support I’ve received”

Page 226



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

27

Appendix 3: Results of the Scoping exercise for the Dewis Project

List directories / databases
already in existence

What detail of information
does it hold?

How is the
data updated?
E.g. Role of
staff member
/ volunteer?

When is data
updated?

What programme
have they been
written in e.g.
Excel, Access etc

Number of
organisations
that are held on
the
directory/databa
se

Duplication?

C3SC

C3SC Membership directory
of Third Sector
Organisations

Name, contact details and
brief description of the
organisation (generally not
individual services)

Electronically
via admin staff
at C3SC

Adhoc when
people
contact us.

E-vol approx 640

VALE FIS

Family Information Service
(FIS) Childcare Directory
https://earlyyears.valeofgla
morgan.gov.uk/fiso_live/pu
blicenquiry/Default.aspx

Comprehensive details of
childcare settings including
childminders, day
nurseries, playgroups etc.
Info includes: opening
times, contact details, cost,
age range, facilities,
whether can cater for
special needs, school pick
up, description etc

Annual review
whereby staff
in the FIS
Team contact
the service by
email and
phone. Also
the facility for
services to
update their
own details on
line.
Childminders
are updated 6

Nov - Jan
annually (in
preparation
for the
Childcare
Sufficiency
Assessment
CSA)

External system -
Tribal, hosted on
Vale Council
website

320 no

P
age 227



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

28

monthly.

FIS Family Support
Directory
https://earlyyears.valeofgla
morgan.gov.uk/fiso_live/fs
d/

Comprehensive details of
services that support
children and young people
and their parents eg.
parenting, child
development, health,
disability, substance
misuse, carers etc. opening
times, contact details, cost,
age range, language used,
whether can cater for
special needs, description,
referral process, eligibility
criteria, area served etc

Annual review
whereby staff
in the FIS
Team contact
the service by
email and
phone. Also
the facility for
services to
update their
own details on
line

Annually
throughout
the year.

External system -
Tribal, hosted on
Vale Council
website

327 Yes as contains
information on Children
& Young People
Services teams and
many third sector
organisations

FIS Activities for Children &
Young People age 0-20yrs
https://earlyyears.valeofgla
morgan.gov.uk/fiso_live/pu
blicenquiry/Default.aspx

Details of leisure activities,
parent & toddler groups,
art and music groups, soft
play etc. Info includes
address, description,
contact, age range, cost,
opening times, whether
cater for special needs,
language used etc

Annual review
whereby staff
in the FIS
Team contact
the service by
email and
phone. Also
the facility for
services to
update their
own details on
line

Annually
throughout
the year.

External system -
Tribal, hosted on
Vale Council
website

251 Yes with leisure, sports,
community centres and
third sector

P
age 228



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

29

Sports clubs for children,
young people and adults
(Sports & Play
Development Team)

Online - name of club, type
of sport, contact name,
email and tel number.
Back office - age, disability
friendly, area, description,
child protection trained
and policy, DBS check,
insurance

Used to be the
role of an
administrator
but no funding
so not being
updated at the
moment

When they
are notified of
changes. Less
than annually
depending on
resources

Access 140 some with FIS activities
directory and third
sector sports clubs

Community Centres in the
Vale

Address, contact details,
cost, facilities, all activities
taking place in the
community centres,
including name of activity,
day and time

Staff member
updates when
he receives an
update

When notified word list Activities for children
and young people will
also be held on FIS
Activities directory and
duplication with third
sector

Care Directory Contact details of approved
residential, nursing,
domiciliary and day care
services

Role of the
Contract
Monitoring
Officer.
Constantly
updated

As and when
changes occur

word list 44 no

Supporting People
Directory (Accommodation,
supported housing, floating
support, services for older
people

Housing related support
services funded by
Supporting People that
currently exist in the Vale
of Glamorgan, the services
that they provide, who
they are for, their location
and how they can be
accessed.

Contracts
Officer
updates info
as they
commission
the services

At least
annually,
usually in June
(in line with
tendering
process)

word as lots of
narrative

approx. 70 yes - housing
associations, third
sector support, FIS
Family Support
Directory

P
age 229



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

30

Armed Forces Directory Contact details, who the
service supports etc (lots of
national organisations)

yes but most are
national organisations

Adult Courses (paid
courses)

details of course, venue,
dates costs for all Vale

Area
Development
Officer
updates daily

Daily In-house IT
system that links
to website

no

Get Back On Track courses
(free or subsidised courses)

details of course, venue,
dates costs for all Vale

Adult
Education
Development
Officer
updates as
and when

monthly when
new courses
arise

word flyer no

Youth Engagement
Directory

Other directories we are aware of

NHS Direct Wales - Health
& Wellbeing services
http://www.nhsdirect.wale
s.nhs.uk/localservices/

Cardiff & Vale Mental
Health Services Directory
http://www.cavamh.org.uk
/directories/mental-health-
directory/introduction

Comprehensive
information about third
sector, and other sector,
mental health services.

P
age 230



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

31

Cardiff & Vale Parents
Federation 'Where U Stand'
Directory
http://www.whereyoustan
d.org/

Extensive database of
groups and organisations
with information on
services and how to access
them. Written for carers
by carers, especially those
caring for a person with a
learning disability. Hard
copy is over 200 pages of
A4. The online version is
updated weekly and is far
larger in content. The guide
has a regional bias with
much Wales-wide and UK
content. It includes
searchable database
features by topic, region
and keywords plus
feedback by members.
Enjoys around 2000 visits
per quarter and used by
social work professionals
and families alike.

All staff
maintain it but
we dedicate
some time per
week for this

weekly or
when
information is
presented

JOOMLA online
content

350 Many databases have
used Where You Stand
as the basis for their
content over the years.
We have been involved
in the development of
several LG resources
over the past two
decades. In addition to
around 350 groups and
organisations held
online a further 100
plus entries are
included relating to a
variety of services and
opportunities including
legislation and where to
go to seek assistance.

Cardiff FIS

P
age 231



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

32

Directory of Childcare
Provision (registered and
unregistered)

A range of information
about childcare provision in
Cardiff required by
customers to enable them
to make informed choices
about childcare provision
along with contact details
for settings. Information
used to inform Childcare
Sufficiency Assessments
(statutory duty of Local
Authority)

By FIS, By
identifiable
staff member

Providers
regularly
reminded of
the need to
update details
especially
when
required due
to changes to
service.

In house Cardiff
Council database
that can be
extracted to
Excel/PDF.

467

Directory of Family Support
Services

A range of information
about Support Services for
children, young people and
families in Cardiff to enable
customers to make
informed choices about
services available to meet
their needs along with
contact details for services.

By FIS, By
identifiable
staff member

Providers
regularly
reminded of
the need to
update details
especially
when
required due
to changes to
service.

In house Cardiff
Council database
that can be
extracted to
Excel/PDF.

294

P
age 232



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

33

Directory of Activities A range of information
about activities and play
provision in Cardiff to
enable customers to make
informed choices about
activities and play provision
with contact details for
settings. Information used
to inform Play Sufficiency
Assessments (statutory
duty of Local Authority)

By FIS, By
identifiable
staff member

Providers
regularly
reminded of
the need to
update details
especially
when
required due
to changes to
service.

In house Cardiff
Council database
that can be
extracted to
Excel/PDF.

70

Glamorgan Voluntary Services Directories

GVS Members Directory Contact details, area of
interest, brief description,
memberships related
information, confidentiality
option

Shared
responsibility
between staff

As and when
an
organisation
joins /
contacts GVS.
Also verified
annually

Access and Evol 487 Is specifically a
members databases for
purpose of charity
operations.

Cardiff and Vale Carers
Directory

A - Z of third sector, and
other services for carers.
Brief description of service
and contact details

GVS. Ceri
Venners and
Linda
Pritchard

Periodically -
dependent on
funding

Paper document
and PDF on line

150 Some duplication, but
this is specifically about
carers services.

Older Peoples Directory Brief description of service
and contact details. Listed
by type of service, eg.
advocacy, befriending.

GVS. Ceri
Venners and
Linda
Pritchard

Periodically -
dependent on
funding

Paper document
and PDF on line

Approx 180 Some duplication.

P
age 233



CONFIDE NTIAL D RAFT

34

Wales Council for Voluntary Action

WCVA Directory Broken into categories
based on type and size,
basic information,
company house / charity
number, active location,
summary

WCVA
contacts
directly on a
monthly basis
(Nigel Evans)

Monthly mail
outs - aim to
target entire
directory once
per year

SQL 4196 (includes
duplicates, and
potentially out of
date)

WCVA National Voluntary
Organisation Directory

Broken into categories
based on type and size,
basic information,
company house / charity
number, active location,
summary

WCVA
contacts
directly on a
monthly basis
(Nigel Evans)

Monthly mail
outs - aim to
target entire
directory once
per year

SQL 700 (National)

Community Database
(Library Service)

Name, description, times,
contact details, last
updated, associated costs,
other notes

Role of staff
within the
Library service

As and when
the library
service is
approached

Library
management
system - 'V Smart'

P
age 234



Early Help Strategy
Cardiff Partnership
Early Intervention & Prevention Steering Group

Making prevention everybody’s business
Cardiff Partnership is made up of organisations working together to address key 

issues and concerns for the people of Cardiff and to achieve our vision for the city.

Page 235



 

 

Cardiff Partnership 
Early Intervention & Prevention Steering Group 
 

Early Help Strategy 
 
FOREWORD - PREVENTION IS EVERYBODY'S BUSINESS 
This strategy marks the start of a new and exciting chapter in the development 
of services for children and families in need of support in Cardiff. This is true 
on a number of levels. 
 
Common Purpose - Outcome Focused 
This is the first time that Cardiff Children's Social Services has departed from 
a narrow focus on statutory functions and joined with its statutory and third 
sector partners to develop a coherently aligned strategy that is focused on 
prevention. This strategy aims to combine the skills, resources and 
commitment of all professionals in a unified way to deliver two key Outcomes.  
 
It reflects a genuine partnership in which no one agency has primacy but in 
which all are committed to: 
  
§ Reducing the number of children, young people and families requiring 

'remedial' support or intervention.  
§ 'Narrowing the gap' so that children achieve their potential. 
 
Evidence of 'What Works' 
The Implementation Plan which flows from this strategy is obviously key and 
sets out a wide range of initiatives to support children and families. All are 
based on national evidence of 'what works'. Many are services that already 
exist in Cardiff but which, as a result of this strategy, will be able to enhance 
their impact because the strategy links their offer and resources with others, 
into a coherent whole. Some are completely new initiatives based on the 
latest thinking elsewhere in the UK including Leeds (with whom we have been 
able to establish a 'development' relationship) Manchester, Essex, Newcastle 
and Blackburn and Darwen. We have taken advantage of the experience of 
national third sector partners - Action for Children, Barnardos and the NSPCC 
and their evidence of what works. All of the initiatives are designed to help 
children at the earliest stage of their lives when help can have a profound 
impact or at the earliest stage when difficulties are emerging - at the first sign 
of a given problem. 

1
Page 236



 

 

 
Fewer Looked after Children 
Delivering this commitment will have major implications for thousands of 
children over the next 5 years because it will mean fewer children's needs 
being met through the court arena, in the Looked After system or in the 
criminal justice system. More children will be able to enjoy family life in their 
own homes. 
 
Sustainable Futures - Cost Effective Services 
It will have major implications for agencies better able not only to sustain 
services in the face of considerable financial pressure but to deploy a greater 
proportion of those resources to much greater effect for the benefit of a 
greater number of children. Less spending large sums on a few children with 
poor overall outcomes; more of spending lower cost effective sums on a wider 
population of children whilst securing better outcomes. 
 
Empowering the Children's Workforce - Prevention is Everybody's 
Business 
It will potentially transform the working lives of hundreds of professionals who 
would much rather work with families to enable their success and to see 
children thrive at home, than they would spend their time in adversarial 
relationships using compulsory measures. More professionals will be able to 
work therapeutically to help children and families deal constructively with 
modern day pressures, rather than focusing on assessment and control. The 
strategy aims to break down the barriers between statutory intervention sitting 
within one or two agency boundaries and prevention taking place somewhere 
else. We all know that safeguarding is everybody's business but it must be a 
priority for all those working with children to make prevention their primary 
focus not least because effective prevention makes children safer. It also 
makes them healthier, better adjusted and able to learn and develop. 
Prevention is everybody's business too. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2
Page 237



 

 

 
A Very Big Challenge 
I cannot think of a more challenging set of aspirations than those set out in 
this strategy. The devil is in the detail and the implementation. There will 
undoubtedly be things that just don't succeed. Many individuals or situations 
will defy the most determined efforts to help. Some will sustain change and 
others will relapse but as professionals we will need to draw on the strength of 
the evidence base and have the courage of our convictions that 'prevention 
works', if we want to make a real and lasting difference. We know that there 
are already many well established services in Cardiff where we can evidence 
transformational success. This strategy aims to multiply that success and 
maximise the impact of different professionals and services by combining our 
efforts more effectively and focusing everyone who works with children on a 
common goal - prevention. 
 
This strategy has been developed as the result of the hard work of Cardiff 
Partnership's Early Intervention and & Prevention Steering Group. As the 
Chair of the Vulnerable Children and Families Board I am very grateful to the 
Steering Group and all of those who have contributed directly or in the course 
of consultation. The strategy reflects much of the latest evidence about 'what 
works'. It challenges us to 'Think Family' and respond to strengths and 
capacities rather than weaknesses and deficits. Designing services in keeping 
with these imperatives provides the underpinning value base that is the key to 
success. 
 
 
Tony Young 
Director of Children’s Services  
Chair - Vulnerable Children and Families Programme Board 

3
Page 238



 

 

 
Contents              Page 
 
Introduction           5
 
Strategic Objectives & Strategic Outcomes      5 
 
Background           8 
 
Messages from Research        8 
 
Parenting is Key          8 
 
Think Family Approach         8 
 
The Cardiff Context: Demography                10 
 
The Cardiff Context: Feedback from Stakeholders              11 
 
The Cardiff Context: Feedback from Parents and Carers             13 
 
Existing Programmes and Services                15 
 
Multi-agency Steering Group                 15 
 
Early Help                    16 
 
Approach                    18 
 
Key Principles                   19 
     
Implementation Plan                  21 
 
Appendices: 
 A: Summary Work Plan                 35 
 B: Spectrum of Needs and Services               36 

C: The Cardiff Context                 38 
D: Early Help Pathway                 40 
E: Early Help Planning & Assessment Pathway             41

 F: Principles Underpinning the Development of the       
     Family Plan                  42 
        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4
Page 239



 

 

 
Introduction  
This document has two key functions. It sets out the strategic direction for 
delivering a partnership approach to early help and provides guidance for 
everyone who works with children, young people and families in Cardiff in 
order that the strategic approach can be successfully implemented across the 
Cardiff Partnership. This includes teachers, health practitioners and Third 
Sector practitioners such as family support, early years practitioners, youth 
workers, play workers and social workers.  
 
It is about the way we can all work together, share information, and put the 
child and their family at the centre, to ensure that children and families receive 
the support they need at the right time and in the right way.  
 
At the heart of the Strategy which seeks to make prevention everyone’s 
business, are the following strategic objectives and outcomes: 
  
Strategic Objective 1 
§ Ensure that children & young people receive help at the lowest level or 

intervention that is safe and effective in promoting good outcomes. 
 
Strategic Objective 2 
§ Maximise the impact of Children’s (Social) Services by strengthening the 

effectiveness of social work intervention and specialist / targeted family 
support. 

 
Actions that address the requirements set out in the two key objectives above 
are detailed in the proposed summary work plan located at Appendix A.  It is 
expected that these actions will contribute to achieving the following strategic 
outcomes. 
 
Strategic Outcome 1 
§ To reduce the number of children, young people and their families requiring 

support at the “remedial” end of the Cardiff continuum of support to families 
(i.e. statutory services). See Appendix B – Spectrum of Need and 
Services for details. 

 
Strategic Outcome 2 
§ To narrow the gaps for children, young people and families at risk of poor 

outcomes in Cardiff and their peers.  

 
The approach is intended to benefit all children and young people what ever 
their level of need and as such it is inclusive of children with a disability. 
 
 
 

5
Page 240



 

 

 
The death of Victoria Climbie in February 2000 prompted a large and 
thorough review of UK child protection services, led by Lord Laming.  This 
highlighted the importance of multi-agency working and information sharing in 
order to protect children and prevent them from coming to harm.  As a result, 
a number of reforms came about as recommended in various publications and 
updated legislation. Organisations, both paid and unpaid, joined together to 
work more cooperatively towards a preventative and early intervention 
agenda.  
 
We all share in the responsibility for safeguarding and promoting the welfare 
of children and young people.  Working alongside other agencies is extremely 
effective for improving outcomes for children due to the cross cutting themes 
that organisations are able to come together over.  It’s by coming together to 
share information and raise concerns that we can increase the likelihood of 
protecting children from harm and promoting their welfare so that fewer 
children have to face the terrible circumstances of Victoria Climbie. 
 
In Cardiff we believe that every child and young person should have the 
opportunity to reach their potential. We recognise that outcomes for children 
are best when they are supported to grow and achieve within their own 
families and community as families understand their own children.  
 
Therefore, a key element to our approach to supporting children, young 
people and families in Cardiff is a commitment to early help. Our approach 
supporting children and families in Cardiff outlined in this guidance is 
underpinned by a commitment to early help approach through a range of 
evidence based interventions.  
 
We strive to develop a range of flexible and responsive services that meet the 
changing needs of the children, young people and families of our city. We 
recognise the need to move the focus away from managing short-term crises 
and towards effective intervention and support for children, young people and 
families and their families at an earlier stage.  
 
This is a multi-agency approach underpinned by the following principles: 
  

• Wherever possible all children’s and families’ needs will be met within 
universal settings (e.g. early years, health visiting, schools, GPs etc).  

 
• As soon as any practitioner is aware that a child has any additional 

needs he/she will talk to that child and their family and offer advice and 
support to meet that need.  

 
• Families will be empowered to identify their own problems, needs and 

solutions. In most cases, outcomes for children will only be improved 
by supporting and assisting parents/carers to make the changes 
identified by them with practitioners.  

 
 
 

6
Page 241



 

 

 
• Our approach will be to work with families, “doing with” rather than “doing 

for” or “doing to”, offering support and services that help families find their 
own sustainable solutions. The vehicle for delivering services in this way 
will be Restorative Approaches – a well evaluated approach to working 
with families that has been tried and tested both locally and on a national 
scale with positive outcomes. 

• Effective interventions are dependent on doing the following steps: See, 
assess, plan, do and review. 

 
• Once improvement is made, services will reduce or end so as not to 

create dependence.  
 
• Our aim is always to build resilience in children and families and the 

capacity to overcome their own difficulties for the remainder of their lives.  
 
The Cardiff Partnership is committed to working to achieve the objectives set 
out in this Strategy. Member agencies of the Vulnerable Children and Families 
Board have all signed up to the Strategy and progress regarding its 
implementation will be closely monitored by the Board.   
 
The Strategy is expected to be launched in September 2015 where wider 
partner agencies will be asked to pledge their support to ensure that families 
in Cardiff receive the help they need at the time they need it. It is recognised 
that providing the right level of support at the right time for families, wherever 
they live in Cardiff is a challenge but with the support and commitment of 
partners, we believe that we will move closer to this goal over the next three 
years as the Early Help Strategy becomes embedded in practice. 

7
Page 242



 

 

 
Background 
The growing interest in early intervention and prevention reflects the 
widespread recognition that it is better to identify problems early and intervene 
effectively to prevent their escalation than to respond only when the difficulty 
has become so acute as to demand action. It is better for the individuals 
concerned, their families and society more broadly; it avoids a lot of personal 
suffering, reduces social problems and generally, it costs less than remedial 
action.  
 
Messages from Research 
The most striking message coming from research  is that early intervention 
works – when it is an appropriate intervention, applied well, following timely 
identification of a problem; and the earlier the better to secure maximum 
impact and greatest long term sustainability (both as early in the child’s life as 
possible and/or as soon as possible after a difficulty becomes apparent). In 
recent years there has been a shift in policy, which is now placing greater 
emphasis on supporting adults in their parenting role.  
 
Parenting is Key 
Parents are the most significant influence on children, and parenting has 
profound consequences for their future lives, so it is important to persuade 
parents that engaging in their child’s development can make a difference, and 
to build positively on their existing strengths and actively involve them in 
decisions.  
 
Most parents need support of some kind at some time and we know from our 
local experience as well as from national research that effective parenting 
support does help improve parenting.  We also know that disadvantage is not 
a block to good parenting but low levels of literacy and numeracy and 
confidence are obstacles, and self-perception contributes to parents’ 
motivation to change – so it is particularly important to persuade such parents 
to engage with support services by convincing them that they can bring real 
and lasting benefits to their children.  
 
Think Family Approach 
Some parents have additional needs in their own right that impact on their 
ability to meet the needs of their children. Successful services for families with 
a parent with an additional need such as a mental health problem or a 
learning disability will: 

• promote resilience and the wellbeing of all family members, now and in the 
future 

• offer appropriate support to avoid crises and will manage them well if they 
arise 

• secure child safety. 

 

8
Page 243



 

 

 
The Think Family approach therefore encourages the development of services 
that: 
• offer an open door into a system of joined-up support at every point of entry 
• look at the whole family and co-ordinate care 
• provide support that is tailored to need 
• build on family strengths. 

 

9
Page 244



 

 

 
The Cardiff Context: Demography 
Cardiff is a city of 350,000 people that sits at the heart of the wider Cardiff 
Urban Zone in the South East of Wales. Cardiff contains areas of both 
significant affluence in the north of the city, as well as deep and longstanding 
areas of social-economic disadvantage, mostly located in what is known as 
the “Southern Arc”. However, within less deprived areas there are also 
pockets of hidden deprivation. As Wales’s largest city with its diverse 
population, it compares more easily with other cities across the UK including 
Sheffield, Manchester City and Newcastle. 
 
Whilst Cardiff’s Looked After Children (LAC) population per 10,000 children is 
at 84 lower than the Welsh average of 91, the population is higher than many 
comparable UK cities such as Sheffield which is 47 per 10,000 and Bristol 
which is 77 per 10,000. 

At the end of 2014, Cardiff had 1576 Children in Need, 297 children subject to 
a child protection plan and 651 LAC. Historically, Cardiff’s LAC rate has 
remained relatively consistent over time. The trend suggests that in the future 
the rate of LAC will continue to be relatively static. Given the level of Super 
Output Areas which are in the 10 per cent most deprived in Wales, Cardiff has 
a relatively low rate of Looked After Children.  

Cardiff has experienced a large increase in the proportion of lower layer super 
output areas that are very deprived (i.e. in the 10% most deprived in Wales) 
but, interestingly, a decrease in relatively deprived communities (i.e. in the 
30% most deprived in Wales). Over this period of time, the LAC rate in Cardiff 
has remained relatively stable. The data presents mixed messages about how 
Cardiff compares to other local authorities. In the Welsh context, the numbers 
and rates in Cardiff may be lower than might be expected. In the English 
context, the numbers and rates in Cardiff are relatively in-line with others. This 
reinforces the findings from other research that there is no ‘ideal’ number or 
rate of Looked After Children, nor is there a ‘scientific’ approach to identifying 
whether numbers/rates are ‘too high’ or ‘too low’. 

At the end of August 2012, almost a quarter, (24.6%) of children in Cardiff 
were living in low income families, which exceeded the proportions for both 
Wales (20.8%) and the UK (18.7%). However, this overall figure of 24.6%, 
ranged from just 3.2% in Rhiwbina to more than two-fifths in Ely (44.0%), with 
sixteen of Cardiff’s twenty-one electoral divisions exceeding the proportion for 
Wales (20.8%). When looking at the distribution of children of low-income 
families by Lower Super Output Area (LSOA), it can be seen that the highest 
levels were mainly concentrated within the Southern Arc of the city, in 
particular Ely and Adamsdown. A total of five LSOAs had more than half of 
their children living in low-income families: Plasnewydd 4 (55.7%), Ely 5 
(55.2%), Pentwyn 3 (53.6%0, Ely 2, (51.0%), and Adamsdown 2 (50.7%). 

 
 
 

10
Page 245



 

 

To summarise, Cardiff is a city of huge contrasts. In some parts of the city 
significant numbers of children, young people and families are living in relative 
poverty. We know from research that poverty impacts on children’s physical 
and mental health, accident rates, education achievement and opportunities 
for social inclusion. Bringing children up in areas of deprivation creates 
additional stresses for parents and carers, with money worries and worries 
about children’s safety coming out as the highest concerns when research 
was undertaken to inform the Family Support Strategy in 2008-11.  
 
Appendix C provides a summary of additional key demographic data, socio-
economic factors and well-being indicators that affect Cardiff’s children, young 
people and their families  
 
The Cardiff Context: Feedback from Stakeholders  
In April 2014 Cordis Bright was commissioned by the City of Cardiff Council to 
undertake a review of the numbers of LAC within the Cardiff area. It focused 
on three main aspects:  
 
• the effectiveness of services in preventing children from needing to be 

looked after 
• the effectiveness of services in improving the outcomes for children who 

are looked after; and  
• the effectiveness of services in rehabilitating children out of care, The 

review involved a wide range of stakeholders both from within and outside 
the Council.  

 
A number of stakeholders at practitioner and management levels were 
consulted as part of this research. This included representatives from 
statutory services (i.e. Health, Education & Children’s Services), Third Sector 
providers including Families First providers, and Flying Start.   Most 
stakeholders reported that partnership working had started to improve both 
within the Council and between the Council and other agencies.  However, 
during fieldwork, there was a general agreement from stakeholders that 
partnership working in Cardiff is starting from a low base. 
 
Improvements were seen to be directly connected to changes at senior 
leadership level within the Council but some stakeholders noted that the 
financial pressures felt by all agencies working with families were starting to 
motivate people to think about how improved partnership working could 
impact positively on efficiency and effectiveness (e.g. remove duplication, 
developing common approaches to practice, sharing resources). Other 
stakeholders expressed concern that growing financial pressures could 
jeopardise partnership working, by reducing the amount of time individuals  
have available to invest in partnership working and by organisations focusing 
on ‘core business’ only.  
 
 
 
 
 

11
Page 246



 

 

A number of stakeholders agreed that the scope and nature of partnership 
working was affected by not having a clear, common and shared purpose for 
children, young people and families (including the most vulnerable children, 
young people and families) across Cardiff. This lack of an explicit strategy or 
shared objectives was felt to result in a lack of clarity about roles, 
responsibilities, aspirations and expectations for children, young people and 
their families. There was general agreement across stakeholders that the 
situation was not sustainable and that greater partnership working was 
desirable. 
 
Decisions made in 2013/14 to de-commission some prevention and early 
intervention services had left stakeholders feeling disappointed. Stakeholders 
involved in Families First reported that they rarely saw an explicit connection 
between the work of this programme and for example, reducing the numbers 
of LAC. A number of stakeholders (at practitioner and management levels) 
reported that, in the past, previous senior leaders within the Council viewed 
the core business of the directorate as social care and tended to minimise 
prevention and early intervention. As a result, it was felt that the scale and 
nature of prevention and early intervention services was relatively embryonic 
and did not appear to extend significantly beyond services funded by Families 
First.  

However, a large number of stakeholders highlighted the importance of 
prevention and early intervention and that they were keen for this to be 
improved, radically and quickly. They saw new senior leaders as being more 
bought into the prevention and early intervention agenda.  
 
In summary stakeholders: 

• recognised that the relationship between statutory services and Families 
First needs to be improved and, in particular, the protocol and processes 
for step-up (to statutory services) and step-down (to Families First from 
statutory services) needs to be more clearly established.  

• expressed concern that when prevention and early intervention support is 
available this tends to be time-limited and, in many cases, withdraws too 
soon.  

• acknowledged that the ability to step-down from specialist placements is 
limited. In particular, social workers were concerned about a lack of highly 
trained, specialist foster carers that would enable looked after  

• children to be stepped-down to less institutionalised provision. As part of 
this, social workers talked about some looked after children being ‘stuck in 
the system’. 

 

 

 

12
Page 247



 

 

 

• experienced a relatively high degree of discomfort about the level of risk 
being held by families outside of statutory services. These stakeholders 
reported that thresholds and workloads are so high that a number of 
families who would benefit from support are not getting the interventions 
required at the time they need it. As a result, these families are subject to a 
higher level of risk than might be appropriate. 

• Identified that a lack of services and support at lower tiers further 
exacerbate the level of risk held by families.  Stakeholders highlighted that 
this tends to result in crisis-management and significant-event driven 
approach to decision-making. This, in turn, affects the nature of 
interventions undertaken with families (i.e. a tendency to use emergency 
orders and external placements when a child became looked after). It also 
results in some cases – especially long-term, chronic neglect – being 
overlooked. 

• observed that once accepted by statutory social services, other agencies 
would tend to withdraw from the family and/or become more risk averse. In 
many respects, these stakeholders saw these two trends as inter-
connected.  

In reality there may not be such a lack of services and support at lower tiers 
rather than a lack of knowledge, publicity and coordination of the services that 
are in place. this is further made worse by the lack of an obvious front door to 
accessing preventative services. 
 
However, overall there were mixed messages from stakeholders about the 
nature and level of the commitment to prevention and early intervention 
across Cardiff.  Stakeholders placed considerable value on the development 
of an Early Help Strategy that is able to articulate a continuum of support for 
families and, in particular, details the contribution of prevention and early 
intervention initiatives.  
 
The Cardiff Context: Feedback from Parents & Carers 
Engagement with parents and carers to inform the development of the early 
Help Strategy has been undertaken through dialogue with established 
parenting groups that regularly meet across the city. This has included groups 
of parents undertaking evidence-based programmes, and parents and carers 
who meet because of their special interest (e.g. parents of disabled children) 
or because of their specific circumstances (e.g. young parents). 

 

 

 

 

13
Page 248



 

 

Key messages that parents and carers have feedback as part of the 
consultation process are as follows: 

• It is challenging to access information about the availability of services. 
Whilst some parents access the internet their experience was that it is not 
always easy to source the information they are looking for.  Many parents / 
carers do not have internet access at home and do not have the time to go 
to community locations such as Hubs or Libraries to use public internet 
facilities.  

• Most parents / carers who were consulted said that they preferred to 
receive information about services via leaflets that come straight into their 
home. The information is most helpful when it clearly sets out who can 
access services, and when and where the service is offered.  

• Parents interviewed said that on the whole they preferred receiving 
services from centres in their local community. If they have to go outside of 
their local community they would prefer to access something in the centre 
of Cardiff rather then having to travel to other parts of the city.  

• Many parents / carers said that they find it frustrating when they build up 
the confidence to pick up the phone and make a call to services that say 
they are open certain hours to find that their call is diverted to an answer-
phone. Parents / carers therefore see it as important that services are 
responsive and available at the times they need to access them. They don’t 
want to have to leave messages and their experience is that when they 
have left a message, their calls have sometimes not been returned so 
many do not have confidence that organisations will phone them back. 

• Most parents / carers relied on professionals such as Health Visitors to 
provide them with information about services and assistance to link them in 
to services. All said it was crucial that professionals / workers were well 
informed about what services are available as often they are the ones that 
parents / carers rely on to let them know what is out there. 

• Most parents / carers thought that a single pathway into services was a 
good idea. They liked the idea of one assessment process that sits below 
Children’s Services that would be familiar to them. They liked the fact that 
this would mean that they did not have to tell their story over and over to 
different service providers and that the assessment had portability and 
could travel with them and be updated as their needs changed. 

• They liked the idea of a lead worker to co-ordinate support but were 
concerned about what would happen when that individual is not in work for 
a period of time. They would like the system to recognise this and to build 
in appropriate cover. 

• Parents / carers acknowledged that it takes a lot of confidence to pick up 
the phone to access a service or call into a centre. They acknowledged that 
some parents can’t do this and so it is important that information comes to 
them and that they can access services in their own home if they don’t 
have the confidence to attend a group. 

 
 
 
 

14
Page 249



 

 

• Some parents / carers were concerned that some services are only 
available to certain catchments / neighbourhoods and that there were gaps 
in provision for some areas of the city (for example, non-Flying start areas). 
They felt that unless access to services is clearly explained and publicised, 
in a way that is accessible to all parents / carers, there will be confusion 
regarding what services some groups of parents / carers can and can’t 
access and this uncertainty or lack of clarity may put some parents off 
seeking advice or trying to access services at all. 

 
Existing Programmes and Services 
Cardiff has a range of family support services, some provided by statutory 
agencies and others by the Third Sector. A significant number of these are 
funded via Welsh Government initiatives such as Families First, Flying Start, 
Integrated Family Support Services (IFSS) and Communities First. 
 
The importance of agencies working in partnership to meet the needs of 
children and families lies at the heart of the Welsh Government’s policy for 
Families First, Flying Start and IFSS and we have seen direct changes in 
approach to service development and delivery in the form of multi-disciplinary 
teams working with children and families and developments in the way 
children and their families needs are assessed (e.g. Joint Assessment Family 
Framework – JAFF).  
 
Multi-Agency Steering Group 
The Early Intervention & Prevention Steering Group and the Team Around the 
Family (TAF) Interface Sub-group has developed this strategy to promote and 
facilitate intervening early and as soon as possible to tackle problems 
emerging for children, young people and their families, or with a population 
most at risk of developing problems. The work of the two groups aimed to 
ensure that families receive the most appropriate support to meet their needs 
at the earliest opportunity, in order to secure better outcomes and the cost 
effective delivery of services. The work of the Steering Group has built upon 
work previously undertaken within the context of the Family Support Strategy 
(FSS), taking account of the key priorities of the FSS whilst addressing current 
requirements arising from Welsh Government initiatives such as Communities 
First, Flying Start, Families First and IFSS.  
 
The following over-arching actions have underpinned the multi-agency work 
that has laid the foundations for the development of this Early Help Strategy  
and its success will be measured against the establishment and effectiveness 
of the following features:  
 
• development of effective local systems to identify vulnerable families and to 

coordinate support from a rage of agencies 
• the review and analysis of existing ways of working in order to strengthen 

and improve local arrangements for multi-agency planning and risk 
management. 

• establishing a mechanism for measuring achievement against agreed 
outcomes and monitoring and reviewing impact.  

 

15
Page 250



 

 

 
• development (design and commission) of targeted prevention work and 

early intervention services using evidence of what works and for which 
children.  

 
Early Help 
Engagement of partners in the Steering Group has been positive and work 
has been undertaken to develop a common language that describes 
preventative support as “Early Help” with a focus on support rather that 
assessment. It promotes the right conversations taking place at the right time, 
between the right people. 
  
The work has embraced the approach that early help may occur at any point 
in a child or young person’s life and includes both interventions early in life as 
well as interventions early in the development of a problem. We seek to offer 
support early to help families solve problems or to reduce the impact of 
problems that have already emerged.  
 
It also recognises that for children whose needs and circumstances make 
them more vulnerable a coordinated multi-disciplinary approach is usually 
best, and work has been undertaken to develop an Early Help Pathway for 
accessing services and an Early Help Assessment and Planning Process 
with a Lead worker to work closely with the child and family to ensure they 
receive all the support they require. The approach relies on a range of 
Targeted Services being available to support these interventions (e.g. Flying 
Start, Families First).  The approach recognises that Specialist Services will 
be provided where the needs of the child are so great that statutory and/or 
specialist intervention is required to keep them safe or to ensure their 
continued development. The draft Early Help Pathway is located at Appendix 
D, the draft Early Help Assessment and Planning Pathway is located at 
Appendix E and the Spectrum of Need and Services is attached at Appendix 
B for information 
 
A common approach has been designed for developing Family Plans and 
a set of principles underpinning the development of the Family Plan 
is located at Appendix F. It is intended that a Family Plan will be shaped with 
the family throughout the initial engagement and assessment process, 
drawing together information from existing assessments and making sense of 
the interplay between the factors affecting individuals in the family and their 
impact on the way that the family functions. As the assessment will be 
underpinned by restorative principles, so the development of the Family Plan 
must also be underpinned by restorative principles, identifying and building on 
the family’s strengths. 
 
The Multi-agency Steering Group will continue with its work plan to support 
the implementation of this Early Help Strategy led by Children’s Services with 
contributions from key stakeholders that make up the Cardiff Partnership.  
 
 
 

16
Page 251



 

 

 
Children’s (Social) Services Investment in Family Support 
Children’s Services provide a range of Family Support Services that fall within 
the Remedy segment of the Spectrum of Need and Services attached at 
Appendix B. These services delivered via the Integrated Family Support 
Team (IFST) and the Family Intervention and Support Services (FISS) are 
provided where the needs of the child are so great that statutory and/or 
specialist intervention is required to keep them safe or to ensure their 
continued development.  The IFST provide a crisis intervention service 
working with families where there are serious child protection concerns 
relating to parental/Carer substance misuse. FISS are often delivered as part 
of statutory intervention such as a Child in Need or Child Protection Plan with 
the aim of: 
 
• preventing children’s names being placed on the Child Protection Register 

or supporting families to enable de-registration of children whose names 
are on the Child Protection Register and  

• reducing the need for children to be accommodated in public care and 
reunifying families where children have become Looked After and the form 
whom the plan is a return home 

• prevent the need for legal intervention (e.g. Care Proceedings). 
 
In order to strengthen the approach to Early Help across the Partnership and 
to secure the timeliness of progress against the key tasks required for the 
successful implementation of the Early Help Strategy set out in the Summary 
Work Plan located at Appendix A and the Action Plan that accompanies 
this Strategy.  Children’s Services has reconfigured existing funding to create 
two dedicated posts that will be responsible for progressing key elements of 
the Early Help Strategy. 
 
• Prevention & Partnerships - Improvement Project Manager will lead on 

the development of Cardiff’s Early Help Strategy, promoting best practice in 
the delivery of Early Help Services across Cardiff and facilitating effective 
partnership working in the delivery of Early Help Provision. 

• Social Work Services - Improvement Project Manager will lead on the 
remodelling and implementation of Social Work Services to meet changing 
need and promote strengths based approaches. The post will contribute to 
the development and implementation of a Multi-Agency Safeguarding hub, 
promote best practice in the delivery of Children’s Social Work Services 
across Cardiff and facilitate effective partnership working in the delivery of 
the new practice model. 

 
Additionally the realignment of the Family Intervention and Support Service 
(FISS) Manager’s duties will create additional capacity to provide a strategic 
lead for the re-alignment of Children’s Services preventative services and 
implementation of the Preventative Strategy in relation to extending targeted 
interventions. 
 
 
 

17
Page 252



 

 

 
Finally, additional resources have been secured via the City of Cardiff Council, 
the Vale of Glamorgan Council and the Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board to drive the agreed transformational change programme for integrated 
working across Cardiff & Vale of Glamorgan Councils and the University 
Health Board, taking lead responsibility for the successful and safe 
implementation of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) Integrated 
Children’s Services Programme. Crucially, for the Early Help Strategy, this will 
include the development of a new service model for disabled children, based 
on the key concepts associated with a 0-25 yr old service model; 
encompassing an improved and effective approach to transition; single 
integrated operational delivery arrangements between partners; enhanced 
cost effectiveness particularly in relation to external commissioning for 
community based support and residential or similar placements; incorporating 
requirements arising from education led changes to the additional needs 
policy.  
 
Approach 
This Early Help Strategy seeks to develop an approach that supports the 
effective co-ordinated delivery of early intervention and prevention family 
support services that addresses the interface issues between Flying Start, 
Families First, Children’s Services (including IFSS) and the wider provision of 
support to families in Cardiff. The approach will, 
 
• adopt a whole family (or Think Family) approach, that seeks to address 

the additional needs of parents that impact on their ability to meet the 
needs of their children, whilst keeping the child or young person firmly at 
the centre of any intervention. 

• provide a framework that ensures that services intervene at the earliest 
opportunity in order to secure the best outcomes for children, young 
people and families 

• ensure that appropriate safeguards are taken that ensure children, young 
people and families are effectively safeguarded by all of the agencies and 
staff that work with them 

• work together to reduce duplication in areas such as the assessments of 
need and to close gaps in provision between the tiers of services that 
target low, medium and high levels of need  / provide prevention, 
protection and remedy.  

• ensure children, young people and families will be supported to participate 
in key early intervention and prevention processes 

• ensure that the views and experiences of children, young people and 
families inform and influence the design and delivery of services 

• use evidence-based practice to inform planning for future service 
provision 

• facilitate joint working and information sharing between all agencies with 
an interest in integrated working to support children, young people and 
their families. 

 
 
 

18
Page 253



 

 

 
• ensure that arrangements put in place meet the requirements set out in 

the Social Service and Well-being (SS&WB) Act 2014 for the Local 
Authority and Health Board to ensure that the range and level of services 
provided locally are able to meet the care and support needs identified 
and that the range of preventative service available are able to 
appropriately prevent, delay or reduce needs for care and support of 
Cardiff’s most vulnerable children, young people and families ; 

 
Key Principles 
The approach to providing Early Help will be underpinned by the following 
key principles: 
 
1. Outcomes Based– the approach focuses on clear and measurable 

outcomes for children, related to the SS&WB Act Outcomes Framework 
 
2. A Strengths Based Approach -   Children do best at home. The 

evidence base is clear that unless parenting capacity is irrevocably 
deficient, children do better when they are brought up by their families. 
The approach will focus on families’ strengths and on supporting parents 
to achieve this wherever this is realistic and possible. 

 
3. Targeted Early Help & Early Intervention for the most Vulnerable –  

the strategy encompasses the development of an approach that 
integrates support that is provided to enable growth and development of 
children in their early years (e.g. Flying Start) with targeted interventions 
that are designed to stop emergent concerns from becoming acute or 
entrenched (e.g. IFST, Family Group Conference, Therapeutic 
interventions).   

 
4. Commissioning & Research Methodology in Children’s (Social) 

Services – the approach will be developed on the basis of the 
commissioning cycle. It will take as its starting point the available local 
data that analyses need at a population level. This will be mediated by a 
close historical analysis of a representative Children’s Services casework 
cohort. The purpose of this analysis is to identify patterns in the nature of 
decision making over the lifetime of cases; to identify opportunities to 
intervene that were either missed or not available to caseworkers; and to 
enable the strategy to target new service development at critical 
preventative or rehabilitative opportunities in the pathway from referral to 
leaving care. 

 
5. Evidence Based Practice – the development of new initiatives or the re-

targeting of resources will be based on robustly evaluated evidence of 
‘what works’. 

 

19
Page 254



 

 

 
6. Partnership Approach– Partnership commitment to re-targeting 

available partner resources in favour of reducing demand or de-escalating 
intervention to the lowest point necessary will be critical to the success of 
the Strategy. Key characteristics of effective integrated working that need 
to be in place everywhere include having a shared vision, clear 
understanding of needs and identification of gaps, sharp focus on 
improving outcomes for children, young people and families, clear and 
consistent messages communicated to staff and families, and an 
underpinning integrated workforce development strategy. Time needs to 
be invested to build trust, strong relationships and, ultimately, to secure 
buy-in from all agencies. 

 
7. Connectedness  – the approach will take account of wider cross-

directorate and cross partnership strategies and initiatives to maximise 
synergy and impact (Communities First, EETS, Safer Communities, 
Neighbourhood Partnerships, Troubled Families). 

 
8. Effective and Meaningful Engagement with Children, Young People 

and the Parents / Carers – Via the use of bespoke focus groups, as well 
as accessing existing groups in which parents and carers, and children, 
young people and families will be able to actively participate in the 
implementation of the approach and feedback their views and suggestions 
for on-going review and evaluation of the related outcomes. 

 
9. Effective Workforce Development - Local evidence suggests that 

professionals in all kinds of settings may lack confidence and experience 
in working directly with parents and families, particularly if they are 
disadvantaged. Continuing investment in developing workforce skills and 
capacity is essential to effectively engage with parents. Some 
interventions, particularly those involving outreach or intensive support, 
require changes of practice to enable services to be offered out of ‘normal’ 
hours in order to meet families’ needs. These often involve specialist staff 
working closely with colleagues from other agencies, with a lead 
professional or lead worker providing consistent support. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20
Page 255



 

 

 
Implementation Plan 

The key actions required for implementing the strategy are set out in an 
Action plan that accompanies this Strategy. The plan identifies actions that 
are: 
 
• achievable within 6 months of the strategy launch (highlighted in blue), 
• actions that can be achieved within 12-18 months of strategy launch 

(highlighted in pink) and  
• actions achievable within 3 years (highlighted in green). 
 
The Plan also sets out the expected impact / outcomes related to each of the 
specified actions. 
 
Key to delivering the strategy is partnership working and the plan sets out not 
only the leads for the actions but the organisations / individuals who have 
been identified to support the lead in achieving the action and its expected 
outcome. 
 
It is intended that baseline data will be set during the first year of the plan, with 
progress targets being set in the second year with the expectation that annual 
improvements will be noted from the second year onwards.  
 
Progress against the key actions outlined in the plan will be monitored via the 
Early Intervention and Prevention Steering Group with quarterly reports to the 
Vulnerable Children and Families Programme Board. Progress will also be 
reported on an annual basis to the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny 
Committee.  

21
Page 256



  
 

Ea
rly

 H
el

p 
St

ra
te

gy
 Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

Pl
an

 2
01

5 
– 

20
18

 
 

O
bj

ec
tiv

e 
1 

 En
su

re
 th

at
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

&
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

re
ce

iv
e 

he
lp

 a
t t

he
 lo

w
es

t l
ev

el
 o

r i
nt

er
ve

nt
io

n 
th

at
 is

 s
af

e 
an

d 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

in
 p

ro
m

ot
in

g 
go

od
 o

ut
co

m
es

 
  1.

 Im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

e 
ra

ng
e 

an
d 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 E
ar

ly
 H

el
p 

by
: 

A
ct

io
n 

Le
ad

 
Su

pp
or

te
d 

B
y 

M
et

ho
d 

M
ea

su
re

s 
Ex

pe
ct

ed
 

O
ut

co
m

es
 

1.
1 

D
ev

el
op

 a
n 

E
ar

ly
 

H
el

p 
P

at
hw

ay
 th

at
 

m
ee

ts
 a

ll 
le

ve
ls

 o
f 

ne
ed

 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
je

ct
 

M
an

ag
er

 –
 

pr
ev

en
tio

n 
&

 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s 

M
em

be
rs

 o
f E

ar
ly

 
In

te
rv

en
tio

n 
&

 
P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
S

te
er

in
g 

gr
ou

p 
(E

I&
P

) 

• 
Fo

cu
s 

gr
ou

ps
 / 

w
or

ks
ho

ps
/E

I&
P

 
S

te
er

in
g 

G
ro

up
 

m
ee

tin
gs

 

• 
E

ar
ly

 H
el

p 
P

at
hw

ay
 (P

ro
ce

ss
 

M
ap

) i
n 

pl
ac

e.
 

• 
Im

pa
ct

 o
n 

re
fe

rr
al

s 
to

 C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
 

• 
Fa

m
ili

es
 re

ce
iv

e 
th

e 
su

pp
or

t t
he

y 
re

qu
ire

 a
t t

he
 

tim
e 

th
ey

 n
ee

d 
it.

 
• 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 
re

fe
rr

al
s 

to
 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
1.

2 
D

ev
el

op
 a

n 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t a
nd

 
P

la
nn

in
g 

P
at

hw
ay

 
th

at
 id

en
tif

ie
s 

a 
co

m
m

on
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
m

ec
ha

ni
sm

 (e
.g

. J
oi

nt
 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t f

am
ily

 
Fr

am
ew

or
k)

 fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 fa

m
ili

es
 

w
ho

 d
o 

no
t r

eq
ui

re
 a

 
st

at
ut

or
y 

se
rv

ic
e.

 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
je

ct
 

M
an

ag
er

 –
 

P
re

ve
nt

io
n 

&
 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 

M
em

be
rs

 o
f E

ar
ly

 
In

te
rv

en
tio

n 
&

 
P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
S

te
er

in
g 

gr
ou

p 
(E

I&
P

) 

• 
Fo

cu
s 

gr
ou

ps
 / 

w
or

ks
ho

ps
 / 

E
I&

P
 

S
te

er
in

g 
G

ro
up

 
m

ee
tin

gs
 

• 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t &
 

P
la

nn
in

g 
P

at
hw

ay
 

(P
ro

ce
ss

 M
ap

) i
n 

pl
ac

e 

• 
Fa

m
ili

es
’ n

ee
ds

 
ar

e 
as

se
ss

ed
 

us
in

g 
th

e 
JA

FF
 

un
le

ss
 th

ey
 

re
qu

ire
 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

(S
oc

ia
l) 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
in

te
rv

en
tio

n.
 

C
an

 b
e 

ac
hi

ev
ed

 w
ith

in
 6

 m
on

th
s 

of
 

st
ra

te
gy

 la
un

ch
 

 
 

C
an

 b
e 

ac
hi

ev
ed

 w
ith

in
 1

2-
18

 m
on

th
s 

of
 

st
ra

te
gy

 la
un

ch
 

A
ch

ie
va

bl
e 

w
ith

in
 3

 y
ea

rs
 

 

22
Page 257



1.
3 

A
gr

ee
 a

nd
 

im
pl

em
en

t a
 c

om
m

on
 

ap
pr

oa
ch

 to
 th

e 
Fa

m
ily

 P
la

n 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
je

ct
 

M
an

ag
er

 –
 

P
re

ve
nt

io
n 

&
 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 

M
em

be
rs

 o
f E

ar
ly

 
In

te
rv

en
tio

n 
&

 
P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
S

te
er

in
g 

gr
ou

p 
(E

I&
P

) 

• 
Fo

cu
s 

gr
ou

ps
 / 

w
or

ks
ho

ps
 / 

E
I&

P
 

S
te

er
in

g 
gr

ou
p 

m
ee

tin
gs

 

• 
A

 F
am

ily
 P

la
n 

te
m

pl
at

e 
is

 in
 p

la
ce

 
an

d 
th

er
e 

is
 

ev
id

en
ce

 o
f u

se
 b

y 
a 

ra
ng

e 
of

 
ag

en
ci

es
.  

• 
Fa

m
ili

es
’ n

ee
ds

 
ar

e 
m

et
 th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

of
 

a 
st

re
ng

th
’s

 
ba

se
d 

Fa
m

ily
 

P
la

n 
1.

4 
S

tre
ng

th
en

 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 fo

r 
m

ul
ti-

ag
en

cy
 p

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

ris
k 

m
an

ag
em

en
t 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
 a

 
Le

ad
 w

or
ke

r r
ol

e 
fo

r 
in

te
rv

en
tio

ns
 th

at
 s

it 
be

lo
w

 C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
th

re
sh

ol
ds

 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
je

ct
 

M
an

ag
er

 –
 

P
re

ve
nt

io
n 

&
 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 

M
em

be
rs

 o
f e

ar
ly

 
In

te
rv

en
tio

n 
&

 
P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
S

te
er

in
g 

G
ro

up
 

• 
Fo

cu
s 

gr
ou

ps
 / 

w
or

ks
ho

ps
/E

I&
P

 
S

te
er

in
g 

G
ro

up
 

m
ee

tin
gs

 

• 
A

 m
ul

ti-
ag

en
cy

 
pl

an
ni

ng
 &

 ri
sk

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t t
oo

l 
is

 in
 p

la
ce

 a
nd

 
th

er
e 

is
 e

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 u

se
 b

y 
a 

ra
ng

e 
of

 a
ge

nc
ie

s.
 

• 
A

ll 
fa

m
ili

es
 w

ho
 

re
ce

iv
e 

su
pp

or
t 

ha
ve

 a
n 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
le

ad
 

w
or

ke
r t

o 
co

or
di

na
te

 th
e 

su
pp

or
t. 

1.
5 

Im
pl

em
en

tin
g 

th
e 

C
ar

di
ff 

P
ar

en
tin

g 
Fr

am
ew

or
k 

th
at

 s
ee

ks
 

to
 s

up
po

rt 
th

e 
de

liv
er

y 
of

 a
 ra

ng
e 

of
 

E
vi

de
nc

e-
ba

se
d 

pa
re

nt
in

g 
in

te
rv

en
tio

ns
 fo

r 
fa

m
ili

es
 w

ith
 a

 ra
ng

e 
of

 le
ve

ls
 o

f n
ee

d 
an

d 
m

on
ito

rs
 im

pa
ct

. 

P
ar

en
tin

g 
C

o-
or

di
na

to
r 

A
ge

nc
ie

s 
de

liv
er

in
g 

P
ar

en
tin

g 
S

up
po

rt 
• 

P
ar

en
tin

g 
P

ra
ct

iti
on

er
 / 

M
an

ag
er

 m
ee

tin
gs

 

• 
R

an
ge

 a
nd

 le
ve

l o
f 

ev
id

en
ce

-b
as

ed
 

pa
re

nt
in

g 
pr

og
ra

m
m

es
 

de
liv

er
ed

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

ci
ty

. 
• 

P
ro

gr
es

s 
re

po
rts

 
on

 ta
sk

s 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

in
 P

ar
en

tin
g 

Fr
am

ew
or

k 
A

ct
io

n 
P

la
n.

 

• 
P

ar
en

ts
 / 

ca
re

rs
 

w
ho

 re
qu

ire
 

pa
re

nt
in

g 
su

pp
or

t a
re

 a
bl

e 
to

 a
cc

es
s 

an
 

ev
id

en
ce

d-
ba

se
d 

gr
ou

p 
or

 
in

di
vi

du
al

 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
at

 
th

e 
rig

ht
 ti

m
e 

in
 

or
de

r t
ha

t t
he

ir 
ne

ed
s 

ar
e 

m
et

 
in

 a
 ti

m
el

y 
w

ay
. 

           

23
Page 258



  1.
6 

U
nd

er
ta

ke
 a

 
re

vi
ew

 to
 U

pd
at

e 
th

e 
Fa

m
ily

 In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

S
er

vi
ce

 (F
IS

) F
am

ily
 

S
up

po
rt 

D
ire

ct
or

y 
to

 
en

su
re

 m
at

er
ia

l h
el

d 
on

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
is

 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

, 
ac

cu
ra

te
 a

nd
 u

p 
to

 
da

te
 in

 o
rd

er
 th

at
  

fa
m

ili
es

 a
nd

 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
s 

ar
e 

ab
le

 
to

 e
as

ily
 a

cc
es

s 
th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
th

ey
 n

ee
d 

ab
ou

t s
er

vi
ce

s 
in

 th
ei

r 
pr

ef
er

re
d 

fo
rm

at
 a

t 
th

e 
tim

e 
th

ey
 re

qu
ire

 
it.

 

FI
S

 M
an

ag
er

 
A

ge
nc

ie
s 

de
liv

er
in

g 
Fa

m
ily

 S
up

po
rt 

S
er

vi
ce

s 

• 
A

ud
it 

• 
U

se
 o

f 
qu

es
tio

nn
ai

re
s 

/ 
on

- l
in

e 
fo

rm
s 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 b

y 
ag

en
ci

es
 d

el
iv

er
in

g 
se

rv
ic

es
 in

cl
ud

ed
 

in
 th

e 
di

re
ct

or
y 

• 
C

om
pl

et
io

n 
ra

te
 o

f 
qu

es
tio

nn
ai

re
s 

 
• 

Fe
ed

ba
ck

 o
f u

se
rs

 
of

 th
e 

di
re

ct
or

y 
to

 
de

te
rm

in
e 

its
 

us
ef

ul
ne

ss
 

• 
P

ar
en

ts
 a

re
 

ab
le

 to
 a

cc
es

s 
th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
th

ey
 re

qu
ire

 
ab

ou
t t

he
 

av
ai

la
bi

lit
y 

of
 

se
rv

ic
es

 th
at

 
ar

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

to
 

m
ee

t t
he

ir 
ne

ed
s.

 

D
ev

el
op

 a
 c

en
tra

l 
ac

ce
ss

 p
oi

nt
 (p

os
si

bl
y 

on
 th

e 
FI

S
 w

eb
si

te
) 

fo
r p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
ls

 to
 

ac
ce

ss
 E

ar
ly

 H
el

p 
m

at
er

ia
ls

 s
uc

h 
as

 th
e 

JA
FF

, E
ar

ly
 h

el
p 

pa
th

w
ay

 / 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t, 
Fa

m
ily

 
P

la
n 

te
m

pl
at

e 
et

c 

FI
S

 M
an

ag
er

 / 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t P
ro

je
ct

 
M

an
ag

er
 –

 
P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
&

 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s 

M
em

be
rs

 o
f E

ar
ly

 
In

te
rv

en
tio

n 
&

 
P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
S

te
er

in
g 

G
ro

up
 

• 
Fo

cu
s 

gr
ou

ps
 / 

w
or

ks
ho

ps
/E

I&
P

 
S

te
er

in
g 

G
ro

up
 

m
ee

tin
gs

 

• 
W

eb
 p

ag
es

 in
 

pl
ac

e 
co

nt
ai

ni
ng

 
re

le
va

nt
 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

to
 

su
pp

or
t t

he
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
th

e 
E

ar
ly

 H
el

p 
S

tra
te

gy
 

• 
C

on
si

st
en

cy
 o

f 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 b

y 
P

ra
ct

iti
on

er
s 

re
su

lti
ng

 in
 

Im
pr

ov
ed

 
ou

tc
om

es
 fo

r 
fa

m
ili

es
 

           

24
Page 259



2.
 Im

pr
ov

in
g 

th
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 s
te

p 
up

 a
nd

 s
te

p 
do

w
n 

pa
th

w
ay

s 
by

: 
 

A
ct

io
n 

 
Le

ad
 

Su
pp

or
te

d 
B

y 
M

et
ho

d 
M

ea
su

re
s 

Ex
pe

ct
ed

 
O

ut
co

m
es

 
2.

1 
S

tre
ng

th
en

in
g 

an
d 

/ o
r r

em
od

el
lin

g 
ex

is
tin

g 
se

rv
ic

es
 th

at
 

se
ek

 to
 k

ee
p 

ch
ild

re
n,

 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 

fa
m

ili
es

 w
ho

 a
re

 o
n 

th
e 

ca
re

 th
re

sh
ol

d 
at

 
ho

m
e 

(e
.g

. I
FS

S
, 

FI
S

S
, S

up
po

rt 
C

ar
e)

; 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

p 
ne

w
 

se
rv

ic
es

 th
at

 h
av

e 
a 

st
ro

ng
 e

vi
de

nc
e-

ba
se

 
(e

.g
. B

la
ck

bu
rn

 &
 

D
ar

w
en

 m
od

el
) 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
O

pe
ra

tio
na

l M
an

ag
er

 
(O

M
), 

S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
re

so
ur

ce
s 

Fa
m

ily
 In

te
rv

en
tio

n&
 

S
up

po
rt 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
(F

IS
S

) M
an

ag
er

 a
nd

 
C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

ca
se

-m
an

ag
em

en
t 

O
M

 &
 T

ea
m

 
M

an
ag

er
s(

TM
s)

 
 O

th
er

 C
ou

nc
il 

D
ire

ct
or

at
es

 (e
.g

. 
C

om
m

un
iti

es
, 

E
du

ca
tio

n)
 

• 
P

ro
je

ct
 G

ro
up

s 
• 

P
ro

gr
es

s 
re

po
rts

 
on

 P
ro

je
ct

 P
la

ns
 

• 
E

st
ab

lis
hm

en
t o

f 
ne

w
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

• 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 ra

ng
e 

of
 

pr
ev

en
tio

n 
se

rv
ic

es
 

ex
is

t 
• 

C
hi

ld
re

n,
 y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 fa
m

ili
es

 
on

 th
e 

br
in

k 
of

 c
ar

e 
ar

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
su

pp
or

te
d 

w
ith

in
 th

ei
r 

fa
m

ili
es

 w
he

re
 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
. 

• 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f L

A
C

 
(p

ar
tic

ul
ar

ly
 

te
en

ag
er

s 
co

m
in

g 
in

to
 c

ar
e)

. 

2.
2 

R
ev

ie
w

in
g 

an
d 

up
da

tin
g 

th
e 

Jo
in

t 
W

or
ki

ng
 P

ro
to

co
l 

be
tw

ee
n 

se
rv

ic
es

 fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

ad
ul

ts
 

w
hi

ch
 a

dd
re

ss
es

 
ad

di
tio

na
l n

ee
ds

 o
f 

pa
re

nt
s 

w
ho

se
 o

w
n 

ne
ed

s 
im

pa
ct

 
ne

ga
tiv

el
y 

on
 th

ei
r 

ab
ili

ty
 to

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

ly
 

sa
fe

gu
ar

d 
an

d 
m

ee
t 

ne
ed

s 
of

 th
ei

r c
hi

ld
re

n 
(IF

S
S

; D
ru

g 
an

d 
al

co
ho

l s
er

vi
ce

s;
 a

du
lt 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

; 
se

rv
ic

es
 fo

r Y
ou

ng
 

C
ar

er
s)

. 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
O

pe
ra

tio
na

l M
an

ag
er

 
(O

M
), 

S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
re

so
ur

ce
s 

Fa
m

ily
 In

te
rv

en
tio

n&
 

S
up

po
rt 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
(F

IS
S

) M
an

ag
er

 a
nd

 
C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

ca
se

-m
an

ag
em

en
t 

O
M

 &
 T

ea
m

 
M

an
ag

er
s(

TM
s)

 &
 

H
ea

lth
 &

 S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e 

(H
&

S
C

) O
M

s 
&

 T
M

s 
 

• 
Ta

sk
 &

 F
in

is
h 

G
ro

up
 

• 
U

pd
at

ed
 P

ro
to

co
l 

ag
re

ed
. 

• 
K

ey
 a

ct
io

ns
 in

 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

pl
an

 a
ch

ie
ve

d 
w

ith
in

 a
gr

ee
d 

tim
es

ca
le

s.
 

• 
C

hi
ld

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 fa

m
ili

es
 

in
 fa

m
ili

es
 w

he
re

 
pa

re
nt

s 
/ c

ar
er

s 
ha

ve
 

ad
di

tio
na

l n
ee

ds
 a

re
 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
ly

 
sa

fe
gu

ar
de

d.
 

• 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 th

e 
nu

m
be

rs
 o

f c
hi

ld
re

n 
be

co
m

in
g 

Lo
ok

ed
 

A
fte

r a
s 

a 
re

su
lt 

of
 

th
ei

r p
ar

en
ts

 / 
ca

re
rs

 
be

in
g 

un
ab

le
 to

 m
ee

t 
th

ei
r n

ee
ds

 d
ue

 to
 

th
e 

pa
re

nt
s/

ca
re

rs
 

ow
n 

ne
ed

s 
no

t b
ei

ng
 

m
et

. 

25
Page 260



2.
3 

U
si

ng
 s

tre
ng

th
s-

ba
se

d 
ap

pr
oa

ch
es

 to
 

fa
ci

lit
at

in
g 

th
e 

op
po

rtu
ni

ty
 fo

r 
fa

m
ili

es
 to

 id
en

tif
y 

th
ei

r o
w

n 
st

re
ng

th
s 

an
d 

to
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

 a
nd

 
su

pp
or

t t
he

 w
id

er
 

fa
m

ily
 to

 c
om

e 
to

ge
th

er
 in

 a
 c

ris
is

 to
 

de
ve

lo
p 

a 
pl

an
 th

at
 

su
pp

or
ts

 th
e 

ch
ild

 a
nd

 
pr

ev
en

ts
 fa

m
ily

 
br

ea
kd

ow
n 

or
 

pr
om

ot
es

 fa
m

ily
 

re
un

ifi
ca

tio
n(

e.
g.

 
Fa

m
ily

 G
ro

up
 

M
ee

tin
gs

  /
 

R
es

to
ra

tiv
e 

A
pp

ro
ac

he
s)

   

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
O

pe
ra

tio
na

l M
an

ag
er

 
(O

M
), 

S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 

Fa
m

ily
 In

te
rv

en
tio

n&
 

S
up

po
rt 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
(F

IS
S

) M
an

ag
er

 a
nd

 
C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

ca
se

-m
an

ag
em

en
t 

O
M

 &
 T

ea
m

 
M

an
ag

er
s 

(T
M

s)
, 

S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 
M

an
ag

er
 

• 
P

ro
je

ct
 G

ro
up

s 
• 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 P
la

n 
&

 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
 e

ve
nt

s 

• 
P

ro
gr

es
s 

re
po

rt 
on

 
P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
ns

 
• 

A
tte

nd
an

ce
 a

t 
tra

in
in

g 
ev

en
ts

 
• 

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
ne

w
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

(e
.g

. 
Fa

m
ily

 G
ro

up
 

M
ee

tin
gs

) 

• 
Fa

m
ili

es
 a

re
 

em
po

w
er

ed
 

w
he

re
 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 to

 
fin

d 
th

ei
r o

w
n 

so
lu

tio
ns

 to
 

di
ffi

cu
lti

es
 b

y 
lo

ok
in

g 
w

ith
in

 
th

e 
fa

m
ily

 fo
r 

su
pp

or
t w

he
re

 
th

is
 is

 a
va

ila
bl

e.
 

• 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f 

ch
ild

re
n 

be
co

m
in

g 
Lo

ok
ed

 A
fte

r a
s 

a 
re

su
lt 

of
 

fa
m

ily
 

br
ea

kd
ow

n.
 

 
                   

26
Page 261



 O
bj

ec
tiv

e 
2 

M
ax

im
is

e 
th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
(S

oc
ia

l) 
Se

rv
ic

es
 b

y 
st

re
ng

th
en

in
g 

th
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 s
oc

ia
l w

or
k 

in
te

rv
en

tio
n 

 1.
 R

e-
de

si
gn

 th
e 

m
od

el
 fo

r t
he

 d
el

iv
er

y 
of

 s
oc

ia
l w

or
k 

su
pp

or
t a

nd
 in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
 

A
ct

io
n 

 
Le

ad
 

Su
pp

or
te

d 
B

y 
M

et
ho

d 
M

ea
su

re
s 

Ex
pe

ct
ed

 
ou

tc
om

es
 

1.
1 

E
lim

in
at

e 
bu

re
au

cr
ac

y 
(L

ea
n 

R
ev

ie
w

) a
nd

 fr
ee

in
g 

up
 s

oc
ia

l w
or

k 
tim

e 
fo

r d
ire

ct
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 
fa

m
ili

es
 

 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
O

pe
ra

tio
na

l M
an

ag
er

 
(O

M
), 

S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 

B
us

in
es

s 
S

up
po

rt 
M

an
ag

er
 &

 m
em

be
rs

 
of

 th
e 

P
ro

je
ct

 G
ro

up
 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
co

lle
ag

ue
s 

fro
m

 E
nt

er
pr

is
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 

• 
P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n 

us
in

g 
Le

an
 R

ev
ie

w
 

m
et

ho
do

lo
gy

 
• 

P
ro

je
ct

 G
ro

up
 

• 
P

ro
gr

es
s 

re
po

rts
 

on
 th

e 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 

ac
tio

ns
 a

ris
in

g 
fro

m
 ra

pi
d 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

ev
en

ts
. 

• 
S

oc
ia

l W
or

ke
rs

 
ar

e 
ab

le
 to

 s
te

p-
do

w
n 

fa
m

ili
es

 to
 

lo
w

er
-le

ve
l 

in
te

rv
en

tio
ns

 in
 

a 
m

or
e 

tim
el

y 
w

ay
. 

• 
M

or
al

e 
am

on
gs

t 
S

oc
ia

l w
or

ke
rs

 
im

pr
ov

es
 a

s 
th

ey
 a

ch
ie

ve
 

be
tte

r o
ut

co
m

es
 

fo
r c

hi
ld

re
n,

 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 

an
d 

fa
m

ili
es

 
an

d 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

im
pr

ov
ed

 jo
b 

sa
tis

fa
ct

io
n.

 
 

           

27
Page 262



 1.
2 

R
ev

is
e 

C
ar

e 
Fi

rs
t 

(c
lie

nt
 re

co
rd

 
sy

st
em

) t
o 

m
ax

im
is

e 
its

 
po

te
nt

ia
l 

 

S
er

vi
ce

 M
an

ag
er

- 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

C
ar

eF
irs

t S
ys

te
m

s 
A

dm
in

is
tra

to
r, 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
O

M
s 

• 
A

ud
it 

of
 k

ey
 

fu
nc

tio
na

lit
y 

an
d 

ca
pa

bi
lit

ie
s 

of
 

sy
st

em
 

• 
P

ro
je

ct
 G

ro
up

 

• 
P

ro
gr

es
s 

re
po

rts
 

on
 th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 

ac
tio

ns
 a

ris
in

g 
fro

m
 th

e 
au

di
t a

nd
 

pr
oj

ec
t p

la
n 

• 
S

oc
ia

l w
or

ke
rs

 h
av

e 
m

or
e 

ca
pa

ci
ty

 to
 

un
de

rta
ke

 d
ire

ct
 

w
or

k 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 

fa
m

ili
es

. 
• 

M
or

al
e 

am
on

gs
t 

S
oc

ia
l w

or
ke

rs
 

im
pr

ov
es

 a
s 

th
ey

 
ac

hi
ev

e 
be

tte
r 

ou
tc

om
es

 fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 fa

m
ili

es
 

an
d 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
im

pr
ov

ed
 jo

b 
sa

tis
fa

ct
io

n.
 

1.
3 

R
es

tru
ct

ur
in

g 
so

ci
al

 w
or

k 
te

am
s 

ar
ou

nd
 ‘P

ra
ct

ic
e 

C
on

su
lta

nt
-le

d’
 

m
od

el
s 

of
 m

ul
ti-

di
sc

ip
lin

ar
y 

in
te

rv
en

tio
n 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
je

ct
 

M
an

ag
er

 –
 S

oc
ia

l 
W

or
k 

S
er

vi
ce

s 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
M

an
ag

em
en

t T
ea

m
 

(C
S

M
T)

 

• 
P

ro
je

ct
 G

ro
up

 
• 

Fo
cu

s 
gr

ou
ps

 
• 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 e
ve

nt
s 

• 
V

is
its

 to
 o

th
er

 
Lo

ca
l A

ut
ho

rit
ie

s 

• 
P

ro
gr

es
s 

re
po

rts
 

on
 th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 

ac
tio

ns
 a

ris
in

g 
fro

m
 th

e 
au

di
t a

nd
 

pr
oj

ec
t p

la
n 

• 
S

oc
ia

l w
or

ke
rs

 h
av

e 
m

or
e 

ca
pa

ci
ty

 to
 

un
de

rta
ke

 d
ire

ct
 

w
or

k 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 

fa
m

ili
es

. 
• 

S
oc

ia
l W

or
ke

rs
 a

re
 

ab
le

 to
 s

te
p-

do
w

n 
fa

m
ili

es
 to

 lo
w

er
-

le
ve

l i
nt

er
ve

nt
io

ns
 in

 
a 

m
or

e 
tim

el
y 

w
ay

. 
• 

M
or

al
e 

am
on

gs
t 

S
oc

ia
l w

or
ke

rs
 

im
pr

ov
es

 a
s 

th
ey

 
ac

hi
ev

e 
be

tte
r 

ou
tc

om
es

 fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 fa

m
ili

es
 

an
d 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
im

pr
ov

ed
 jo

b 
sa

tis
fa

ct
io

n.
 

    

28
Page 263



 1.
4 

R
at

io
na

lis
e 

th
e 

sk
ill

 m
ix

 to
 e

na
bl

e 
a 

sm
al

le
r c

oh
or

t o
f 

hi
gh

ly
 s

ki
lle

d 
so

ci
al

 
w

or
ke

rs
 to

 fo
cu

s 
on

 
be

ha
vi

ou
ra

l c
ha

ng
e 

 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
je

ct
 

M
an

ag
er

 –
 S

oc
ia

l 
W

or
k 

S
er

vi
ce

s 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
M

an
ag

em
en

t T
ea

m
 

(C
S

M
T)

, c
as

e-
m

an
ag

em
en

t T
M

s 

• 
P

ro
je

ct
 G

ro
up

 
• 

Fo
cu

s 
gr

ou
ps

 
• 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 e
ve

nt
s 

 

• 
P

ro
gr

es
s 

re
po

rts
 

on
 th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 

ac
tio

ns
 a

ris
in

g 
fro

m
 th

e 
au

di
t a

nd
 

pr
oj

ec
t p

la
n 

• 
S

ee
 a

bo
ve

 a
s 

sa
m

e 
ap

pl
ie

s 

1.
5 

S
tre

ng
th

en
 th

e 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 to

 
‘p

er
m

an
en

ce
’ w

he
re

 
ea

rly
 d

ec
is

io
ns

 to
 

se
pa

ra
te

 in
fa

nt
 

ch
ild

re
n 

fro
m

 th
ei

r 
fa

m
ili

es
 is

 e
vi

de
nc

ed
 

an
d 

ju
st

ifi
ed

. (
P

ub
lic

 
La

w
 O

ut
lin

e 
(P

LO
) 

pr
oc

es
s 

&
 L

eg
al

 
P

an
el

; A
do

pt
io

n 
S

er
vi

ce
s)

 

O
M

 In
ta

ke
 &

 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t &
 E

ar
ly

 
In

te
rv

en
tio

n 

O
M

 C
hi

ld
 In

 N
ee

d 
/ 

C
hi

ld
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n,
 O

m
 

LA
C

, O
M

 S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

  

• 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 

Le
ga

l S
ur

ge
rie

s 
• 

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
R

eg
io

na
l A

do
pt

io
n 

S
er

vi
ce

 (R
A

S
) 

• 
Th

e 
R

A
S

 is
 

op
er

at
io

na
l a

nd
 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 

ag
ai

ns
t n

at
io

na
l 

in
di

ca
to

rs
 fo

r 
ad

op
tio

n 
ha

s 
im

pr
ov

ed
 fo

r t
he

 
re

gi
on

. 
• 

P
ro

gr
es

s 
re

po
rts

 
on

 im
pa

ct
 o

f L
eg

al
 

su
rg

er
ie

s 
 

• 
In

fa
nt

s 
w

ho
 a

re
 

se
pa

ra
te

d 
fro

m
 

th
ei

r b
irt

h 
fa

m
ili

es
 a

re
 

pr
ov

id
ed

 w
ith

 
th

e 
be

st
 

op
po

rtu
ni

ty
 to

 
ac

hi
ev

e 
th

ei
r 

po
te

nt
ia

l 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
st

ab
ili

ty
 a

nd
 

se
cu

rit
y 

th
at

 a
 

pe
rm

an
en

t 
su

bs
tit

ut
e 

fa
m

ily
 

ca
n 

pr
ov

id
e.

 
 

              

29
Page 264



 2.
 P

ro
m

ot
in

g 
K

in
sh

ip
 C

ar
e 

 
 

A
ct

io
n 

 
Le

ad
 

Su
pp

or
te

d 
B

y 
M

et
ho

d 
M

ea
su

re
s 

Ex
pe

ct
ed

 
O

ut
co

m
es

 
2.

1 
E

xt
en

d 
op

po
rtu

ni
tie

s 
to

 
re

la
tiv

es
 to

 c
ar

e 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
w

ho
 c

an
no

t 
re

m
ai

n 
w

ith
 th

ei
r 

pa
re

nt
s 

O
M

 In
ta

ke
 &

 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t &
 E

ar
ly

 
In

te
rv

en
tio

n 
 / 

O
M

 
C

hi
ld

 In
 N

ee
d 

/ C
hi

ld
 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n,

 

O
M

 S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 

• 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f 
K

in
sh

ip
 C

ar
e 

P
ol

ic
y 

&
 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 

• 
A

 p
ol

ic
y 

an
d 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

re
 in

 
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

op
er

at
io

na
l 

• 
In

cr
ea

se
 in

 n
um

be
r 

of
 a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 in
 

pl
ac

e 
fo

r r
el

at
iv

es
 

to
 c

ar
e 

fo
r c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ho

 c
an

no
t r

em
ai

n 
w

ith
 th

ei
r p

ar
en

ts
. 

• 
A

n 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

nu
m

be
r o

f 
ch

ild
re

n,
 y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 
fa

m
ili

es
 w

ho
 

ca
nn

ot
 re

m
ai

n 
w

ith
 th

ei
r 

pa
re

nt
s 

ar
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 w
ith

 
an

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 
to

 re
m

ai
n 

w
ith

in
 

th
ei

r e
xt

en
de

d 
fa

m
ily

 b
ei

ng
 

ca
re

d 
fo

r b
y 

 
re

la
tiv

es
 

2.
2 

E
xt

en
d 

S
pe

ci
al

 
G

ua
rd

ia
ns

hi
p 

(S
G

O
s)

 
an

d 
R

es
id

en
ce

 O
rd

er
  

(R
O

s)
 o

pt
io

ns
  

O
M

 L
A

C
  

O
M

 S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

, O
M

 C
hi

ld
 

in
 N

ee
d 

/ C
hi

ld
 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

• 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f 
K

in
sh

ip
 C

ar
e 

S
tra

te
gy

 
• 

La
un

ch
 S

G
O

/R
O

 
pr

oj
ec

t w
ith

 fo
st

er
 

ca
re

rs
 w

ho
 h

av
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

pl
ac

ed
 

lo
ng

 te
rm

 a
nd

 a
re

 
de

em
ed

 
‘p

er
m

an
en

t’.
 

 

• 
S

tra
te

gy
 in

 p
la

ce
 

• 
P

ro
gr

es
s 

re
po

rt 
on

 
S

G
O

/R
O

 p
ro

je
ct

 
• 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 n

um
be

r 
of

 S
G

O
 / 

R
O

s 

• 
A

n 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

nu
m

be
r o

f 
ch

ild
re

n 
ar

e 
gi

ve
n 

th
e 

op
po

rtu
ni

ty
 o

f 
se

cu
rit

y 
an

d 
st

ab
ili

ty
 th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
us

e 
of

 
S

G
O

s 
an

d 
R

os
 

by
 th

ei
r c

ar
er

s.
 

         

30
Page 265



 2.
3 

E
xp

lo
re

 th
e 

fe
as

ib
ili

ty
 o

f r
ea

lig
ni

ng
 

re
so

ur
ce

s 
in

 o
rd

er
 to

 
su

pp
or

t t
he

 
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
 re

la
te

d 
to

 th
e 

af
or

em
en

tio
ne

d 
w

or
k 

be
in

g 
un

de
rta

ke
n 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
Fo

st
er

in
g 

S
er

vi
ce

. 
      

O
M

 S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 

O
M

 C
hi

ld
 in

 N
ee

d 
/ 

C
hi

ld
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n,
 O

M
 

In
ta

ke
 &

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

&
 E

ar
ly

 In
te

rv
en

tio
n 

• 
P

ro
je

ct
 G

ro
up

 
• 

P
ro

gr
es

s 
 re

po
rt 

on
 

P
ro

je
ct

 P
la

n 
• 

A
n 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
nu

m
be

r o
f 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 

fa
m

ili
es

 w
ho

 
ca

nn
ot

 re
m

ai
n 

w
ith

 th
ei

r 
pa

re
nt

s 
ar

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 w

ith
 

an
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

ty
 

to
 re

m
ai

n 
w

ith
in

 
th

ei
r e

xt
en

de
d 

fa
m

ily
 b

ei
ng

 
ca

re
d 

fo
r b

y 
 

re
la

tiv
es

 
• 

Th
e 

as
se

ss
m

en
t o

f 
K

in
sh

ip
 F

os
te

r 
ca

re
rs

 a
re

 
un

de
rta

ke
n 

in
 a

 
tim

el
y 

w
ay

 a
nd

 
th

is
 w

or
k 

do
es

 
no

t h
av

e 
an

 
ad

ve
rs

e 
im

pa
ct

 
on

 th
e 

ca
pa

ci
ty

 
th

at
 is

 re
qu

ire
d 

fo
r t

he
 

Fo
st

er
in

g 
S

er
vi

ce
 to

 
re

cr
ui

tm
en

t a
nd

 
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
m

or
e 

m
ai

ns
tre

am
 

Fo
st

er
 C

ar
er

s.
 

  
     

31
Page 266



 3.
 C

on
so

lid
at

e 
th

e 
Sp

ec
ia

lis
t L

oo
ke

d 
A

fte
r C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
(L

A
C

) S
er

vi
ce

 &
 ‘B

re
ak

 th
e 

C
yc

le
’ 

 
A

ct
io

n 
 

Le
ad

 
Su

pp
or

te
d 

B
y 

M
et

ho
d 

M
ea

su
re

s 
Ex

pe
ct

ed
 

O
ut

co
m

es
 

3.
1 

M
ax

im
is

e 
th

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

of
 

pe
rm

an
en

ce
 in

 
en

ab
lin

g 
LA

C
 to

 
ac

hi
ev

e 
th

ei
r f

ul
l 

po
te

nt
ia

l. 

 

O
M

 L
A

C
 

O
M

 S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 

• 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f a
 

LA
C

 S
tra

te
gy

 
• 

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
ke

y 
ac

tio
ns

 in
 

st
ra

te
gy

 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

pl
an

 
• 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
Fr

am
ew

or
k 

 
• 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 re
po

rti
ng

 
th

ro
ug

h 
Q

ua
lit

y 
A

ss
ur

an
ce

 &
 

Le
ar

ni
ng

 
Fr

am
ew

or
k 

• 
LA

C
 a

re
 

pr
ov

id
ed

 w
ith

 
th

e 
be

st
 

op
po

rtu
ni

ty
 to

 
ac

hi
ev

e 
th

ei
r 

po
te

nt
ia

l 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
st

ab
ili

ty
 a

nd
 

se
cu

rit
y 

th
at

 a
 

pe
rm

an
en

t 
su

bs
tit

ut
e 

fa
m

ily
 

ca
n 

pr
ov

id
e.

 

3.
2 

E
ns

ur
e 

ac
tiv

e 
ca

re
 p

la
n 

m
an

ag
em

en
t t

o 
pr

om
ot

e 
ea

rly
 

op
po

rtu
ni

tie
s 

fo
r 

re
tu

rn
 to

 fa
m

ily
 

O
M

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 N
ee

d 
/ C

hi
ld

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n,

 
O

M
 L

A
C

 

FI
S

S
 S

er
vi

ce
 

M
an

ag
er

, O
M

 
S

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g 

• 
S

up
er

vi
si

on
 

• 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
 

• 
O

M
 /T

M
 A

ud
iti

ng
 o

f 
C

as
e 

Fi
le

s 
• 

IR
O

 re
po

rti
ng

 

• 
Q

ua
rte

rly
 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 

M
on

ito
rin

g 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

Fr
am

ew
or

k 
 

• 
Q

ua
rte

rly
 re

po
rti

ng
 

th
ro

ug
h 

Q
ua

lit
y 

A
ss

ur
an

ce
 &

 
Le

ar
ni

ng
 

Fr
am

ew
or

k 

• 
W

he
re

 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

, 
LA

C
 a

re
 

pr
ov

id
ed

 w
ith

 
th

e 
op

po
rtu

ni
ty

 
to

 re
tu

rn
 h

om
e 

to
 th

ei
r f

am
ily

 in
 

a 
tim

el
y 

w
ay

. 
• 

Th
er

e 
is

 a
n 

in
cr

ea
se

 in
 th

e 
re

al
is

at
io

n 
of

 
ca

re
 p

la
ns

 
w

he
re

 th
e 

de
si

re
d 

ou
tc

om
e 

is
 a

 
re

tu
rn

 h
om

e.
  

     

32
Page 267



 3.
3 

R
ev

er
se

 th
e 

sh
ift

 
to

w
ar

ds
 e

xt
er

na
lly

 
pu

rc
ha

se
d 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l 

ca
re

 in
 fa

vo
ur

 o
f l

oc
al

 
fa

m
ily

 p
la

ce
m

en
ts

 

 

O
M

 S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 

O
M

 L
A

C
 

• 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
P

la
n 

• 
In

-H
ou

se
 F

os
te

rin
g 

R
ec

ru
itm

en
t 

st
ra

te
gy

 

• 
In

cr
ea

se
 in

 in
-

ho
us

e 
Fo

st
er

 
C

ar
er

s 
• 

Tu
rn

in
g 

th
e 

cu
rv

e 
fo

r r
at

io
 o

f i
n-

ho
us

e 
– 

ex
te

rn
al

 
pl

ac
em

en
ts

  
• 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 

ex
te

rn
al

 re
si

de
nt

ia
l 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
of

fe
re

d 
in

 
lo

ca
l a

re
a 

• 
Th

er
e 

is
 a

 
re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f L

A
C

 
pl

ac
ed

 in
 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l c

ar
e 

an
d 

an
 in

cr
ea

se
 

in
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f 

LA
C

 p
la

ce
d 

in
 

lo
ca

l f
am

ily
 

pl
ac

em
en

ts
, 

an
d 

w
he

re
ve

r 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

, 
LA

C
 a

re
 p

la
ce

d 
cl

os
er

 to
 h

om
e.

 
3.

4 
D

el
iv

er
 th

e 
P

ay
m

en
t b

y 
R

es
ul

ts
 

LA
C

 th
em

ed
 in

iti
at

iv
e 

ar
ou

nd
 E

nh
an

ce
d 

Fo
st

er
 C

ar
e.

 

O
M

 L
A

C
 

O
M

 S
tra

te
gy

, 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 

• 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

G
ro

up
 

• 
S

ch
em

e 
is

 
op

er
at

io
na

l a
nd

 a
 

la
rg

er
 n

um
be

r o
f 

ch
ild

re
n 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
re

tu
rn

ed
 fr

om
 o

ut
 

of
 a

re
a 

pl
ac

em
en

ts
 

in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 th

ei
r 

ca
re

 p
la

ns
 

• 
W

he
re

ve
r 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
, 

LA
C

 a
re

 p
la

ce
d 

cl
os

er
 to

 h
om

e 
in

 a
 fa

m
ily

 
se

tti
ng

. 

  

33
Page 268



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDICES

34
Page 269



 

 

 

 

Appendix A: Work Plan 
 

Objective 1 

Ensure that children & young people receive help at the lowest level or 
intervention that is safe and effective in promoting good outcomes. 

 
Improving the range and effectiveness of Early Help by: 

o Developing an Early Help Pathway that meets all levels of need. 

o Development of an Assessment and Planning Pathway that identifies a 
common assessment mechanism (e.g. Joint Assessment family 
Framework) for children, young people and families who do not require 
a statutory service. 

o Agreeing and implementing a common approach to the Family Plan. 

o Strengthening arrangements for multi-agency planning and risk 
management and developing a Lead worker role for interventions that 
sit below Children’s Services thresholds. 

o Implementing the Cardiff Parenting Framework that seeks to support 
the delivery of a range of Evidence-based parenting interventions for 
families with a range of levels of need and monitors impact. 

 
o Undertake review to Update the Family Information Service Family 

Support Directory to ensure material held on services is 
comprehensive, accurate and up to date in order that  families and 
professionals are able to easily access the information they need about 
services in their preferred format at the time they require it. 

 
 
Improving the effectiveness of step up and step down pathways by: 

o Harnessing Team Around the Family as the overall framework. 

o Strengthening the interface protocol between TAF and Children’s 
Services. 

o Introducing new arrangements for jointly managing front door referrals 
with partners using a multi-agency approach and a model that 
promotes consultation and advice as well as offering a referral pathway 
into statutory services. 

 
 
 
 
 

35
Page 270



 

 

 

Objective 2 
 
Maximise the impact of Children’s (Social) Services by strengthening the 
impact of social work intervention. 
Re-design the model for the delivery of social work support and 
intervention by 

o Eliminating bureaucracy (Lean Review) and freeing up social work time 
for direct work with families 

o Revising Care First 

o Restructuring social work teams around ‘Practice Consultant-led’ 
models of multi-disciplinary intervention 

o Rationalising the skill mix to enable a smaller cohort of highly skilled 
social workers to focus on behavioural change 

o Strengthening our approach to ‘permanence’ where early decisions to 
separate infant children from their families is evidenced and justified. 
(Public Law Outline (PLO) process & Legal Panel; Adoption Services 

 
Promoting Kinship Care by 

o Extending opportunities to relatives to care for children who cannot 
remain with their parents 

o Extending Special Guardianship and Residence Order options  

o Exploring the feasibility of realigning resources in order to support the 
assessments related to the aforementioned work being undertaken 
within the Fostering Service. 

 
 

Consolidate the Specialist LAC Service & ‘Break the Cycle’ by 

o Maximising the effectiveness of permanence in enabling LAC to 
achieve their full potential. 

o Ensuring active care plan management to promote early opportunities 
for return to family. 

o Reverse the shift towards externally purchased residential care in 
favour of local family placements 

o Delivering the Payment by Results LAC themed 
initiative around Enhanced Foster Care. 

36
Page 271



 

 

M
or

e 
se

rio
us

 a
nd

 c
om

pl
ex

 n
ee

ds
 re

qu
iri

ng
 a

 m
ul

ti-
ag

en
cy

 a
pp

ro
ac

h.
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

de
liv

er
ed

 in
 th

is
 p

ar
t o

f 
th

e 
sp

ec
tru

m
 in

cl
ud

e;
 

• 
Te

am
 A

ro
un

d 
th

e 
Fa

m
ily

 
• 

C
o-

or
di

na
te

d 
se

rv
ic

es
 fo

r c
om

pl
ex

 n
ee

ds
  

C
hi

ld
re

n,
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

an
d 

fa
m

ili
es

 
w

ith
 th

e 
hi

gh
es

t l
ev

el
s 

of
 n

ee
d,

 
re

qu
iri

ng
 in

te
ns

iv
e,

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t s

up
po

rt,
 

so
m

et
im

es
 a

w
ay

 fr
om

 h
om

e.
 T

he
se

 
se

rv
ic

es
 a

re
 u

su
al

ly
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 a
s 

pa
rt 

of
 a

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
an

d 
in

cl
ud

e:
 

• 
In

te
gr

at
ed

 F
am

ily
 S

up
po

rt 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

(IF
S

S
)/ 

Fa
m

ily
 

In
te

rv
en

tio
n 

&
 S

up
po

rt 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

(F
IS

S
) 

• 
S

pe
ci

al
is

t F
os

te
rin

g 
• 

R
es

id
en

tia
l C

ar
e.

 
• 

S
ho

rt 
br

ea
ks

 fo
r d

is
ab

le
d 

ch
ild

re
n 

N
.B

. E
ar

ly
 In

te
rv

en
tio

n 
si

ts
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

Pr
ev

en
tio

n 
an

d 
Pr

ot
ec

tio
n 

se
gm

en
ts

 o
f t

he
 

Sp
ec

tr
um

 

S
om

e 
ad

di
tio

na
l n

ee
ds

 re
qu

iri
ng

 ta
rg

et
ed

 s
up

po
rt,

 
an

y 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

pr
ob

le
m

s 
ar

e 
at

 a
n 

ea
rly

 s
ta

ge
. 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
de

liv
er

ed
 in

 th
is

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 s

pe
ct

ru
m

 
in

cl
ud

e:
 

• 
Ta

rg
et

ed
 p

ar
en

tin
g 

pr
og

ra
m

m
es

 (e
.g

. F
ly

in
g 

S
ta

rt)
 

• 
P

rim
ar

y 
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lth
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

• 
Fa

m
ili

es
 F

irs
t P

ro
je

ct
s 

Th
e 

ne
ed

s 
th

at
 a

ll 
ch

ild
re

n,
 y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 fa
m

ili
es

 h
av

e.
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

 
in

 th
is

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 s

pe
ct

ru
m

 in
cl

ud
e 

un
iv

er
sa

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
ac

ce
ss

ib
le

 b
y 

al
l 

su
ch

 a
s:

   
• 

ba
si

c 
pa

re
nt

in
g 

co
ur

se
s,

  
• 

in
fo

rm
al

 s
up

po
rt 

gr
ou

ps
,  

• 
m

on
ey

 a
nd

 h
ou

si
ng

 
ad

vi
ce

,  
• 

H
ea

lth
 V

is
iti

ng
,  

• 
w

ho
le

-s
ch

oo
l a

pp
ro

ac
he

s.
 

N
.B

. T
he

se
 u

ni
ve

rs
al

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
co

nt
in

ue
 to

 b
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
to

 fa
m

ili
es

 
as

 th
ey

 m
ov

e 
fro

m
 th

e 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
th

ro
ug

h 
to

 P
re

ve
nt

io
n 

&
 R

em
ed

y 

A
pp

en
di

x 
B

: S
pe

ct
ru

m
 o

f N
ee

ds
 a

nd
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

37
Page 272



 

 

Appendix C: The Cardiff Context 
Summary of key demographic data, socio-economic factors and well-being 
indicators that affect Cardiff’s children, young people and their families. 
 
Demography 
Data taken from The Office for National Statistics (ONS) shows that the 
population of Wales has risen 153,000 (5%) to more than 3.06m in the past 10 
years, mostly due to migration from the rest of the UK and abroad .The 2011 
Census showed the growth was the largest in any 10-year period between 
censuses since 1921, although slower than in England, up 3.6m (7%).  

Cardiff has seen the biggest growth in Wales, up 12% (36,000) since 2001. 
Currently it is estimated that the population of Cardiff is 350,000.  

Of local authority areas in Wales, Cardiff is the most densely populated city 
with 2,500 people per sq km.Except for a time of decline during the 1970s and 
1980s, Cardiff's population has continually grown since 1801. Between 2001 
and 2011, Cardiff grew by 46,000, which was 25% of growth across Wales, 
and it now represents 30% of the country's growth. 90% of the growth in the 
country is due to migration, not natural growth. This includes people moving 
from elsewhere in the UK as well as from overseas.  

Interestingly, Cardiff has the smallest percentage of people over 65 in Wales 
at 13%, while Wales as a whole has higher percentage of 65-year-olds than 
almost every other area of England. 

Figures show there were 11,000 more children under five in 2011 than in 
2001, an increase of 7% . In mid 2013 25% of the population of Cardiff was 
under the age of 19 years.  

Cardiff has a very diverse population with a history of trade connections, post-
war immigration and foreign students who attend university. At the 2011 
Census, the racial and ethnic composition of Cardiff was: White: 84.7% - 
Asian: 8% - Black: 2.4% - Arab: 1.4% - Mixed White and Black 
African/Caribbean: 1.6% - Mixed White and Asian: 0.7% - Mixed other: 0.6% - 
Other ethnic groups: 0.6%  

More than 54,000 people in Cardiff belong to a non-white ethnic group.  

At the 2011 Census, there were the following national identities: 

• Welsh only: 50% 
• Welsh and British: 8% 
• Other Welsh combined: 4% 
• English only: 8% 
• English and British: 2% 
• Other English combined: 1% 
• British only: 21% 
• Other British combined: 11% 
• Other: 10% 

38
Page 273



 

 

Socio-economic factors  
Poverty impacts on children’s physical and mental health, accident rates, 
education attainment and opportunities for social inclusion. Bringing children 
up in areas of deprivation creates additional stresses on parents. Within 
Cardiff there are areas of deprivation, particularly in the Southern part of 
Cardiff City. However, within less deprived areas there are often pockets of 
hidden deprivation. 
 
There are 6,888 claimants of Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) in Cardiff with the 
highest rates being in Ely (6.5) and Caerau (5.4) and the lowest rates in Radyr 
(0.60 and Lisvane (0.9). Rates are calculated using the mid-2013 resident 
population aged 16-64 (Source: Claimant Count, Nomis). 
 
The Gross medium earning of people in Cardiff is set out in the table below 
(Source: Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings 2014/NOMIS/ONS) 
 

Median Gross Weekly Earnings & Annual Percentage Change by Place of 
Residence 2014 

Workforce 
Median Gross Weekly Earnings 

(£) Annual Percentage Change (%) 

Cardiff Wales United 
Kingdom Cardiff Wales United 

Kingdom 
All	  Full-‐Time	  Workers:	   490.9	   479.4	   518.0	   -‐2.5	   0.9	   0.1	  

Male	  Full-‐Time	   535.6	   510.6	   557.8	   -‐2.2	   -‐0.5	   0.3	  
Female	  Full-‐Time	   441.0*	   423.4	   461.9	   -‐3.0	   0.5	   0.6	  

 
26.2% of children in Cardiff are identified as living in low income families in 
2012 (Source: HMRC) with the highest percentages living in Ely (48%),    
Butetown (44%) and Adamsdown (45%) and the lowest in Rhiwbina (4%), 
Lisvane (3%) and Creigiau / St Fagans (5%.). Source: HMRC) 
 
In 2013, 15.6% of children (under the age of 15 years) lived in workless 
households below the All Wales average of 16.5%. (Source: StatsWales, 
Welsh Government) 
 
Other Well-being Indicators  
 
• 69 young people out of a cohort of 3492 pupils aged 15 years did not achieve a 

recognised qualification in 2010/11 and of those young people 32 left school 
without achieving a recognised qualification in 2010/11(0.9%) (Source: Stats 
Wales, Welsh Government). 

 
• 72% of pupils achieved 5 or more GCSEs at Grade A-E in 2014. This is lower 

than the Welsh average o f 82% but it is an 8% increase on the 2012 figures.  
(Source: My Local School) 

 
• There were 35 teenage conceptions in 2013 in the cohort of young people below 

the age of 15 years with 285 across the whole of Wales. This figure rises to 174 
for teenagers below the age of 18 years with the All Wales figure rising to 1476 
(Source: ONS) 

39
Page 274



 

 

 
Appendix D: Early Help Pathway  
N.B. This pathway should be applied to all families, irrespective of their level 
of need and special circumstances. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Early Help: Describes an approach to providing support to potentially 
vulnerable children and their families as soon as a problem starts. In 
order to prevent issues and problems becoming acute, chronic and 
costly to the family as a whole and the wider community. THINK 
FAMILY! 

Early Help may be provided through an increase in the level of 
universal services, or targeted services provided / commissioned.  

Conversation opportunities are used to identify needs and 
appropriate support for the child and their family and a range of 
approaches to putting the support in place. Anybody working with a 
child young person or family is responsible for starting the 
conversations for children and families. Information Sharing 
Protocols (ISPs) should be developed if they are not already in place, 
to support this process. However, obtaining consent from the family to 
share their information with other professionals is also necessary 
(unless there is a safeguarding issue that does not require parental 
consent for a referral to be made to the CAP). 

The Early Help approach is underpinned by the principles of 
Restorative Approaches, supporting the development of capacity, 
resilience and independence, by engaging them in a way that builds on 
their strengths and identify their own solutions and take responsibility 
for their future. 
 

Early Help relies on agencies working together with the family to: 
• Identify children and families who would benefit from early help 
• Undertake an assessment of the need for early help 

(See Early Help Assessment & Planning Pathway). 
 

However, when practitioners are concerned that a child is at risk of 
experiencing significant harm, they must contact the Children’s 
Access Point (CAP). Advice on Child Sexual Abuse/Sexualised 
behaviour can also be obtained via the NSPCC Cardiff Office.  

Never do nothing. At the very least talk to another professional to help 
find a way forward. 
 
Families should be able to approach anyone working with them who will 
respond and start conversations to identify the right support 

40
Page 275



 

 

 
Appendix E: Early Help Planning & Assessment Pathway 
 

 

NO: Instigate conversations within and 
between 

• Universal 
• Targeted and 
• Specialist Services 
• NSPCC Cardiff Office can we add 

their number here? (re concerns 
related to sexualised behaviour) 

Practitioner identifies that a child’s needs cannot be met by Universal Services alone.  
See, Assess, Plan, Do, Review 

Is the child at immediate risk of experiencing significant harm? 

Early Help Assessment: The Joint Assessment Family Framework (JAFF) is Cardiff’s 
Early Help Assessment of choice. It is an intervention in its own right and a referral passport 
to other services. It can also support a contact to Children’s (Social) Services in relation to a 
Child in Need or Child Protection referral (where the JAFF can be attached to a Multi 
agency Referral Form (MARF) as part of the referral). 

The conversations and the Early Help Assessment (JAFF) can be started by any 
professional working with a child and family in order that the right people come on board in 
a timely way to identify what the child and family needs and how this should be provided. 
Families can approach anyone working with them who will respond and start 
conversations to identify the right support.  

Practitioners should have conversations safely within their agency information sharing 
protocols if these are in place. Conversations and assessments should be recorded to 
ensure that all the detail has been captured and should lead to actions being identified to 
improve outcomes for children, which are set out in the Family Plan. In the absence of an 
ISP, obtaining consent from the family to share their information with relevant agencies will 
enable effective communication to take place with the family’s agreement. Remember it is 
only in circumstances where a child is at immediate risk of significant harm that consent to 
share information (i.e. with Police or Children’s Services) is not required. 

The Family Plan should be agreed and shared and Specific Measurable, Agreed, Realistic 
and within Timescales (SMART), identifying strengths as well as needs and include children 
and their families. 

Someone should act as the Lead Worker – leading on making sure that the Family Plan 
works. They should invite others back to review the Family Plan as required (N.B if TAF is 
involved the Lead will be the TAF Worker. If Children’s Services are involved the Lead will 
be the Social Worker). 

Conversations, Assessments and Plans should include shared decision-making and not 
involve practitioners working in isolation. 
 
Remember: See, Assess, Plan, Do, Review. 

See 

Assess 

Plan 

Do & 
Review 

  A
 R

EF
ER

R
A

L 
SH

O
U

LD
 B

E 
M

A
D

E 
TO

 C
A

P 
A

T 
A

N
Y 

ST
A

G
E 

O
F 

TH
IS

 P
R

O
C

ES
S 

IF
 T

H
ER

E 
A

R
E 

SA
R

EG
U

A
R

D
IN

G
   

   
C

O
N

C
ER

N
S 

C
O

N
TI

N
U

E 
TO

 H
A

VE
 C

O
N

VE
R

SA
TI

O
N

S 
W

IT
H

 
TH

E 
FA

M
IL

Y 
TH

R
O

U
G

H
O

U
T 

W
H

O
LE

 P
R

O
C

ES
S 

Step Up / Step Down 

Yes: Referral to Children’s Access Point 
(CAP) Using the Multi-Agency Referral 
Form (MARF). 

41
Page 276



 

 

Appendix F 
Principles Underpinning the Development of the Family Plan 
 
• It is essential that the development of the Family Plan does not generate 

significant additional bureaucracy.  
 
• In order to achieve this, the Lead worker will ensure that the Family Plan 

works to support any individual plans that might already be in place for the 
child or parent. 

 
• Using these and through the engagement of the family, the Lead worker 

will develop a Family Plan which will be shaped with the family throughout 
the initial engagement and assessment process, drawing together 
information from existing assessments and making sense of the interplay 
between the factors affecting individuals in the family and their impact on 
the way that the family functions. As the assessment will be underpinned 
by restorative principles, so the development of the Family Plan must 
also be underpinned by restorative principles, identifying and building on 
the family’s strengths. 

 
• The Family Plan will be drawn up using existing material, including case 

history, risk and needs assessments and the planned outcomes (family 
goals) as agreed with the family.  

 
• The Family Plan and family goals will be shared with other practitioners 

involved with the family with the family’s consent.  
 
• .The detailed objectives in the Family Plan are benchmarks by which the 

progress of the family is monitored and the commitment of professionals 
involved with the family is observed. 

 
• It is important that goals are realistic. The analysis, judgement and 

decision made in the assessment will form the basis of a Family Plan 
    of work with the child / young person and their family. The complexity or 

severity of the child/ren and family needs will determine the scope and 
detail of the Family Plan and the range of interventions, and / or other 
services necessary to allow change to the parenting capacity (if 
appropriate) and family circumstances.  

 
• The Family Plan must specify how organisations involved in the delivery of 

services to the family proposes to address the full range of the child/young 
person’s and family needs, taking into account the child/young person and 
family’s wishes and feelings. 

 
• Reviews of the Family Plan will consider its effectiveness and should be 

undertaken on a regular basis, ideally by someone with a level of 
independence who is not directly responsible or delivering services to the 
family. Effective planning and review is underpinned by careful and 
ongoing assessment of needs and risks. 

42
Page 277



 

 

 
• The Family Plan provides a holistic view of the needs of the child/young 

person and their family building on each component part of existing 
individuals plans. It should endeavour to bring together in a seamless 
manner services that will deliver the required outcomes for the family and 
individual family members, strengthen capacity and change behaviour 
where it is appropriate to do so.  

 
• Crucially, the Family Plan will clearly set out what the family can expect 

from practitioners and what is expected of them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43
Page 278



 
 

 
 
 

Date 19 July 2016 
 
My Ref SS/CYP/MJH 
Your Ref: 
 

Councillor Sue Lent 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Families, Children and Early Years 
County Hall 
Atlantic Wharf 
CARDIFF 
CF10 4UW 
 
Dear Sue 
 
On behalf of the Committee, I would like to thank you, Tony Young, Angela Bourge and 
Cheryl Chapman for attending Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee on 11 July 
2016 to present The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act Prevention Services 
Briefing. Firstly the Members wish to apologies for starting this item earlier than you were 
informed.  
 
During the way forward section of the meeting the Members considered the information in 
the report, comments made during the consideration of the briefing, together with answers 
to their questions, and agreed to provide you with the following advice, comments and 
concerns. 
 
The Committee was pleased with the work that had been undertaken to develop The Act’s 
requirements for the Provision of Preventative Services, in particular the work of the 
Regional Planning and Promoting Preventative Services Task and Finish Group.  
 
The Committee initially discussed the online access service “Dewis Cymru”. Members 
noted that Dewis is the place for information and advice regarding well-being in Wales and 
helps people find what they need to know for both themselves and the person they may 
care for. Members were interested in seeing how much the system was being used and 
therefore requested details of the usage of the system since it went live, together with 
which elements of the site people were accessing most. 
 
The Committee then discussed Families First, as there were clear links with the Early Help 
Strategy, Members were also aware that funding would be ending on 31 March 2017. 
Following this discussion Members were still unclear as to what plans and processes are 
in place to manage the ending of funding on all services, together with the timetable for the 
commissioning of new services from 1 April 2017, should new funding become available. 
The Committee therefore requested that a briefing paper be provided for the Members, on 
the plans and processes in place to manage the potential loss of funding, and 
commissioning of new services, sometime in October 2016. 
 

Page 279

Agenda Annex



Members were also surprised to be informed that in past years unspent Families First 
funding had been returned to the Welsh Government.  The Committee requested details of 
how much had been returned in the last two years, and which schemes had been 
underspent at the end of the year. 
 
The Committee then focused on the Early Help Strategy. The Members noted that more 
work was needed to fully develop and implement the strategy, however they did suggest 
that particularly in the Early Help Planning and Assessment Pathway (Page 40), some of 
the elements should be more prescriptive, i.e “someone should act as  the lead worker” so 
that it is clear what needs to happen and by whom. The Members also suggested that 
Services and support for Young Carers must be clearly referenced in the Early Help 
Strategy. 
 
Finally I would like to take this opportunity to inform you that the Committee agreed to 
continue to monitor and review the implementation, performance and outcomes of the 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act throughout the next year. 
 
I hope that these comments, advice and requests for information, will be of use and 
support in improving implementation of the Act, and as such the Committee looks forward 
to receiving the information requested, future progress reports as well as a positive 
response to this letter, within the next month. 
 
To recap, this letter requests several actions, requests for information and 
recommendations, as follows: 
 

• Details of the usage of the “Dewis Cymru” site, together with which elements were 
accessed most; 

• A briefing paper on the plans and processes in place to manage the potential loss 
of funding, and commissioning of new services, sometime in October 2016. 

• Details of how much Families First funding had been returned to the Welsh 
Government in the last two years and which schemes had been underspent at the 
end of the year; 

• Amendments to the wording and contents of the Early Help Strategy as stated 
above; 

• Regular briefing papers to enable the Committee to continue to monitor and review 
the implementation, performance and outcomes of the Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Act throughout the next year. 

 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
COUNTY COUNCILLOR - LYNDA THORNE 
On behalf of the Chairperson of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee. 
 
CC:  Tony Young, Director of Children’s Services 
  Melanie Jackson - Personal Assistant to Deputy Leader 
  Angela Bourge – OM Resources 
  Cheryl Chapman (OM for Early Intervention)  

Page 280



My Ref: Scrutiny/Correspondence/MJH

19 July 2016

Councillor Sarah Merry
Cabinet Member - Education
County Hall 
Atlantic Wharf
CARDIFF 
CF10 4UW

Dear Sarah

Cabinet Report School Organisation Proposals: Specialist Provision for Primary Aged 
Pupils with Speech and Language Difficulties, and with Behavioural Emotional and 
Social Difficulties.

The Committee has asked me to write to you following its consideration of the 
Cabinet report on the proposals for Meadowbank School, at Committee on 11 July 
2016. During the way forward section of the meeting the Members considered the 
information in the report, comments made during the consideration of the report, 
together with answers to their questions, and agreed to provide you with the 
following comments, concerns and recommendations in respect of the further review, 
engagement and work with governing bodies being undertaken to help develop any 
revised proposals.

The Committee welcomed the recommendations set out in the Cabinet report and 
considered that the report addressed most of the issues that the Committee 
highlighted in its letter dated 26 May 2016, following the Members’ consideration of 
the consultation proposals on Meadowbank School at the Committee’s meeting on 
17 May 2016.

The Committee noted that in the Cabinet report, the Cabinet  is recommended to 
authorise the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Education, to; 

1. Carry out a further review of speech and language support in Cardiff with the 
aim of bringing forward revised proposals;

2. Undertake further engagement with schools and other stakeholders in relation 
to early intervention for children with behavioural emotional and social needs;

3. Work with the governing bodies of Meadowbank and Allensbank Schools to 
ensure the needs of children with speech and language needs placed at the 
schools can continue to be met effectively, pending any revised proposals. 

In respect of the recommendation to carry out a further review, the Members 
expressed some concern that there could now be a perceived blight around the 
future of Meadowbank School, which could cause some parents to seek alternatives 
for their children. The Committee therefore recommends that the Cabinet and 

Page 281



Officers must ensure that this is actively discouraged, through the continued 
promotion and support for the services provided at the school.

The Committee considered, from the information available, that specialist provision 
does have a place in the Council’s overall education mix. Members noted that there 
are 12 primary aged pupils benefiting from specialist support sanctioned by the 
Council at considerable cost, other than at Meadowbank School. The Members 
wished to inquire as to what benefits the private facilities have that Meadowbank 
School does not, and what the school can do to cater for these needs.

Members also had a number of suggestions, in respect of the further review of 
speech and language support in Cardiff, with the aim of bringing forward revised 
proposals; and to undertake further engagement with schools and other stakeholders 
in relation to early intervention for children with behavioural emotional and social 
needs, these were:

 Members noted that a school based Speech and Language service was being 
rolled out across mainstream schools, Members requested that a review of 
the roll-out be undertaken, to determine whether there were improved 
outcomes for all pupils with speech and language difficulties. 

 Members recommended that quantitative research should also be undertaken 
to provide an analysis of the full spectrum of pupils needs, particularly 
highlighting those who were assessed as complex need (level 4 / 5).

 that the review must include an assessment of the different models of support 
provided by other authorities and core cities as the Members considered that 
a mixed provision should be provided in Cardiff. 

 a timetable for the completion of each element of the review must be set out 
in the review plan, together with an estimated date for the Cabinet to approve 
the outcome of the review.

In addition, the parents and supporters of Meadowbank School had sent questions 
for the Committee to ask you and the Officers, but the Members were unable to ask 
all the questions, and therefore invited them to provide any outstanding issues for 
inclusion with this letter.  I have therefore attached some additional questions, so 
that you can provide a response to their concerns as part of the response to this 
letter.

Finally the Committee agreed to visit a school which had a number of pupils with 
speech and language difficulties, who are being supported in the mainstream 
environment, to gain an understanding of how the specialist support fits in with the 
mainstream provision. I have therefore asked the scrutiny officer to contact the 
National Head Teachers Association in Cardiff, to identify an appropriate school.

I hope that these comments, advice and requests for information, will be of use and 
support in the future review of Specialist Provision for Primary Aged Pupils with 
Speech and Language Difficulties, and with Behavioural Emotional and Social 
Difficulties and I look forward to receiving the revised proposals in the future as well 
as a response to the letter within the next month.

Page 282



To recap, this letter requests several actions, requests for information and 
recommendations, as follows

 Actions, such as promotion and support of the school services, to discourage 
any perceived blight around the future of Meadowbank School;

 An assessment of what benefits do the private facilities have that 
Meadowbank does not, and what can Meadowbank School do to cater for 
these needs;

 Incorporate Members suggestions, in to the further review, namely:

• a review of the roll-out speech and language service, to determine 
whether there were improved outcomes for all pupils with speech and 
language difficulties. 

• quantitative research to provide an analysis of the full spectrum of 
pupil’s needs, particularly highlighting those who were assessed as 
complex need (level 4 / 5).

• an assessment of the different models of support provided by other 
authorities and core Cities.

• a timetable for the completion of each element of the review with an 
estimated date for the Cabinet to approve the outcome of the review.

 Response to the questions raised by supporters of the school as attached to 
this letter.

Yours sincerely

COUNTY COUNCILLOR - LYNDA THORNE
On behalf of the Chairperson of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee.

CC: Nick Batchelar, Director of Education and Lifelong Learning
Jennie Hughes, Senior Achievement Leader (Inclusion)

Page 283



Additional Questions from Supporters of Meadowbank School

(i) Given the ‘note of caution’ urged by the Children’s speech and language 
therapy service (p95), what measures will be used to evaluate the support in 
mainstream schools? We would wish to see data for children with severe 
speech and language needs in Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 
respectively?

(ii) How will the data from the evaluation of mainstream support for children with 
severe speech and language needs be used to inform the revised proposals?

(iii) The collective response on behalf of the Cardiff Primary Head teachers (p86) 
highlights that …the high quality of teaching that they have received during their 
time in specialist provision has made a long lasting impact…and enabled them 
to access their high school education in a mainstream setting.” 

(iv) Will the evaluation include the outcomes of children from both specialist 
provisions, including success of integration into local schools? If so how would 
this data be utilised to inform the revised proposals?

(v) How will the LA engage with and utilise the expertise of stakeholders to inform 
their revised proposals? 

(vi) What proportion of the £364,896 released from the proposed closure of 
Meadowbank is likely to be reinvested in services for severe speech and 
language needs? 

(vii) If additional monies from elsewhere/revised proposals meet the needs of 
children with BESD, and given the possibilities that are yet to be explored, 
would the specialist speech and language provision at Meadowbank be 
retained and developed rather than dismantled? 

(viii) Finally, we reiterate the parents continuing concerns about access to specialist 
provision for severe and complex speech and language needs. The collective 
response on behalf of the Cardiff Primary Head teachers (p86) expresses 
surprise that the demand for places at Meadowbank and Allensbank has fallen 
in recent years. This response cites that “the statement requests for pupils with 
complex SLC needs have been turned down much more readily in recent 
years.” The Children’s speech and language therapy service appear to have 
concerns about the current capacity of local school to deliver specialist speech 
and language interventions to the most needy children in mainstream (p94).

At the scrutiny committee, Jennie Hughes explained that the role of the panel is 
important and the panel does and will advise parents, less often judging that needs 
are not well met in mainstream.  However at a recently publicised open day at 
Meadowbank school, 12 new parents attended….3 of whom were very interested in 
the possibility of a part time placement

(ix) Who sits on the panel and since the perceived shift in 2010, were they directed 
to place children in mainstream as a preferred option?  Is the expertise of staff 
from specialist speech and language provisions and speech and language 
therapy utilised in the panel’s examination of severe and complex cases? 

we are encouraged that the Local Authority have recognised there needs to be a 
more comprehensive review of educational provision for children & young people 
with speech, language & communication needs so we need to ensure that this 
review is carried out impartially and with transparency so that Cardiff Council can 
best serve its children both now and for future generations.

Page 284


	Agenda
	3 Cynigion ar Drefniadaeth YsgolION – Darpariaeth Arbenigol ar gyfer Disgyblion Cynradd gydag Anawsterau Lleferydd ac Iaith ac Anawsterau Ymddygiadol, Emosiynol a Chymdeithasol.
	Item 3  App A - Draft Cabinet Report
	Item 3  App B - Letter to Cllr Merry - Meadowbank
	Item 3 - App 1 to App A Consultation Document
	SENsonsultationCovers
	SEN Consulation Document (Final) Feb ENG
	Blank Page


	Item 3 - App 2 to App A Estyn response
	Item 3 - App 3 to App A Statutory Screening Tool

	4 Adroddiad Rhaglen Waith 2016/2017
	Item 4  App A Work Programme 2016-17
	Item 4  App B Scoring Matrix

	5 Rhoi Deddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 2014 ar waith
	Item 5  App 1 - Preventative Services Briefing Report
	Item 5 App A to App 1 - Preventative Services Briefing Report
	Item 5 App B to App 1 - Early Help

	 Gohebiaeth yn dilyn Cyfarfod y Pwyllgor
	11.07.16 - Letter to Cllr Merry




